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25 March 2009 Annual General Meeting
27 March 2009 Ex-dividend day
31 March 2009 Dividend payment day
  5 May 2009 Publication of results for the first quarter 2009
  5 august 2009 Publication of results for the first half 2009
  5 november 2009 Publication of results for the first three quarters 2009

Additional dates such as trade fairs or roadshows will be announced  
at the Company’s homepage www.palfinger.com under Corporate Dates.

www.palfinger.com

Palfinger ag
Franz-Wolfram-Scherer-Strasse 24 
5101 Bergheim, Salzburg
Austria
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But we are tougher.
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PaLfinGer aG
Austria, Salzburg

100%

Palfi nger service- und beteiligungs-Gmbh
Austria, Salzburg

area europe area north america area south america area asia & Pacifi c

99.97% Palfi nger europe Gmbh
Austria, Salzburg 0.03% Palfi nger Consult AG

100% Palfi nger, inc.
Canada, niagara Falls

99.11% Madal Palfi nger s.a.
Brazil, Caxias do Sul 0.89% small shareholders

100% Palfi nger asia Pacifi c Pte. Ltd.
Singapore, Singapore

100% Palfi nger Usa, inc.
USA, Tiffi n

65% ePsiLon kran Gmbh
Austria, Salzburg

35% Steindl 
Krantechnik GmbH a.o.

100% tiffi n Loader crane, co.
USA, Tiffi n

100% Palfi nger (shenzhen) Ltd.
China, Shenzhen

45% stePa farmkran Gesellschaft m.b.h.
Austria, Elsbethen 55% Steindl Krantechnik GmbH 

100% omaha standard, inc.
USA, Council Bluffs

26% star Palfi nger equipment india Pvt. Ltd.
india, Tamil nadu 74% Western Auto l.l.C. a.o.

94.9% Palfi nger Gmbh
Germany, Ainring

100% wUMaG eLeVant Verwaltungs Gmbh
Germany, Krefeld                               general partner

 100%

100% wUMaG eLeVant Gmbh
Germany, Krefeld

 100% eLeVant serVice Gmbh & co. kG
Germany, Krefeld

ftec, inc.
USA, Birmingham

100% wUMaG MaGeba Gmbh
Germany, Seifhennersdorf

100% eLeVant finance Gmbh
Germany, Merklingen

6% eLeVant Produktion Gmbh
Germany, Ebersbach

100% Mbb inter s.a.s.
France, Silly en Gouffern

100% Palfi nger Platforms Gmbh
Germany, löbau

100% Mbb interLift n.V.
Belgium, Erembodegem

100% Mbb Palfi nger Gmbh
Germany, Ganderkesee

 100% Mbb LiftsYsteMs Ltd.
Great Britain, Cobham

100% Palfi nger Gru idrauliche s.r.l.
italy, Bolzano

100% Mbb hUbfiX s.r.o.
Slovakia, Bratislava

Production

100% financière Palfi nger s.a.s.
France, Caussade

100% interLift inc.
USA, Cerritos

Palfi nger Produktionstechnik bulgaria eood
Bulgaria, Cherven Brjag

100%

100% Guima Palfi nger s.a.s.
France, Caussade

 100% Guima france s.a.s.
France, Caussade

Palfi nger proizvodnja d.o.o.
Slovenia, Maribor

100%

49% Palfi nger france s.a.
France, Étoile sur Rhône  51% Group Vincent

99.99 % Palfi nger Paris sud s.c.i.
France, Étoile sur Rhône

0.005% PAlFinGER AG
0.005% Société de

Matériels Vincent SÀRl

Palfi nger proizvodna tehnologija hrvatska d.o.o.
Croatia, Delnice

100%

100% ratcliff Palfi nger Ltd.
Great Britain, Welwyn Garden City

33.34% Mesle equipement s.a.s.
France, Malestroit 66.66% RHF SARl

33.3% Palfi nger southern africa (Pty) Ltd.
South Africa, Edenvale 66.7% JCi a.o.

99.99% Palfi nger service s.a.s.
France, Saint Michel 

0.01% Société de 
Matériels Vincent SÀRl

49% Palfi nger argentina s.a.
Argentina, Buenos Aires 51% Alejandro Zelpo

39.97% sand sarL
France, Valleroy

60.03%  
Sand family

Gesellschaften von PAlFinGER Gruppe

fully consolidated

at equity

non-consolidated

As of 31 December 2008

5.1%

94%

100%

financial highlights of the Palfinger grouP
PAlFinGER AnnUAl REPoRT 

TEUR 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

income statement
revenue 794,839 695,623 585,205 520,048 403,739
ebitda 97,759 115,276 92,126 77,530 53,871
ebitda margin 12.3% 16.6% 15.7% 14.9% 13.3%
ebit 69,089 99,638 77,026 65,142 41,697
ebit margin 8.7% 14.3% 13.2% 12.5% 10.3%
Profit before tax 63,871 102,392 75,583 63,926 41,168
consolidated net profit for the year 43,853 73,978 56,603 48,143 27,391

Balance sheet
total assets 638,330 531,761 409,366 348,591 309,286
non-current operating assets 303,745 241,842 153,522 145,508 119,885
net working capital (as of the reporting date) 172,816 131,253 98,637 88,241 68,870
capital employed (as of the reporting date) 476,561 373,095 252,159 233,749 188,755
equity 309,830 295,056 241,964 197,999 159,960
equity ratio 48.5% 55.5% 59.1% 56.8% 51.7%
net debt 166,733 78,694 10,195 35,750 26,877
Gearing 53.8% 26.7% 4.2% 18.1% 16.8%

cash flow and investment
cash flows from operating activities 32,577 53,025 59,479 42,711 25,726
free cash flow (39,537) (23,246) 43,734 9,427 12,942
investment in property, plant, and equipment 46,515 61,444 21,351 14,999 12,510
depreciation, amortisation, and impairment 28,670 15,638 15,100 12,388 12,174

Payroll
average annual payroll 1) 4,628 3,860 3,443 3,087 2,563

value creation
roce 13.1% 25.7% 25.7% 25.1% 18.2%
roe 15.9% 29.1% 27.1% 29.8% 20.2%
eVa 26,044 54,502 41,979 35,442 18,118
wacc 6.9% 8.2% 8.4% 8.3% 8.1%

share
number of shares issued 35,730,000 37,135,000 9,283,750 9,283,750 9,283,750
Market capitalisation (excl. own shares) 397,379 905,155 820,478 563,881 370,830
Price as of 31 december (eUr) 2) 11.24 25.62 23.25 16.00 10.53
earnings per share (eUr) 2) 1.24 2.09 1.60 1.37 0.78
operating cash flows per share (eUr) 2) 0.92 1.50 1.60 1.15 0.69
dividend per share (eUr) 2) 0.39 3) 0.70 0.55 0.45 0.28
¹) Consolidated Group companies excluding equity shareholdings, as well as excluding apprentices, temporary workers, and workers employed for only very short periods. 

2) Previous year’s figures were converted pursuant to the 4-for-1 stock split of 2007.

3) Proposal for presentation to the Annual General Meeting.

coMPanies of the Palfinger grouP 
PAlFinGER AnnUAl REPoRT 
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PaLFinGeR stands for innovative hydraulic 
lifting, loading, and handling solutions at 
each interface of the transport chain. With 
our market know-how, our technological 
skills, and the commitment of our staff we 
enable our customers all over the world to 
be more successful.

innovation
is the result of our passion for the permanent improvement of product, process, and organi-
sation. it ensures PaLfinGer’s market leadership and allows it to access new business fields 
that broaden the base of the business.

inteRnationaLisation
ensures that our customers in all five continents receive products that conform to market 
standards and provides our company with maximum independence from regional economic 
fluctuations while simultaneously opening up new areas of potential growth, and optimising 
production and logistics costs.

DiveRsiFication 
ensures our independence from sector-specific fluctuations, generates additional potential for 
growth and cross-selling, and guarantees our sales partners an optimised product portfolio.

our 
 Mission  
statement



HiGHLiGHts 2008 
PALFINGER ANNuAL REPoRt 

6 / 2008

<< back forward >> search Print

Highlights 2008 

21 JanuaRy 2008
the preliminary results already showed that the 2007 financial year was the third record year in 
a row. revenues went up by 19 percent to eUr 695.6 million, and ebit increased by 29 percent 
to eUr 99.6 million.

25 MaRcH 2008
the share of PaLfinGer aG was re-included in the atX lead index. in the preceding months 
PaLfinGer had always ranked among the 22 high-revenue companies in the prime market.

26 MaRcH 2008
the annual General Meeting of PaLfinGer aG resolved to distribute a dividend in the amount 
of eUr 0.70 per share and to cancel a part of its own shares, which had been acquired under a 
share repurchase scheme carried out until 2003. 

6 May 2008
in the first quarter 2008, the demand for PaLfinGer products continued to be strong. revenues 
and earnings both went up by more than 20 percent. the acquisition of the Mbb Group at the 
end of 2007 gave more weight to hydraulic systems within the Group.

19 June 2008
chief Marketing officer herbert ortner was appointed the new chief executive officer of  
PaLfinGer aG. he succeeded the previous ceo and cfo wolfgang anzengruber, who  
decided to leave the Management board of PaLfinGer aG to take over a position at the top 
of the austrian energy group Verbund. 

10 JuLy 2008
christoph kaml was appointed PaLfinGer aG’s new chief financial officer from 2009 on-
wards. being in charge of managing the north american area, he was already familiar with the 
specific traits of the Group – an indispensable prerequisite in an economy that is increasingly 
becoming more uncertain on an international level.

Highlights 
 2008
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6 auGust 2008
the results of the first half 2008 showed double-digit growth rates. while demand was  
noticeably weaker in individual market regions, such as spain, Great britain, and italy, the 
growth markets in eastern europe and asia still showed great potential.

14 auGust 2008
PaLfinGer took over the eLeVant access platform unit of the German wUMaG Gmbh,  
thus becoming a major player on the european market for access platforms. 

18 sePteMbeR 2008
hubert Palfinger jun. took over the position of deputy chairman of the supervisory board from 
his father hubert Palfinger, who kept his seat on the supervisory board.

25 sePteMbeR 2008 
at this year’s iaa commercial Vehicles fair in hanover, Germany, PaLfinGer presented established 
solutions and new developments to an expert audience until 2 october. PaLfinGer PLaYworLd 
attracted large crowds and gave visitors the opportunity to “play” with PaLfinGer’s products 
and test them for comfort, safety, and environmental-protection features.

31 octobeR 2008
with omaha standard PaLfinGer took over one of the leading producers of truck bodies and 
pick-up tail lifts in the Us. Local value creation in the Us is strongly enhanced and revenues in 
the north american area are doubled.

6 noveMbeR 2008
the Us subprime mortgage crisis had taken hold of the global banking system and subse-
quently spread to the real economy. in particular since the summer months the slowdown in 
the economy has also affected PaLfinGer. the results for the first three quarters still showed 
an increase thanks to the strong first half, but the outlook was restrained.

18 noveMbeR 2008
demand in the core markets continued to be on the decline with no recovery in sight for the 
following months. against this background management reduced capacities in austria, laying 
off 96 employees for whom a redundancy compensation scheme was worked out. Until further 
notice, short-time work will be introduced at austrian sites from January 2009 onwards.

Highlights 
 2008
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PaLFinGeR at a Glance

in 2008 the PaLfinGer Group continued to report growth rates and for the fourth time in a 
row achieved record revenues in the amount of eUr 794.8 million. this was facilitated by three 
major acquisitions, which took effect in the period under review. 

however, PaLfinGer was not spared the effects of the adverse economic environment.  
furthermore, the slump in demand prompted the company to take measures in the second 
half so as to be equipped for the presumably weak year 2009, with ebit at eUr 69.1 million 
clearly falling short of previous year’s value.

the PaLfinGer Group is headquartered in bergheim, salzburg, austria, and as of 31 december 2008 
comprised 42 companies in 17 countries with a total staff of 4,982. the Group operates an 
optimised global sales and service network with approximately 4,000 outlets and more than 
200 independent dealers in more than 130 countries on five continents. 

PaLfinGer is one of the worldwide market leaders in the industry. the Group’s global position 
provides for a well-diversified product portfolio and, together with its sound financial basis, 
constitutes an excellent foundation in order to identify and make use of opportunities even in 
the current difficult market environment.

PaLfinGer’s equity ratio amounted to 48.5 percent, and due to the acquisitions carried out 
and a comprehensive investment programme the gearing ratio went up to 53.8 percent in 
2008. roe was at 15.9 percent, and return on capital employed for the 2008 financial year 
amounted to 13.1 percent.

at its 22 ManuFactuRinG anD asseMbLy sites, PaLFinGeR PRoDuces  
HyDRauLic LiFtinG, LoaDinG, anD HanDLinG soLutions FoR eacH inteR-
Face oF tHe tRansPoRt cHain. PaLFinGeR is consiDeReD to be tHe tecH-
noLoGy anD innovation LeaDeR. FoR tRuck-MounteD knuckLe booM 
cRanes, tiMbeR anD RecycLinG cRanes, anD containeR HanDLinG sys-
teMs PaLFinGeR is tHe nuMbeR one in tHe GLobaL MaRket, anD tHe 
WoRLDWiDe nuMbeR tWo FoR taiL LiFts. MoReoveR, tHe coMPany is 
tHe LeaDinG sPeciaList in HiGHtecH RaiLWay aPPLications.

PaLFinGeR at a GLance
PALFINGER ANNuAL REPoRt 
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Mbb/RatcLiFF 
tail lifts and passenger lifts

PaLiFt 
container handling systems

RaiLWay 
rail transport system solutions

cRayLeR
transportable forklifts

bison/WuMaG eLevant 
access platforms

ePsiLon timber and recycling cranes/ 
stePa farm cranes

omaha standard  
truck bodies and  
pick-up tail lifts

truck-mounted knuckle 
boom cranes

Madal telescopic cranes

seRvices

PaLFinGeR at a GLance
PALFINGER ANNuAL REPoRt
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The global market.

The global 
market leader.

HERBERt oRtNER

CHIEF ExECutIvE oFFICER
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DeaR sHaReHoLDeRs,

the PaLfinGer Group is looking back on a highly eventful financial year 2008. even though 
economic developments prevented us from reporting only growth rates and new record figures, 
as was the case in previous years, we did achieve success in several areas.

in 2007 we were still faced with overheated demand, scarcity of capacities, and bottlenecks in 
supply, whereas in 2008 the Us subprime crisis gradually spread to europe and other regions  
of the world, and subsequently affected the real economy. for PaLfinGer this development  
meant a decline in demand, which we were at first able to make up for both by our interna- 
tional position and our flexible structures. in late autumn, the unbroken downward trend in  
the world economy finally forced us to reduce our workforce. in spite of that necessary step, 
we still have sufficient flexibility to respond quickly to a recovery of the market. on the basis  
of current estimates we are well equipped for the future. 

but we also achieved a great deal in the past year. the high order backlog dating from 2007 
and our strong market position made it possible for us to record three extremely successful 
quarters in 2008. at the same time we managed to use the increasingly weaker environment 
to carry out significant acquisitions, thus adding to the strength of the PaLfinGer Group.

this growth also contributed to an increase in revenue of 14.3 percent. earnings for the total 
year, however, clearly fell short of the previous year’s figure, reflecting the difficult market  
environment. even so, if the measures taken in the fourth quarter are not taken into account, 
we achieved the third-best results in the history of our company and, as expected, a double-
digit ebit margin. while some of our financials did go down, they all still reflect PaLfinGer’s 
vigour: at 8.7 percent our ebit margin is even now above the industry average. our high equity 
ratio also mirrors our sound basis, as does our gearing, which amounts to only 53.8 percent 
even after our recent acquisitions and investments. 

from today’s perspective the outlook for the year 2009 is uncertain, which makes it even more 
important to have a clear goal in sight. our goal is to gain further market share. of course we 
are also going to cut back on costs wherever possible. however, we plan to keep our core staff 
because in the end it is their skills and know-how that constitute a major success factor of 
PaLfinGer. at this point i would therefore once again like to extend my warm thanks to all  
our employees – 2008 certainly was not an easy year for them either.

at PaLfinGer we all contribute our share to this goal within the scope of our capacities – 
through cost reductions, mutual assistance, and motivation. we have to remain committed to 
delivering top product and service quality, which is exactly where our strength lies. we repay 
the trust vested in us by providing transparent and regular communication both internally and 
externally especially in these uncertain times.

despite all uncertainties we are optimistic about the future: PaLfinGer holds a very strong 
market position – in terms of products as well as regions – and also has an extremely sound 
financial basis. it was with vigour that we set out into these difficult times, which is why we  
are able to make use of numerous opportunities even now – or rather, especially now.

herbert ortner
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Der Konjunktur-Aufschwung. Der Konjunktur-Abschwung.

What will be, will be.  
But quality will  
always prevail.

The cyclical upswing.

The cyclical downswing.

The cyclical upswing.

The cyclical upswing.

The cyclical upswing.

The cyclical upswing.

The cyclical downswing.

The cyclical downswing.
The cyclical downswing.

The cyclical downswing.

The cyclical downswing.

The cyclical downswing.

The cyclical downswing.

The cyclical downswing.

The cyclical upswing.

The cyclical upswing.
The cyclical upswing.

The cyclical upswing.

The cyclical downswing.

WoLFGANG PILz  

CHIEF MARkEtING oFFICER



coRPoRate GoveRnance RePoRt
PALFINGER ANNuAL REPoRt

2008 / 15

<< back forward >> search Print

corporate Governance Report

PaLFinGeR Was invoLveD in bRinGinG about tHe austRian coRPoRate 
GoveRnance coDe anD continues to activeLy contRibute to tHe 
FuRtHeR DeveLoPMent oF coRPoRate GoveRnance.

ManaGeMent anD suPeRvisoRy boaRDs
Pursuant to the (austrian) companies act (aktG) the Management board of PaLfinGer aG 
manages the company under its own responsibility in such a manner as is in the best interest of 
the company, taking into consideration the interests of the shareholders and of the employees 
as well as the public interest. the supervisory board supervises the management and assists the 
Management board in significant decisions.

ManaGeMent boaRD
the Management board of PaLfinGer aG is composed of four members. in June ceo and 
cfo wolfgang anzengruber announced his decision to leave the company as of the end of 
august 2008. herbert ortner was appointed the new chief executive officer and also acted 
as interim cfo. since 1 January 2009, christoph kaml has been PaLfinGer aG’s new chief 
financial officer.

Herbert ortner,
CEO – Chief Executive Officer (since 19 June 2008)/ 
CMO – Chief Marketing Officer
born in 1968, herbert ortner was global business Unit Manager for industrial hoses at the public 
listed semperit Group until 2001. he then joined PaLfinGer, where he developed the spare 
parts, equipment, and service business before being appointed to the Management board 
in february 2003. the focus of his activities as chief Marketing officer included PaLfinGer’s 
railway applications, tail lifts, transportable forklifts, and access platforms, as well as the further 
expansion of the service business. as ceo he is also in charge of legal affairs, procurement, 
personnel, marketing, communications, and investor relations. from 1 september 2008 until 
the end of 2008 he also acted as the Group’s interim cfo. his current term of office will expire 
on 30 June 2013.

Wolfgang anzengruber, 
CEO – Chief Executive Officer (until 19 June 2008)/ 
CFO – Chief Financial Officer (until 31 August 2008)
born in 1956, Mr. anzengruber began his career with the simmering-Graz-Pauker Group. in 
1990 he joined abb, where he most recently was a member of the management team of abb 
austria. in 1999 he joined the management team of salzburger stadtwerke, and from 2000 served 
as senior executive Vice President sales of salzburg aG. in september 2003 Mr. anzengruber be-
came the chief executive officer of PaLfinGer aG. his term of office expired on 31 august 2008.

Wolfgang Pilz, 
CMO – Chief Marketing Officer
born in 1959, Mr. Pilz has approximately 25 years of experience in the crane business at  
PaLfinGer. he was appointed Marketing & sales Manager of the truck crane division  
in 1997. since february 2003 he has been chief Marketing officer for the core business  
areas of cranes and PaLift container handling systems. his current term of office will expire  
on 31 January 2014.
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Martin Zehnder, 
COO – Chief Operating Officer 
born in 1967, Mr. Zehnder started his career at alstom schienenfahrzeuge aG in 1984. from 
2000 to 2005 he was Managing director of development and Production for keystone europe 
in france. in 2005 Martin Zehnder became Global Manufacturing Manager in charge of all  
manufacturing facilities of the PaLfinGer Group, and since January 2008 as the company’s 
chief operating officer he has been responsible for global production. his current term of 
office will expire on 31 december 2010.

christoph kaml, 
CFO – Chief Financial Officer (since 1 January 2009)
born in 1974, Mr. kaml started his career with Gemini consulting. before joining PaLfinGer aG 
in 2004, he was a proxy holder at an M&a consulting company in switzerland. in 2006 he 
changed from PaLfinGer corporate development to the management of the north american 
sales area domiciled in niagara falls, canada, where he was in charge of finances, strategy, and 
business development. since January 2009 Mr. kaml has been PaLfinGer aG’s chief financial 
officer. his term of office will expire on 31 december 2011.

suPeRvisoRy boaRD
the supervisory board of PaLfinGer aG consists of six members elected by the annual General 
Meeting and three members delegated by the works council. following a resolution of the 
supervisory board in september 2008, hubert Palfinger jun. took over the position of deputy 
chairman of the supervisory board from his father hubert Palfinger, who kept his seat on the 
supervisory board. 

name First appointment end of term of office 

alexander exner (Chairman) born in 1947 21 June 1995 aGM 2009
hubert Palfinger jun. (Deputy Chairman) born in 1969 13 april 2005 aGM 2010
hubert Palfinger born in 1942 1989 aGM 2009
kurt stiassny born in 1950 14 november 1996 aGM 2012
Peter r. scharler born in 1957 14 april 2004 aGM 2012
alexander doujak born in 1965 5 april 2006 aGM 2011
Johann Mair * born in 1951 24 May 2005 *

alois weiss * born in 1962 13 february 2006 *

Gerhard Gruber * born in 1960 15 May 2006 *

* delegated by the Works Council
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alexander exner, 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Mr. exner is a management consultant and founding member of the neuwaldegg consultancy 
group. his relationship with PaLfinGer goes back over 25 years. Mr. exner was ceo of Palfinger 
holding aG in the 1990s. after the establishment of PaLfinGer aG in 1995 he became deputy 
chairman of the supervisory board and has been the chairman of the supervisory board since 
the end of 2003.

Hubert Palfinger, 
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (until 18 September 2008),  
since then member of the Supervisory Board
Mr. Palfinger began with the industrial production of truck-mounted cranes in 1964 at the age 
of 22, after taking over his father’s business. the majority shareholder of the Group headed the 
company for 33 years and was chairman of the supervisory board from 1997 to 2003.

Hubert Palfinger jun.,
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 18 September 2008)
after spending 15 years with various companies of the PaLfinGer Group, hubert Palfinger jun. 
took over the management of industrieholding Gmbh in 2004. he has held a seat on the  
supervisory board of PaLfinGer aG since 2005, and on 18 september 2008 he succeeded  
his father as deputy chairman of the supervisory board.

kurt stiassny is chairman of the supervisory board of andritz aG.

coMMittees oF tHe suPeRvisoRy boaRD
audit committee
Powers of decision as specified in the companies act.
Members: alexander exner, kurt stiassny, hubert Palfinger jun., Johann Mair

nomination committee
the nomination committee submits to the supervisory board proposals for the appointment of 
Management board members in case of a vacancy and deals with issues of succession planning.
Members: alexander exner, hubert Palfinger, hubert Palfinger jun.

Remuneration committee
the remuneration committee deals with issues relating to the remuneration of Management 
board members and the terms of employment contracts entered into with Management  
board members. 
Members: alexander exner, hubert Palfinger, hubert Palfinger jun.

auDitoR
following an invitation to tender, the annual General Meeting resolved to appoint ernst & Young 
wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.h., salzburg, as the auditor of the 2008 financial statements 
and consolidated financial statements of PaLfinGer aG, on 26 March 2008, in accordance with 
a proposal made by the supervisory board.
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RePoRt oF tHe suPeRvisoRy boaRD
in the 2008 financial year, the supervisory board performed all duties assigned to it by law and 
by the company’s articles of association. four supervisory board meetings were held, on  
25 february 2008, 16 June 2008, 18 september 2008, and 18 december 2008, and attended 
by the Management board in the 2008 financial year. above and beyond this, the Manage-
ment board informed the supervisory board regularly, both in writing and verbally, about the 
course of business and the position of the company and of the Group companies. the chair-
man of the supervisory board communicated regularly with the chairman of the Management 
board, also outside the scope of the supervisory board meetings, in order to confer with him 
concerning the company’s strategy, business development, and risk situation. 

besides current developments, the supervisory board focused primarily on strategy in the indi-
vidual divisions, acquisition projects, and on major investment decisions. the executive committee, 
the nomination committee, and the remuneration committee met at regular intervals during 
the reporting year. the strategic orientation and further development of the Group were the 
focus of discussions.

PaLfinGer aG’s financial statements for the year ended on 31 december 2008 and the man-
agement report including the company’s accounting records were audited by ernst & Young 
wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.h., salzburg. the audit revealed that the accounting 
records, the financial statements, and the management report comply with the applicable legal 
regulations and the provisions of the articles of association. the final findings of the audit did 
not give rise to any objections, allowing an unqualified auditor’s opinion to be issued for 2008. 
this also applies to the consolidated financial statements. the consolidated financial statements 
prepared in accordance with ifrs (as adopted by the european Union) were supplemented by the 
consolidated management report and additional information in accordance with sec. 245a of the 
(austrian) business code (UGb).

the supervisory board has approved the financial statements for the year ended on 31 decem-
ber 2008 and the management report for the 2008 financial year, thereby adopting the 2008 
financial statements of PaLfinGer aG in accordance with sec. 125 para. 2 of the companies 
act (aktG). the supervisory board has approved the consolidated financial statements of the 
company and the consolidated management report prepared in accordance with sec. 244 et seq. 
of the business code. the supervisory board has evaluated and approved the proposal of the 
Management board with respect to the distribution of profits for the 2008 financial year. 

the supervisory board would like to thank and acknowledge the members of the Management 
board as well as all staff members of the PaLfinGer Group for their outstanding commitment 
and achievements in the 2008 financial year.

 
          salzburg, 24 february 2009
alexander exner m.p. 
chairman of the supervisory board
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ReMuneRation RePoRt
the remuneration system in place for Management board members includes fixed elements and 
profit-related payments. Profit-related remuneration is based on targets that are set in agree-
ment with the individual Management board members, on the one hand, and the fundamental 
financial ratios of the PaLfinGer Group – revenue growth, profit before tax, and roce, on the 
other. for detailed information on remuneration, stock options, as well as special bonuses see 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, page 95 and/or page 136 of this report.

the members of the supervisory board received no remuneration for their services in the 2008 
financial year.
 
coRPoRate GoveRnance coDe
PaLfinGer is committed to the standards of the austrian corporate Governance code  
(www.corporate-governance.at) and complies with nearly all rules of the code. this commit-
ment is evaluated every year by an external auditor. the evaluation result confirms that corpo- 
rate governance is genuinely put into practice at PaLfinGer. the audited questionnaire is 
made available to all interested parties on the company’s homepage (www.palfinger.com).

PaLfinGer satisfies the requirements of the binding L-rules (Legal requirement) and adheres 
to all c-rules (comply or explain) of the austrian corporate Governance code (in its revised 
version of 2007) with the following exceptions:

Rule no. 53 (independent Members of the supervisory board)
PaLfinGer does not fully comply with rule no. 53. no criteria for independence have been 
established. rather, PaLfinGer aG publishes personal and qualification profiles of the members 
of the supervisory board and circumstances that might limit their independence on its home-
page. on the basis of this information any shareholder as well as the public at large can gain 
insight into the qualifications of the members of the supervisory board and assess their suitability 
for their tenure. information on contracts requiring prior approval can also be found on the 
company’s homepage www.palfinger.com.

other than the Palfinger family, no member of the supervisory board has either a direct or an 
indirect shareholding of more than 1 percent in PaLfinGer aG.

the performance of the supervisory board members has made a significant contribution to the 
success of PaLfinGer aG in recent years. the well-balanced composition of the supervisory 
board, the diligent selection of the individual members according to their professional and 
personal characteristics, as well as their knowledge of the company and of the entire sector, 
have been of the greatest importance in this respect.

Rule no. 39 (supervisory board committees)
the requirements of rule no. 39 are satisfied in principle. the sole exception, as noted in the 
comments regarding rule no. 53, is the third paragraph (“sufficient number of independent 
members in the committees”).

Rule no. 51 (Remuneration scheme for Members of the supervisory board)
it is not possible to establish a remuneration scheme since neither the annual General Meeting 
nor the company’s articles of association have provided for a fixed remuneration of the mem-
bers of the supervisory board.

herbert ortner m.p.  wolfgang Pilz m.p.

christoph kaml m.p.  Martin Zehnder m.p.
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strategy and value Management  

its stRonG MaRket Position anD sounD FinanciaL basis aLLoW PaLFinGeR 
to Make use oF GRoWtH oPPoRtunities even in DiFFicuLt econoMic tiMes. 
tHe GRouP is tHeReFoRe in a Position to activeLy PaRticiPate in tHe con-
soLiDation oF tHe MaRket anD soLiDiFy anD FuRtHeR exPanD its stRenGtH 
toWaRDs its coMPetitoRs.

sustainable profitable growth and the largest shareholder value possible are at the focus of 
PaLfinGer’s strategy. Growth is to be generated both organically and as a result of acquisitions. 
by focusing on the three pillars of innovation, internationalisation, and diversification it becomes 
possible to implement the long-term corporate strategy in a targeted manner. the employees 
and their skills and commitment are the core success factors of the PaLfinGer Group. whenever 
a decision is taken, the potential effects on the staff are taken into consideration.

PaLfinGer defines innovation both in terms of the development of new components and 
products and the regular optimisation of processes and organisation. continuous research, also 
carried out in cooperation with external institutions, promotes the development and/or the use 
of new materials and technologies. for many years now PaLfinGer has been recognised as the 
technology leader in the industry and was able to maintain this position in 2008 through the  
presentation of additional High Performance crane models and the newly developed ePsoLUtion 
crane generation for the forestry and recycling industry.

in 2008 PaLfinGer made further progress with regard to the constant optimisation of its 
production processes. this was especially facilitated by the measures of its three-year invest-
ment programme, in the scope of which rationalisation potentials were implemented through 
process optimisation and further quality enhancement. in 2008 other projects to facilitate a 
constant improvement of cost structures and processes were bundled into a “PaLfinGer  
Productionsystem“.

internationalisation reduces dependence on regional economic fluctuations and optimises pro-
duction and logistics costs, and additionally it opens up new growth potentials for PaLfinGer. 
this includes procurement and assembly of products at the local level and access to new markets. 
through the acquisition of the Mbb Group at the end of 2007, PaLfinGer gained access to 
the tail lift market, where the company had previously not been present with this product. 
Local value creation was also stepped up, in particular in the Us and in asia, with an important 
contribution coming from the takeover of omaha standard in the Us. the company brought 
well-established procurement, production, and distribution structures to the PaLfinGer Group. 
in china the first market experience prompted PaLfinGer to expand the existing assembly 
plant into a production site where products are now manufactured and assembled.

diversification ensures PaLfinGer’s independence from sector-specific fluctuations and guar-
antees the company’s sales partners an optimised product portfolio. it is specifically applied in 
areas in which the Group already has a presence. thus it becomes possible to use cross-selling 
opportunities existing within the Group. with the acquisition of Mbb and wUMaG eLeVant, 
PaLfinGer completed its tail-lift and access-platform product portfolio in 2008. omaha standard 
is a leading supplier of specific regional products in north america and thus provides a valuable 
addition to the product portfolio of this region.
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thanks to the persistent implementation of the strategy, PaLfinGer has turned into a global 
market leader in the past ten years. the strategy comprises the PaLfinGer Group in its entirety 
and therefore applies to all product groups and/or segments alike.

in the first quarter 2008 PaLfinGer established its new VentUres segment, where major 
strategic initiatives – both regional and product-oriented – are bundled from their development 
phase to operational maturity. this separation from the operating business is to guarantee a  
focus on building up new fields of business, the continuing market development but also  
internal organisational improvements.

taRGets 2011
the dramatic economic decline in the course of 2008 and the lowered forecasts for the months 
to come prompted PaLfinGer to adjust its strategy for 2011, defined in the previous year, to 
match the changed circumstances. hence the prospects of growth are significantly lower than 
originally estimated, but the supreme targets of the PaLfinGer Group remain unchanged.

the target of controlled growth is to be achieved in the medium run by positive results contribu-
ted by all product groups. in particular, the expansion of business through inorganic growth will 
result in the waning significance of the cranes segment compared to hYdraULic sYsteMs & 
serVices. the share of revenues within the Group is expected to continue to shift towards  
50 percent. strengthening the hydraulic systems is in line with the goal to have a ranking among 
the top three market players in every product group. however, this shifting weight within the 
PaLfinGer Group will also lead to a lowering of the Group ebit margin, as hydraulic systems 
bring in lower margins than cranes, which is already reflected in the results of the 2008 period 
under review. a varying performance of the individual regions will presumably mean that in the 
long term europe, america, and the remaining regions – in particular asia, africa, and the  
Middle east, will each contribute approximately one third to the Group’s revenues.

in the past few years PaLfinGer has become highly flexible by continuously improving processes, 
which allows the company to respond quickly to changing demand or customer requirements 
and constitutes a significant competitive advantage. PaLfinGer was able to use this flexibility 
in the course of 2008, when individual markets slumped within a short time. in the months 
to come PaLfinGer will have to maintain this flexibility in the best possible manner even if 
demand remains at a constant low level, so as to be able to continue to respond quickly to 
positive as well as negative market trends. 

at PaLfinGer growth and value creation are determined by the indicators revenue increase, 
ebit margin, and roce. in 2008 the rise in revenue of 14.3 percent clearly reflects the growth 
achieved. the difficult market development in the financial year and the measures taken in this 
connection are clearly reflected in the decline of the ebit margin by 5.6 percentage points to 
8.7 percent – still above average – and roce of 13.1 percent in 2008. this leaves PaLfinGer 
well prepared for the expected development and the associated industry consolidation.
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Market Review

tHe yeaR 2008 Was MaRkeD by enoRMous cHanGes. in tHe couRse oF tHe 
RePoRtinG PeRioD, tHe subPRiMe cRisis tHat HaD oRiGinateD in tHe us in 
2007 incReasinGLy Hit FinanciaL MaRkets, incLuDinG tHose in euRoPe. 
tHe unceRtainty anD Risk aveRsion causeD by tHis situation aLso aF-
FecteD tHe DeveLoPMent oF tHe ReaL econoMy. as a ResuLt oF GRoWinG 
GLobaL inteRReLations, tHis cRisis eventuaLLy sPReaD to otHeR eco-
noMic ReGions as WeLL.

econoMic backGRounD
according to forecasts by the international Monetary fund (iMf) global economic growth 
slowed down from 5.0 percent in the previous year to an estimated 3.4 percent in 2008. this 
downward trend was led by industrialised nations, which are close to or already in a recession. 
in contrast, to some extent the emerging markets remained robust. 

the loss of confidence in capital markets continued to worsen noticeably after the crash of the 
Us investment bank Lehman brothers. subsequently, the financial crisis, which had originated in 
the Us in 2007, spread and hit the real economy in europe. Uncertainty caused many companies 
to curtail or stop their investment activities. the iMf expects the global economy to grow by 
only 0.5 percent in 2009.

domestic demand in the Us remained at a low level throughout the entire year. GdP growth 
for 2008 was still 1.1 percent, but economic performance diminished during the second half 
of the year. in the countries of the eurozone economic growth also slowed down considerably, 
dipping to 1.0 percent. as growth is expected to decline in the five biggest members, Germany, 
france, italy, spain, and the netherlands, in 2009, the forecast for the eurozone was lowered 
to – 2.0 percent in January 2009. although the development of the eastern european coun-
tries was also curbed by this uncertainty, they still reported 3.2 percent growth during the 
period under review. 

the emerging markets – first and foremost china and india – remained the largest contributors 
to global economic growth. nevertheless, they were no longer able to defy the effects of the 
financial crisis from the third quarter 2008 onwards. while the growth rate recorded in 2008 
was still 7.8 percent, for 2009, the iMf expects growth to be 5.5 percent.

on an international comparison the Latin american countries remained stable in 2008. GdP 
growth was still 4.6 percent – mainly due to the strong first half-year – but it is likely to de-
crease to 3.2 percent in 2009. in the fourth quarter a pronounced decline in global demand 
became evident and the high inflation rate and the dwindling trust of the consumers inhibited 
private consumption. 

against this backdrop, the Us dollar managed to regain value against the euro. at the end of 
the year the exchange rate was 1.39 as compared to 1.46 at the beginning of the year. in con-
trast, the canadian dollar depreciated against the euro. the chinese yuan appreciated against 
the Us dollar and in particular also against the euro and at the end of the period was quoted at 
9.50. the brazilian real depreciated considerably, falling to 3.22.
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in the first half 2008 the markets for raw materials still saw considerable increases in prices. in 
the second half, however, they were characterised by a distinct downward trend and in some 
cases the prices fetched were not even high enough to cover the production costs. after a 
record high of Usd 145.19 per barrel as of mid-year, the brent crude oil price declined to  
Usd 40.25 as of the end of 2008. this development prompted oPec to cut oil output to  
stabilise the situation. 

inDustRy RevieW
the performance of the industries in which PaLfinGer products are used is a material basis for 
the business development of the individual product divisions. the industrial sectors the Group 
depends on most are still the construction industry and transport and logistics, which are also 
early indicators of expected macroeconomic developments. in addition, the recycling industry, 
agriculture and forestry, retail, and municipalities are major customers for PaLfinGer products. 

constRuction inDustRy
for the european construction industry 2008 was a year marked by a high level of instability 
and diverse developments. all in all, production was slightly on the decline in the construction 
sector. this trend was reinforced during the second half of the year and, according to eUro-
constrUct, will also continue in 2009. 

this development was particularly strong in those countries which had been characterised by a 
strong construction boom in recent years, i.e. primarily ireland and spain. as a consequence of a 
growth period of more than ten years in the spanish construction sector, construction including 
its related industries lately accounted for around one quarter of the total gross value added. the 
declines for 2008 and 2009 are estimated to amount to 14 and 16 percent, respectively. 

Many projects were abandoned due to a lack of finance commitments – existing projects were 
cancelled and fewer new orders were placed. although this affected primarily residential con-
struction, the commercial construction sector was not spared either. developments in western 
and eastern europe continued to differ distinctly. western europe is characterised by a relatively 
high per capita construction volume, with residential buildings accounting for around half of 
the market volume. in contrast, eastern european countries, where commercial and under-
ground construction play a more important role, still record growth, even though growth rates 
are slightly lower. 

the infrastructure programmes announced by several countries and by the eU are expected to 
give a first impetus. from 2010 onwards the entire sector should be able to recover. however, 
whether this projection is accurate will also depend on future economic development in europe. 

in the Us the decline that had already started in 2007 intensified. the residential construction 
sector was hit particularly hard with construction volumes going down by almost 30 percent in 
2008 according to the federal office for foreign trade (bundesagentur für außenwirtschaft, 
bfai). an easing of this negative tendency is expected to take place in 2009.
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tRansPoRt anD HauLaGe
trucks account for around 70 percent of european freight transport. consequently, the distinct 
turndown of the global economy also affected the automotive industry, which recorded its 
steepest decline since 1993. in the european market, the number of new commercial vehicles 
registered in 2008 was 9 percent lower than in the previous year. 

while increases in registrations of trucks over 3.5 tonnes were recorded in western europe, in 
particular in Great britain (+ 13 percent) and france (+ 10 percent), considerable declines were 
witnessed in the new member states of the european Union (– 21 percent) and in particular 
also in spain (– 29 percent). france and Great britain were also the markets recording the 
biggest growth rates for heavy trucks over 16 tonnes in 2008. in contrast, the development in 
the new member states of the european Union and spain showed declines of 15 percent and 
30 percent, respectively. 

the drastic decline in demand, which was also felt in the Us, caused financial trouble for im-
portant automobile and commercial vehicle producers and resulted in financial support being 
provided by the Us government. in the fourth quarter 2008 daimler decided to discontinue its 
sterling truck brand. this decision will also impact the dealers of this brand. 

RecycLinG
the recycling industry, which trades in secondary raw materials or reusable materials, was also 
confronted with falling prices in 2008 as the demand for raw materials declined dramatically. 
this trend was reflected primarily in a drop in prices of scrap metal. Lower industrial production 
reduced the demand for steel. the resulting reduction of steel production led to lower demand 
and decreasing prices for scrap metal as a raw material over the course of the year. recently, 
exports of recycling material to asia were discontinued almost completely. 

coMPetitive enviRonMent 
the core product distributed by PaLfinGer is the truck-mounted knuckle boom crane. with a 
market share of around 32 percent PaLfinGer is the global leader in this area. its most im-
portant competitors are hiab, a division of the finnish cargotec Group, and the italian crane 
producer fassi. Most of the other suppliers are either significantly smaller than PaLfinGer or 
offer these products only outside their core business.

the strong market growth achieved in recent years strengthened not only the PaLfinGer 
Group but also its competitors who benefited from the resulting delivery bottlenecks. in 2008, 
however, all competitors had to face a distinct reduction in demand. hiab reported declines, 
also in earnings, as early as at mid-year and by the end of the year was forced to take drastic 
measures, including severe job cutbacks and closing down a plant. against this backdrop, com-
petition became fiercer in the course of the year. to some extent the smaller competitors are 
struggling even more as their liquidity structures are less flexible. the currently difficult situation 
is expected to lead to a consolidation of the industry. 

in this market environment, the strengths of the PaLfinGer Group are particularly evident. 
these include primarily the good cost structure, which was built up at an early stage and has 
been in place for years, innovative products, an efficient network of dealers, and not least 
also a highly qualified and motivated staff. on this basis, PaLfinGer is well able to actively 
participate in market consolidation – a fact it has already proven by its acquisitions of strategic 
importance. the Group entered this phase of poor market performance equipped with a sound 
basis, and it will use this basis to emerge from the phase in an even stronger position. 
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custoMeRs anD suPPLieRs
custoMeR anD DeaLeR netWoRk 
PaLfinGer products are sold in more than 130 countries all over the world through the 
Group’s distributing companies and around 200 independent dealers. this network, together 
with more than 4,000 sales and service centres, is a major contribution to PaLfinGer’s ad-
vantage of not only being the technology and quality leader but also the service champion of 
the industry. in 2008 PaLfinGer intensified its service activities, in particular in asia and south 
america, and considerably expanded its networks in europe and in the Us in the course of the 
two acquisitions made by the Group. 

dealers, who supply most of the Group’s final customers, are PaLfinGer’s most important 
group of customers. the continuous exchange of experience and information is promoted on 
the occasion of annual supplier conferences, which are organised in turn for all global dealers 
in austria and for the area dealers in the individual regions. the 2008 international dealer  
conference was all about the global “PaLfinGer family” and focused on communications 
among international dealers as well as between dealers and the PaLfinGer staff. 

for PaLfinGer the satisfaction of its customers is a major success factor that makes it possible 
for the Group to continue to stand out from its competitors. in 2007 comprehensive studies 
were carried out among dealers and final customers to assess their satisfaction and get to 
know more about their needs and wishes. on the basis of the results of these surveys, specific 
measures were prepared and implemented in 2008. 

in order to be able to meet the growing demand for customised product solutions, PaLfinGer 
built up extra resources in this area. communications with dealers via the PaLfLinGer extranet 
were improved by adding new tools. in addition, awareness of the importance of brief response 
times to inquiries was raised among the staff of the marketing and dispatch departments.

furthermore, in cooperation with its dealers, PaLfinGer improved the training to be provided 
upon delivery of the equipment to the final customers to better meet their wishes. after-sales 
care was also intensified, in particular optimising the supply of spare parts and servicing. 

the success of the measures taken to increase customer satisfaction will be reflected in the 
results of the next dealer survey, which is planned for 2009. 
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PuRcHasinG 
the expenditure for materials and external services is the largest cost item of the PaLfinGer 
Group, with steel playing the most important role and accounting for around 17 percent of 
this item. in recent years overheated demand had resulted in a considerable shortage and 
enormous price increases, which continued until the beginning of the year. the situation eased 
off increasingly in the course of the year 2008 in keeping with the dampened economic environ-
ment. as machine capacities became available, PaLfinGer partly returned to insourcing the 
manufacturing of components and parts and started to manufacture components for third 
parties. suppliers of strategic importance were subjected to a risk analysis in order to examine 
the effects of the reduction in output figures on their liquidity and economic stability. 

essential procurement factors for PaLfinGer include advanced technologies and innovation, 
primarily in the fields of hydraulics, electronics, and high-tension steel. therefore procurement 
focuses primarily on the eU market, where these issues are strongly promoted. PaLfinGer’s 
most important eastern european procurement markets are slovenia, bulgaria, romania, and 
croatia; due to the current price pressure these markets are gaining further importance. 

with the aim of continuously enhancing the quality and consequently also the competitiveness 
of its products, PaLfinGer maintains long-term relationships with its suppliers. this objective is 
supported by quality assurance agreements that currently have been entered into with around 
130 main suppliers. regular audits and evaluations identify deviations and possible risks and, if 
required, the suppliers are provided with the necessary assistance in the optimisation process. 
every second year an international supplier meeting is held to continue to improve supplier in-
volvement. Planned developments of the PaLfinGer Group are also presented at these meetings. 

as a rule, in order to secure the expected future demand, PaLfinGer enters into long-term 
agreements with its main suppliers, which provide for variable annual purchase quantities. 
accordingly, after a one-time rise in prices, the increases in raw material prices during the first 
half of 2008 had no further effects on the production costs of PaLfinGer. in return, however, 
it has to be expected that PaLfinGer will have to bear opportunity costs should the prices for 
raw materials continue to fall. 

as a consequence of the weakening economic situation in the 2008 financial year, PaLfinGer 
called significantly smaller quantities. the purchase quantities for raw materials were the only 
quantities that remained unchanged. at mid-year a further increase in prices, in particular for 
steel, was still expected for 2009, and thus PaLfinGer decided to call 100 percent of the  
quantities agreed upon. this strategy also resulted in a pronounced augmentation of inventories 
in this area. however, in light of the changed market development during the last months of 
2008, noticeable reductions in raw material prices are now expected for 2009. 
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Performance of PaLFinGeR

tHe unceRtain MaRket enviRonMent Was aLso ReFLecteD in tHe PeRFoR-
Mance oF tHe PaLFinGeR GRouP. DecLininG DeManD LeD to cHanGes in 
Revenues anD eaRninGs, WHicH FoRceD PaLFinGeR to ResPonD by takinG 
aDequate MeasuRes. at tHe saMe tiMe, tHe GRouP’s LeaDinG Position in 
tHe MaRket, its MatuRe stRuctuRes, anD its sounD caPitaL basis oPeneD 
uP nuMeRous oPPoRtunities FoR PaLFinGeR, WHicH tHe GRouP seiZeD in 
oRDeR to eMeRGe even stRonGeR FRoM tHis DiFFicuLt situation.

business DeveLoPMent in 2008
the PaLfinGer Group looks back on an ambivalent year. in the first half, the Group continued 
to report a clear double-digit organic growth, which was possible because the crane business 
in europe was still strong and the existing order backlog from the previous year had to be 
reduced using increased capacities. after that, however, the effects of the extremely weak eco-
nomic development started to be felt. it was through the three acquisitions – Mbb, wUMaG 
eLeVant, and omaha standard – that revenue continued to grow during the second half and 
that PaLfinGer nearly attained revenues of eUr 800 million. 

the Group’s earnings development gives a clearer picture of how differently the two halves of 
the year proceeded. in the first half 2008 PaLfinGer recorded an ebit of eUr 59.6 million. the 
strong decline in demand for cranes, necessary measures regarding capacities and/or person-
nel, and depreciation and amortisation made it impossible for PaLfinGer to improve earnings 
in the second half. along with the development of earnings and the investments and acquisi-
tions made in 2008 came a marked fall of the return on capital employed from 25.7 percent 
in the previous year to 13.1 percent, which was also contributed to by the inventory-related 
increase in capital employed. 

consequently, in spite of its thoroughly successful strategy of internationalisation, innovation 
and diversification, PaLfinGer was not in a position to defy the consequences of the current 
financial and economic crisis. in particular the crane markets in spain, Great britain, and italy 
almost came to a complete standstill in the course of the financial year. even once-promising 
markets like eastern europe and russia as well as brazil had to pay the price for the global 
economic development. in the fourth quarter 2008 these developments and possible future 
scenarios forced the Group to take measures in order to be prepared for the months to come. 

revenue rose by 14.3 percent in 2008, from eUr 695.6 million to eUr 794.8 million. the groups 
of companies that were included for the first time – MMb, wUMaG eLeVant, and omaha 
standard – contributed eUr 94.4 million to this increase of eUr 99.2 million. while in the first 
half approximately eUr 50 million of the growth was achieved organically, the second half 
brought a decrease by almost the same amount. 

ebit declined by eUr 30.5 million, from eUr 99.6 million in 2007 to eUr 69.1 million, which 
was basically caused by three factors. 

in the first half of the year, the changed weighting of the products within the Group – the shift 
from cranes to hydraulic systems, which are characterised by lower margins – was reflected 
in a highly pleasing but disproportionally low rise in results. in the second half, this effect was 
reinforced by the decline in the european crane business and the other two acquisitions made 
by the Group. 
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Revenue anD ebit (million EuR)

2006 2007 2008

1,000

800

600

400

200

0

Revenue

EBIT

EBIT margin (in percent)

79
4.

8

69
5.

6

69
.199

.6

58
5.

2

5%

0%

13
.2

%
77

.0

20%

15%

10%

8.
7%

14
.3

%



consoLiDateD ManaGeMent RePoRt 
PALFINGER ANNuAL REPoRt

2008 / 33

<< back forward >> search Print

Moreover, the results for the first half year were also affected by the transfer of all continental 
european tail lift activities to the Mbb headquarters and the subsequent phase-out of the 
PaLGate range of products. 

on top of this, the negative economic development started to be felt in the fourth quarter 
2008; for the first time since its listing on the stock exchange PaLfinGer recorded negative 
quarterly results of eUr – 6.0 million. apart from the market development and the lower mar-
gins of the hydraulic systems, this result primarily reflects expenses and effects such as adjust-
ments to previously recognised items according to ifrs 3 and the recognition of the costs for 
the Group’s social plan. without these effects, PaLfinGer would have reported a positive result 
in this quarter in spite of the measures taken to reduce capacities.

the ebit margin of 8.7 percent as compared to 14.3 percent in the previous year needs to be 
seen in the light of the measures taken in the fourth quarter and also acquisitions, which due 
to the purchase price allocation and integration costs had a negative impact on the Group’s 
earnings. eliminating these factors, PaLfinGer would have achieved a double-digit operating 
ebit margin in 2008. 

taking a look at the 2008 business development in the individual quarters the – mainly inorg-
anic – growth of the PaLfinGer Group is clearly visible as is the development of the economic 
environment and/or the measures taken in this connection.

tEuR q1 2008 q2 2008 q3 2008 q4 2008

revenue 208,944 214,508 183,718 187,669
ebit 29,639 29,979 15,446 (5,975)
ebit margin 14.2% 14.0% 8.4% (3.2%)

in the second half of the year, the deliberate stock piling in the materials sector and the reduc-
tion in capacities resulted in an increase in tied-up capital. reducing inventories to adjust to the 
changed markets will form a material challenge for 2009. 

the performance of the individual markets in which PaLfinGer is active varied greatly during 
the reporting period. while spain, Great britain, and italy suffered severe market declines from 
the beginning of the year onwards, the development of important markets such as Germany 
and france as well as the eastern european countries continued to be satisfactory up to the 
fourth quarter. however, during the last months of the reporting period, even those markets 
failed to defy the international tailspin. the north american market was more stable than ex-
pected, in particular the crane area. furthermore, PaLfinGer succeeded in strongly expanding its 
market position in this area through the acquisition of omaha standard, a specialist for region-
specific truck bodies. in terms of earnings, until the third quarter south america developed into 
PaLfinGer’s second most important region after europe due to the booming brazilian market 
and measures implemented in the region. in brazil, this development was brought to a halt in 
november, when the market was hit by the overall financial crisis. 

in the second half of 2008 it was possible to return to delivery times meeting the originally 
defined targets of two to three months – due to the overheated market situation delivery times 
had been expanded to up to twelve months in recent years. 
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in the field of truck-mounted knuckle boom cranes the volume of incoming orders had already 
decreased significantly in the first half of the year, but at first the decline was compensated 
for by the high order backlog at the beginning of the year. as this was no longer possible in 
the second half, PaLfinGer had to reduce capacities. due to the investments made and the 
fact that over-capacities had been retained, PaLfinGer still has sufficient flexibility in order to 
quickly increase capacities should the market recover. 

this development did not affect the order intake recorded in the ePsiLon business, in particular 
not during the first half year, due to the fact that the recycling industry was gaining strength. 
in the second half, signs of a market decline in forestry were felt, but the newly developed  
ePsoLUtion crane series supported the Group’s leading market position. in the area of tele-
scopic cranes order intake increased by an extent corresponding to an annual production during 
the first quarter so that PaLfinGer started to demand prepayments in the second quarter due 
to long delivery times. 

the service area was extended by two new central outlets in são Paulo and singapore. Moreover, 
the Group’s acquisitions also contributed to a significant extension of the service network. in 
2008 the tail lift and access platform businesses of PaLfinGer were supported considerably by 
the acquisition and/or integration of the Mbb Group and/or wUMaG eLeVant. in the PaLift 
area high production costs, among other factors, resulted in changes in management and or-
ganisational structures in the fourth quarter. this paved the way for an increased independence 
of this area. after the craYLer business in north america had already been severely affected 
by the collapse of the market in 2007, current operations in europe developed similarly in 2008, 
in contrast to the tender business. the performance of the raiLwaY area remained highly 
pleasing throughout the year.

siGniFicant cHanGes
acquisitions to ensuRe sustainabLe PRoFitabLe GRoWtH 
for PaLfinGer 2008 was dominated by intense acquisition activities. with the takeover of the 
Mbb Group at the end of 2007, the acquisition of the eLeVant unit of the wUMaG Group, 
and the acquisition of omaha standard, companies with a total revenue potential of more than 
eUr 160 million were integrated into the PaLfinGer Group. 

the takeover of the German Mbb Group at the end of 2007 resulted in a significant expansion 
of tail lift activities within the PaLfinGer Group in the reporting period. the largest acquisition 
in the Group‘s history made PaLfinGer the global number two in tail lifts. in 2008 it contributed 
eUr 61.7 million to the revenue achieved in the hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices segment. in 
the first half, the entire continental european tail lift assembly activities were relocated to the 
headquarters of Mbb in Ganderkesee, Germany. the series that PaLfinGer had produced was 
discontinued. 

in august PaLfinGer took over the eLeVant unit of the German wUMaG Gmbh to complete 
its existing access platform portfolio and to create additional synergies from the similarities of 
products and the geographical proximity to bison. this made PaLfinGer a major player in the 
european market for access platforms. 
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in october 2008 PaLfinGer closed its third acquisition within twelve months. omaha standard, 
one of the leading producers of service bodies and pick-up tail lifts in the Us market, has added 
products specific for this region to the product portfolio of PaLfinGer. the company has a state-
of-the-art production plant, nine body workshops and/or dealers and an extensive distribution 
and service network in north america. this has raised the local value creation in the Us and 
consequently also the natural hedging of the Us dollar within the Group considerably. this 
acquisition means a doubling of revenues of the PaLfinGer area north america.

coMPLetion oF its investMent PRoGRaMMe 
in 2008 PaLfinGer completed its comprehensive three-year investment programme, which 
besides current replacement investments comprised expansion investments in the amount of 
eUr 80 million. while in 2007 the programme’s focus was on capacity expansion, the first priority 
in 2008 was to exploit rationalisation potentials by means of an improvement of processes 
and further quality enhancements. important steps taken under this programme included the 
modernisation of the hexagonal tube production line at the austrian site in Lengau, the expan-
sion of steel construction and cylinder manufacturing activities at the bulgarian sites, the large 
components centre in Maribor and the acquisition of the delnice site in croatia. 

the plant in shenzhen, china, was expanded from a pure assembly site into a production location 
in 2008. the first hook loaders produced at this plant were delivered in the fourth quarter.  

oRGanisationaL aDJustMents in a cHanGeD FRaMeWoRk  
since January 2008 the product units ePsiLon, taiL Lift, and raiLwaY have been listed as  
“independent units” within the matrix organisation of PaLfinGer. that means that they are 
now organised according to the principles of uniform management and, as far as possible, are 
free to decide to what extent they will use the matrix units of the PaLfinGer structure. this 
special status has stood the test; previously particularly smaller organisational units, with the  
responsibility for processes being split, could not be managed as effectively as desired. in  
october 2008 this organisational structure was also implemented in the PaLift division. 

in the first quarter 2008 PaLfinGer formed a new segment called VentUres, which comprises 
all strategic initiatives of the Group. the objective is to guarantee a focus on the targeted 
exploitation of growth opportunities of the PaLfinGer Group. 

the current reduction of the order backlog and the noticeable decline in market demand in the 
course of 2008 first resulted in an extension of the company holidays in summer and around 
christmas. at the same time, employees in the operating areas were asked to take compensa-
tory time-off to reduce accrued overtime. after already having laid off temporary workers, 
the further deterioration of the economic climate prompted the management to implement a 
redundancy compensation scheme and to cut jobs in the fourth quarter in order to be prepared 
for the expected trough in 2009. this affected 96 employees of austrian sites. Until further 
notice, short-time work was introduced for the majority of employees in austria, taking effect 
from January 2009 onwards. these measures were taken on the assumption that a recovery 
would take place in the medium term in which case operational output may quickly be increased 
by around 20 percent.
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LeGaL cHanGes  
as resolved by the annual General Meeting of 26 March 2008, the issued share capital of 
PaLfinGer aG was reduced to eUr 35,730,000 by means of cancellation of 1,405,000 own 
shares with a pro-rata share of eUr 1,405,000 in the issued share capital. 

with effect as of 14 august 2008, Palfinger europe Gmbh took over wUMaG eLeVant Gmbh, 
including its interests in eLeVant Produktion Gmbh (94 percent), wUMaG eLeVant Verwal-
tungs Gmbh (100 percent), eLeVant service Gmbh & co. kG and eLeVant finance Gmbh 
(95 percent), as well as 6 percent of eLeVant Produktion Gmbh and 76.6 percent of wUMaG 
MaGeba Gmbh from wUMaG Gmbh. on 17 october 2008 the remaining 5 percent in 
eLeVant finance Gmbh was acquired by wUMaG eLeVant Gmbh. finally, on 12 november 
2008, Palfinger europe Gmbh took over 23.4 percent of wUMaG MaGeba Gmbh from the 
former minority shareholders. 

on 31 october 2008, omaha standard, inc. and ftec, inc. were fully taken over by Palfinger 
Usa, inc. in the framework of a merger. 

in March 2008 Pir metal d.o.o. changed its company name to Palfinger proizvodna tehnologija 
hrvatska d.o.o.

the assets of Mbb LiftsYsteMs Ltd. were transferred to ratcliff Palfinger Ltd. with effect as of 
the end of april 2008 by means of a purchase agreement.

in May 2008 star Palfinger equipment india Pvt. Ltd. was founded. Palfinger asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. 
holds a 26-percent share in this joint venture. a share of 74 percent is held by western auto L.L.c. 
and Mr. hameed salahuddin.

in May 2008 an increase of the share capital of Madal Palfinger s.a. by brL 723,075.04 was 
resolved on and implemented by an issue of new shares. as a consequence of the dilution of 
the minority interests, the shareholding of Palfinger service- und beteiligungs-Gmbh has in-
creased to currently 99.11 percent.

as of the end of July 2008, the legal form and the company name of Mbb LiftsYsteMs aG 
were changed to Mbb Palfinger Gmbh and the changes were recorded in the German com-
mercial register. 

on the basis of the acquisition of the wUMaG companies, a consolidation of the companies 
operating in the access platform area is planned for 2009. to this end, bison Palfinger Gmbh 
was already renamed Palfinger Platforms Gmbh in december 2008.
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inFoRMation accoRDinG to sec. 243a oF tHe business coDe (uGb)
as of 31 december 2008, the issued share capital of PaLfinGer aG was eUr 35.7 million  
(previous year: eUr 37.1 million), divided into 35,730,000 (previous year: 37,135,000) no-
par-value bearer shares. this difference was the result of the capital decrease by means of the 
cancellation of the Group’s own shares, which was resolved at the annual General Meeting 
and in the meantime has been implemented. 

each PaLfinGer share entitles its holder to one vote. PaLfinGer aG is not aware of any  
restrictions regarding the voting rights of the PaLfinGer shares and their transferability,  
including restrictions agreed upon between shareholders. 

as of 31 december 2008, PaLfinGer aG held 376,000 own shares (previous year: 1,805,000). 
the Palfinger family directly or indirectly held 65 percent of the shares in PaLfinGer aG. 
around 34 percent of the PaLfinGer shares were in free float. 

there are no PaLfinGer shares with special rights of control. 

within the PaLfinGer Group there are no employee stock option programmes under which 
the shares in PaLfinGer aG are not directly held by employees participating in the stock option 
programme. 

the articles of association do not contain any provisions on the appointment of the members 
of the Management board and the supervisory board or on amendments to the articles of 
association that exceed the scope of the respective statutory provisions. 

as of 31 december 2008, the Management board of PaLfinGer aG was not authorised to 
issue and repurchase shares of PaLfinGer aG beyond the scope of the respective statutory 
provisions. 

no agreements have been entered into that would become effective, be changed, or terminated 
upon a change in management control.

no agreement on compensation in the event of a public takeover bid has been entered into 
between PaLfinGer aG and the members of the Management board. 

the most important features of the internal controlling system with a view to accounting are 
listed in the risk report under internal risks regarding supporting processes.
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GRouP assets, Finances, anD eaRninGs
GRouP assets
total assets rose by 20.0 percent as compared to the previous year and amounted to  
eUr 638.3 million (previous year: eUr 531.8 million) as of 31 december 2008. a substantial 
factor contributing to this improvement were the initial consolidations of acquisitions – the 
wUMaG eLeVant unit and the omaha standard Group. 

the final allocation of the purchase price for the acquisition of the Mbb Group resulted in a decre-
ase in goodwill and an increase in non-current assets as compared to the original figures reported 
in 2007. while the preliminary purchase price allocation in the course of the initial consolidation 
of wUMaG eLeVant led to an increase in goodwill, the acquisition of omaha standard did not 
create any additional goodwill. consequently, the increase in intangible assets resulted from the 
allocation of the purchase prices for the acquisitions with necessary impairment losses having a 
contrary effect. furthermore, investments in capacity expansion, rationalisation, and quality under 
the several-year investment programme completed in 2008 and additions to property, plant and 
equipment resulting from the aforementioned acquisitions were the main contributors to a higher-
than-expected increase in non-current assets by 25.9 percent to eUr 305.1 million (previous 
year: eUr 242.4 million). 

to a considerable extent the acquisitions were also responsible for the 49.3-percent plus in 
current liabilities to eUr 249.2 million (previous year: eUr 167.0 million). this was reflected in 
the gearing ratio that rose to 53.8 percent from 26.7 percent in the previous year.

million EuR

abbreviated consolidated balance sheet 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

non-current assets 305.1 242.4 154.6
current assets 333.2 289.4 254.8
total assets 638.3 531.8 409.4

equity 309.8 295.1 242.0
non-current liabilities 79.3 69.7 51.4
current liabilities 249.2 167.0 116.0
total equity and liabilities 638.3 531.8 409.4

GRouP Finances
the funds reported in the cash flow statement correspond to the balance sheet item cash and 
cash equivalents. 

in the 2008 financial year cash flows from operating activities amounted to eUr 32.6 million, 
compared to eUr 53.0 million in the previous year. the decline was mainly due to the intensi-
fied cutback on working capital liabilities, which was mainly due to fewer investment activities 
as compared to 2008, lower material requirements, and income tax payments. 

cash outflows from investing activities amounted to eUr 77.1 million, which roughly  
corresponds to the previous year’s figure of eUr 80.0 million. however, their composition  
changed: in 2008 cash outflows for the acquisition of companies exceeded investment in  
property, plant, and equipment. 

in 2008 the acquisitions carried out were to a lesser extent financed from operating cash flows, 
which resulted in cash inflows from financing activities in the amount of eUr 51.1 million. 
this was also reflected in a decline in free cash flow from eUr – 23.2 million to eUr – 39.5 million 
in the 2008 financial year. 
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million EuR 

Free cash flow  Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007 Jan–Dec 2006

cash flows from operating activities 32.6 53.0 59.5
cash flows for investing activities ( 77.1) (80.0) (18.9)

(44.5) (27.0) 40.6
adjusted interest on borrowings after tax 5.0 3.8 3.1
Free cash flow (39.5) (23.2) 43.7

GRouP eaRninGs
in the 2008 financial year revenue rose by 14.3 percent to eUr 794.8 million (previous year: 
eUr 695.6 million). once again, the cranes segment was the main contributor to sales 
revenue. Growth in revenue resulted from the hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices segment and 
was based on the first-time effects on revenue of the acquisition of Mbb and the inclusion of 
the wUMaG eLeVant unit during the reporting period. with a share of 77.6 percent in the 
Group’s revenue (previous year: 77.8 percent) the european Union remained the most import-
ant sales market in the 2008 financial year.

expenditures for materials and external services rose to eUr 421.9 million while materials 
intensity remained almost unchanged. 

the disproportionally high increase in staff costs of 18.3 percent was also caused by the ex-
penses for the redundancy compensation plan in austria and severance payments to employees 
leaving PaLfinGer’s sites abroad. 

ebit for the 2008 financial year in the amount of eUr 69.1 million (previous year: eUr 99.6 million) 
came out lower not only due to the costs for the aforementioned redundancy compensation plan 
of eUr 3.1 million but primarily also due to the impairment losses recorded for ratcliff and Mbb 
and for a real estate, which totalled eUr 6.4 million.  

in the 2007 financial year income from associated companies was increased by earnings 
not identifiable to a specific period to eUr 5.8 million (2008: eUr 4.7 million). in 2008 the 
increased costs arising from higher financial liabilities as well as increased losses on exchange 
contributed to a decline in the financial result by eUr 6.9 million to eUr – 9.9 million. 

income tax expense changed virtually in line with the development of results. the slightly higher 
tax rate of 24.7 percent (previous year: 23.8 percent) was primarily influenced by amortisation 
of capitalised loss carryforwards of foreign subsidiaries and the tax treatment of write-downs 
to the going concern value of shareholdings in austria. 

in accordance with PaLfinGer’s dividend policy and on the basis of the current revenues and 
earnings situation, the Management board is going to propose to the annual General Meeting 
to distribute a dividend of eUr 0.39 per share (previous year: eUr 0.70 per share)
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million EuR 

abbreviated consolidated income statement Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007 Jan–Dec 2006

revenue 794.8 695.6 585.2
ebitda 97.8 115.3 92.1
ebitda margin 12.3% 16.6% 15.7%
ebit 69.1 99.6 77.0
ebit margin 8.7% 14.3% 13.2%
consolidated net profit for the period 43.9 74.0 56.6
earnings per share (EuR) 1.24 2.09 1.60

 
dividend per share (EuR) 0.39 * 0.70 0.55
* Proposal of the Management Board to the supervisory Board for presentation to the Annual General Meeting 

the return on capital employed (Roce) decreased by 12.6 percentage points, from 25.7 percent 
in the previous year to 13.1 percent. this decline was contributed to by the reduction in net 
operating profit less adjusted taxes (noPLat) which in turn was caused by the aforementioned 
business developments and the impairment losses as well as by the increase in average capital 
employed arising primarily from the Group’s acquisitions and the investment programme, which 
was completed in 2008.

million EuR 

calculation of Roce  Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007 Jan–Dec 2006

ebit 69.1 99.6 77.0
income from associated companies 4.7 5.8 2.1
adjusted income tax expense (18.2) (25.1) (16.8)
noPLat 55.6 80.3 62.3

 
non-current assets 273.7 198.5 151.1
non-current interest-bearing assets (1.0) ( 0.8) (1.6)
non-current operating assets * 272.7 197.7 149.5

 
inventories 168.8 133.1 106.9
receivables and other current assets (excluding securities) 134.7 115.9 97.4
current tax receivables 1.3 3.6 5.1
non-current and current provisions (38.5) (33.5) (39.9)
deferred tax liabilities (9.6) (4.7) (0.1)
tax liabilities (6.0) (9.1) (5.6)
other non-current and current liabilities (98.9) (90.4) (70.3)
net working capital * 151.8 114.9 93.4

capital employed * 424.5 312.6 243.0
Roce 13.1% 25.7% 25.7%
* average

in 2008 the economic value added (eva) amounted to eUr 26.0 million (previous year: 
eUr 54.5 million). this decline was caused both by the 35.8-percent increase in average 
capital employed and by the consequently lower roce and the lowering of the weighted 
average cost of capital (wacc) due to the reduction in market capitalisation. 
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LiquiDity Position
in the course of 2008 the global financial markets almost came to a standstill. banks provided 
hardly any liquidity to each other; the trust among banks was seriously affected by the insolv-
ency of several market participants. the limping interbank market also led to a scarcity of bank 
credit lines for companies. 

PaLfinGer was not directly affected by these events. with its stable financing structure and an 
above-average equity position, PaLfinGer’s liquidity situation is solid. Long-term credit lines 
were agreed upon with existing and new banking partners. the aim of expanding the bank 
portfolio was to diversify risks. 

investments in existing sites and the Group’s acquisitions increased net debt in the expired year. 
the credit lines granted were used to fund these measures. credit limits that were not used up 
serve as liquidity provisions whose long-term availability has been secured by means of written 
agreements and terms of maturity ranging from three to six years. 

tReasuRy
oRGanisation
the corporate treasury department coordinates and controls all banking business for the  
entire PaLfinGer Group. treasury responsibilities include cash and liquidity management, the 
determination of banking policy, financing and/or investments, and financial risk management 
within the Group. 

the objectives include guaranteed liquidity, an efficient use of banking and financial services 
and limiting financial risks while optimising revenue and costs. central synergy effects and local 
opportunities are taken into consideration as well. 

all processes are transparent and traceable, every single measure is documented. the efficiency 
of the processes is enhanced by means of special treasury software that enables the consistent 
recording of all accounting transactions. this software is used to administer all treasury-relevant 
processes and also for relevant reporting. 

all processes within the treasury department are subjected to the four eyes’ principle; regard-
less of their type, all transactions are released by at least two persons jointly. the employees 
authorised to release transactions are appointed by the Management board and/or the  
managing directors of the individual companies.

casH anD LiquiDity ManaGeMent
in the financial year under review, long-term credit lines were agreed with several banking 
partners in order to fund investments in existing sites as well as acquisitions. when agreeing on 
these credit lines, special attention was paid to their long-term availability. the aim of these credit 
limits is to guarantee a flexible utilisation and repayment of the loans. their long-term nature 
guarantees that funds may also be borrowed at pre-defined terms and conditions in the future. 
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another important aspect of the financing strategy is the distribution of the credit volume over 
several banking partners to stay independent from single lenders and to spread the risk of bank 
insolvency, which occurred for the first time in 2008. 

cash managers were responsible for controlling liquidity and guaranteeing optimal interest 
rates with the objective of preventing the simultaneous existence of credit and debit balances 
in the bank accounts within the Group. in addition, banking terms and conditions are con-
tinuously being monitored and optimised. strategic cash reserves for planned payments are 
invested on a short-term basis. when taking investment decisions, attention is paid to ensure 
the highest level of financial product security and the best issuer credit rating; the third  
essential investment principle is the availability of the funds at any time.

FoReiGn cuRRencies
the financial crisis also impacted the foreign exchange markets and caused high volatilities of 
exchange rates. after a depreciation of the exchange rate of the Us dollar to 1.60 per euro at 
mid-year, the value of the Us dollar recovered during the second half of the year. 

the hedging strategy for 2008, which was implemented in the previous year and under which 
60 percent of the planned Us dollar receipts were hedged by means of foreign exchange for-
wards, enabled PaLfinGer to absorb the impacts of the weak Us dollar. 

the feeble exchange rate of the Us dollar was also used to the Group’s advantage in the 
course of the acquisition of omaha standard in the Us in october. the payment of the 
purchase price constituted a natural hedge of the unsecured part of operating Us dollar re-
ceipts. in part, this hedge will still be available for operating receipts during the first months of 
2009.

the foreign exchange exposure of PaLfinGer is currently less than 5 percent of the Group’s 
revenue. this risk is constantly assessed by means of simulations and scenarios and the impacts 
of exchange rate movements are analysed. the foreign currency team, which is made up of 
members from various departments, discusses possible hedging alternatives at regular intervals 
and prepares suggestions that serve as a basis for the Management board’s decision-making in 
the Group’s hedging strategy.

PaLfinGer bases all of its hedging transactions on the underlying operating item. the treasury 
Guideline adopted by the Management board expressly prohibits entering into any financial 
transactions that are not connected to the hedged item. this guarantees that the use of finan-
cial transactions does not create additional risks but exclusively reduces existing risks. 
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Risk RePoRt
PaLfinGer is aware of the fact that a functioning opportunities and risk management system is 
an important contribution to maintaining and expanding competitive advantages. the aim is to 
use a systematic approach to identify opportunities and risks at an early stage so as to be able 
to proactively respond to changing framework conditions.

the basic components of the risk management set-up of the PaLfinGer Group are standardised 
Group-wide planning and controlling processes and intercompany standards and reporting 
systems. in addition, PaLfinGer focuses on a company-wide uniform risk control system. 
this is supported by having the Group-wide corporate risk management report directly to the 
Management board. 

Risk ManaGeMent
the managements of the individual corporate areas and divisions periodically identify and 
evaluate the most important opportunities and risks along the process chain, taking external 
factors into consideration. these results are evaluated with a view to their possible impacts 
on the results and their probability of occurrence using software correlating events with each 
other. on the basis of this analysis the existing measures are documented and further measures 
for active risk control are developed and implemented. the corporate risk management depart-
ment also carries out periodic checks in order to make sure that the planned measures are 
implemented within the deadlines set. 

the internal auditing department monitors adherence to the statutory framework and the 
company’s internal guidelines. it also examines the general functionality of the risk manage-
ment system with respect to the early identification of risks that might jeopardise the continu-
ed existence of the company. short-term risk issues are covered by the monthly reporting in 
controlling and by periodic meetings of the steering committees of the business divisions. 

Risks
the changes in the international financial markets brought about a shift in the risk exposure 
of the PaLfinGer Group as compared to the previous years. while in the past the focus of risk 
management used to be on internal processes, in 2008 it shifted to mainly external framework 
conditions that had to be coped with. this will also remain true for the 2009 financial year. 

Under its Group-wide risk management system, PaLfinGer divides its risk areas  
into four main categories:
•	 External	risks
•	 Strategic	risks
•	 Internal	risks	relating	to	value	creation
•	 Internal	risks	relating	to	supporting	processes	

external risks
Economic developments: in 2008 the financial crisis, which originated in the Us in 2007, hit 
the real economy, also in europe. it is difficult to assess the future impacts of these developments. 
if the order intake in PaLfinGer‘s european core markets fails to stabilise or continues to decline, 
severe negative effects on earnings will have to be reckoned with. in times of persistently negative 
market developments, excess capacities in the field of human resources and machinery as well 
as high inventories of raw materials mean increased cost and liquidity risks. 
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PaLfinGer’s business partners are also affected by the poor market conditions. dealers and 
suppliers, who are important success factors, might get into financial difficulties and as a 
consequence no longer be in a position to meet their agreements. PaLfinGer will decide on 
financial support of strategically important partners with a view to long-term perspectives.  
in doing so, the financial strength of the PaLfinGer Group will have to be assessed. 

it is primarily the end customers of the PaLfinGer Group who are confronted with the de-
cline in demand in the logistics and construction industries and the shortage of loans granted 
by banks. the consequence is a reduction of the market volume for the products distributed 
by PaLfinGer. as this lowered market volume also affects competitors, this might lead to 
aggravated price pressure, which brings down achievable contribution margins. in spite of 
PaLfinGer’s outstanding market positioning, this potential development poses a high risk. 

Political developments: recent economic developments have also caused political changes, 
which entail changed legal frameworks on the one hand, and new politico-economic approaches 
of individual countries on the other. in the Us, brazil, russia, and china a trend towards increased 
protectionism is already noticeable. PaLfinGer sees these developments as an opportunity 
which it tries to exploit by manufacturing its products locally. 

strategic risks
Strategy: the aim PaLfinGer pursues with its strategic principles of innovation, internation-
alisation, and diversification, is to limit the Group’s dependence on individual product segments 
and/or markets and to optimise its cost structure. this strategic approach has already stood the 
test, especially in times of uncertainty. Product groups with little dependence on the construc-
tion industry as well as overseas markets have, for instance, contributed to the stabilisation of 
revenues and earnings in the second half 2008. 

in the future, it will be even more important to clearly define the underlying strategic principles 
and to communicate them explicitly. it will take joint forces to enable PaLfinGer to step out 
of this uncertain market environment with increased strength. for this reason, the internal 
communications responsibilities were bundled in the corporate communications division in the 
2008 financial year to strengthen the focus of the PaLfinGer team on a common goal. 

Product portfolio: the continuation of the ongoing integration projects in the relevant 
product divisions is of crucial importance for the successful development of the Group. the 
identified potential synergies must be exploited. another important factor of success is the 
consistent continuation of turnaround projects with effective control mechanisms. Professional 
project management is to ensure that the targets set will be reached. as market conditions 
continue to deteriorate, there is also the principle balance-sheet risk of having to further adjust 
individual capitalised intangible assets to the changed valuations (impairment).

Organisation and corporate culture: it is only possible to adjust internal structures to the 
changes in the market if the corporate organisation remains flexible. corporate culture as 
a strong basis that ensures solidarity within the Group is essential when implementing such 
changes. in the course of a value-oriented project, entrepreneurship, respect and learning were 
defined as the key elements of the PaLfinGer value system in 2008. the transformation from 
a family business into a listed atX company was completed long ago, but the cultural chal-
lenges resulting from this change have to be dealt with actively on a continuous basis. Minimum 
standards and framework conditions for processes and internal guidelines must be maintained 
and expanded. 
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internal risks relating to value creation 
Development: PaLfinGer is faced with the challenge of regularly proving its technology 
leadership within its industry and of adjusting new developments to the needs of the different 
markets. this is guaranteed by means of a close cooperation between the development and 
distribution departments on the one hand and a strong regional approach of the development 
projects on the other. 

development work has fundamental consequences for the cost structure of future serial manu-
facturing. highly complex products also mean a high level of complexity in value creation and 
consequently also high costs. this process is optimised by the cooperation of the development 
department with the departments dealing with the subsequent value-creation phases – pro-
curement and production. important innovations have been secured by patents; confidential 
information within the company is protected against unauthorised access. 

Procurement: while in recent years it was necessary to ask suppliers to increase their outputs, 
the current challenge is to lower capacities. PaLfinGer’s close relationships with its suppliers 
make it possible to handle this in an amicable and professional manner. 
 
PaLfinGer is increasing its focus on quality, price, and delivery reliability. suppliers are actively 
being supported in order to provide an even better service in the future. PaLfinGer has imple-
mented special supplier selection procedures and supplier management systems to monitor its 
suppliers’ performances. 

Production: for PaLfinGer the most important value-creation phases are the manufacture 
and the assembly of its products, the risk of an interruption of operations therefore has a direct 
impact on the company’s earnings. this risk has been minimised by measures such as the 
renewal of machinery, the introduction of total Productive Maintenance (tPM) processes, and 
the optimisation of the “PaLfinGer Productionsystem“. 

PaLfinGer has implemented an iso 9001 certified quality management system. in spite of 
this systematic approach within PaLfinGer it is not possible to fully exclude the risk of product 
liability. although the company has insurance cover to meet such costs, the related damage to 
PaLfinGer’s image would be considerable. 

the company has taken out adequate insurance cover for losses caused by energy supply failure, 
technical failure, fire, explosions, and other possible disruptions. 

internal risks relating to supporting processes
Accounting and finance: the objective of the existing accounts receivable management is to 
reduce credit risks in advance. terms of payment are agreed upon on the basis of financial in-
formation about the buyers. only financially sound companies and long-standing partners are 
granted terms and conditions that involve an increased risk for PaLfinGer. the risk of losses on 
doubtful receivables is further limited by means of bad debt insurance cover for the individual 
accounts receivable. 
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an internal controlling system, which has been adjusted to the company and includes funda-
mental principles such as the separation of functions and the four eyes’ principle, has been in-
tegrated into the accounting process. reviews by the company’s internal auditing department 
and the company’s outside auditor guarantee that processes are enhanced and optimised 
consistently. the requirements under the (austrian) company Law amendment act of 2008 
(UrÄG) have already been implemented but are still being refined.

Liquidity, interest rate, and foreign currency risks are controlled by the treasury depart-
ment, where all relevant information from the entire Group comes together. these risks are 
very complex, in particular because PaLfinGer is engaged in international operations. 

Liquidity risk: Group-wide cash reporting guarantees the transparency required to be able to 
control funds in a targeted manner. thanks to medium to long-term planning potential finance 
requirements can be coordinated with the partners at an early stage. the liquidity risk is aug-
mented by continuously poor market conditions, even in the case of long-term contracts. there-
fore, a Group-wide project was launched to sustainably reduce the capital employed in order to 
counteract this risk. 

foreign currency risk: efforts are being made to minimise the foreign currency risk by increasing 
local value creation. in addition, in periodical meetings of a steering committee strategies for 
defined framework conditions are being developed with the aim of reducing possible risks arising 
from the use of financial instruments. in 2008 the Group’s natural hedging was increased by 
the acquisition of omaha standard. 

interest rate risk: also in this area, efforts are being made to obtain favourable market  
conditions by means of a centrally controlled active bank management system. 

Human resources: PaLfinGer regards its employees as the most important factors for suc-
ceeding in reaching its objectives. special staff promotion programmes and ongoing staff reviews 
ensure the future availability of necessary human resources. in times requiring job-cutting it is 
of particular importance to have management capacities among the personnel who are up to 
meeting the special challenges of such times. in addition, attention has to be paid to keeping 
qualified skilled labour and key employees within the company and to ensuring that even in 
times of lower capacity utilisation they work towards reaching their goals in a motivated and 
reliable manner. 

Information technology: Most of the processes within the company rely on it. in particular, 
operational and strategic management decisions depend on information generated by these 
systems. a failure of these systems and processes poses a risk for PaLfinGer. internal and 
external experts maintain and further optimise the it infrastructure across the entire Group. 
PaLfinGer also has in place a range of technical security and protective measures to minimise 
the risks of misuse of data and data loss.

summing up, the risks the PaLfinGer Group is exposed to are manageable and are controlled 
by adequate measures. therefore, from today‘s point of view, they do not jeopardise the con-
tinued existence of the Group.
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ReseaRcH, DeveLoPMent, anD innovation 
the PaLfinGer brand stands for quality and reliability, which are enhanced continuously and 
meet increasing demands. PaLfinGer’s philosophy is to make its customers more successful 
in their jobs. in order to meet this objective, PaLfinGer has established centres of excellence 
where research and product development for the various areas is concentrated. in addition, 
PaLfinGer cooperates with external institutes. 

in the course of the Group’s three-year investment programme, the following product divisions 
and centres of excellence were located at the research and development centre at the austrian 
business location in köstendorf:
•	 Truck-mounted	knuckle	boom	cranes
•	 CRAYLER	transportable	forklifts	
•	 RAILWAY	rail	transport	system	solutions	
•	 Centre	of	excellence	for	hydraulics	
•	 Centre	of	excellence	for	electronics	
•	 Crane	prototype	construction	
•	 Crane	testing	department	

the r&d departments of the other product divisions have been established at their present 
international locations and serve as centres of excellence for the relevant product-specific 
applications. 

when PaLfinGer took over omaha standard in north america, it also gained long-standing 
development experience in the field of truck bodies and pick-up tail lifts as well as manu-
facturing and assembling expertise. 

Patents and ideas
PaLfinGer currently holds 62 active patents. in 2008 eleven additional patents were registered 
to protect technological developments and also application-specific product configurations. 

in order to make use of the potential of ideas available within the company more efficiently, 
an online suggestion scheme with integrated idea processing was implemented in the area of 
truck-mounted cranes. this system enables all PaLfinGer employees to present their innovative 
ideas and suggestions in a manner that is quick and non-bureaucratic. 

R&D investments
in 2008 PaLfinGer invested eUr 11.6 million in research and product development, which  
corresponds to 1.5 percent of its total revenue. this sum does not include general investments 
in buildings and infrastructure for the r&d site köstendorf. 

PRoDuct DeveLoPMent in 2008
Truck-mounted knuckle boom cranes
in 2008 five additional small crane models and a new large crane model were added to the 
High Performance crane series, which had previously been launched in 2007. 

PaLfinGer used enhanced materials for these High Performance crane models and thereby 
achieved a higher lifting moment while at the same time, the cranes’ dead weight remained 
roughly the same. Maintenance-free extension systems and internally routed hydraulic hoses 
have been part of the standard equipment of this crane generation since 2007. the crane 
operator’s comfort continued to be increased by means of targeted ergonomic developments 
and intelligent crane operation systems. 
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EPSILON
ePsiLon increasingly adapts its product developments directly to the customers’ requirements; 
construction engineers then carry out their “field studies” in real-life situations. the devel-
opment of the new ePsoLUtion crane series focused on efficiency enhancement as well as 
service and maintenance friendliness. 

Patents are pending for the two core elements of the crane series: ePscoPe is an optimised 
boom system that reduces maintenance requirements considerably. the newly developed 
ePsLink link is equipped with internally routed hose guidance and has been constructed for 
particularly demanding applications. 

CRAYLER
in 2008 the main focus of attention in the craYLer business was the improvement of structures 
and processes. in north america PaLfinGer established its own development and value-creation 
organisation in order to respond to regional market requirements and the needs of the final 
customers faster and more efficiently. 

PALIFT
the container-handling-systems product portfolio was completed by additional models from 
the t-series, which are designed as “allrounders”. that means that combinations with all com-
mon truck-mounted container handling systems available in the market can now be configured. 
the development focus for 2008 was to continue to increase the modularity and platform 
technology. 

TAIL LIFT
a) MBB
the new trailGate tail lift generation illustrates Mbb’s determination to implement innovative 
ideas. this retractable tail lift was designed particularly for the installation on semi-trailers with 
a short frame overhang. for the north american market, the product iLt twinfold was developed 
and precisely adjusted to the market requirements in terms of easy installation and robustness. 
in addition, the new concept of an electrically operated tail lift was presented at the iaa trade 
fair and met with a great deal of interest. 

b) RAtCLIFF
in Great britain new standards were set by presenting a new underfloor passenger lift. the 
new level ride was another innovation introduced for this growing market system. this project 
was realised in close cooperation with the development departments of ratcLiff and Mbb. 

ACCESS PLATFORMS
a) BIsoN
in the area of the bison access platforms, a new h-line was developed that is particularly suitable 
for communal authorities thanks to its maximum outreach at minimum stabiliser spread. 

b) WuMAG
since the acquisition of wUMaG eLeVant, PaLfinGer has been offering two strong brands for 
access platforms and a complete range of products with an outreach of up to 103 metres. Value 
potential was also released by the bundling of development expertise of bison and wUMaG. 
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RAILWAY SYSTEM SOLUTIONS
the new Pa115 access platform was developed for special railway applications. its L-shape as 
well as the option to use it in combination with road-rail vehicles make this novel access plat-
form perfect for assembly and maintenance work in the railway infrastructure area. 

cooperation projects
PaLfinGer also draws on the scientific expertise of external research institutes. in cooperation 
with the University of salzburg studies on the human-machine interface were carried out during 
the reporting period. welding procedures were evaluated in cooperation with the University 
of Leoben. in the field of material and processing technology, specific detailed projects were 
carried out with academic and non-academic research institutes. 

HuMan ResouRces 
as of 31 december 2008, PaLfinGer employed a total of 4,982 staff members (excluding tem-
porary workers and apprentices) in its 34 fully consolidated Group companies. on an annual 
average 4,628 staff members (excluding apprentices) were employed and 282 temporary work-
ers were hired during capacity bottlenecks. in addition, an average of 36 apprentices received 
training during the reporting period, particularly as mechanical, production, mechatronic, and 
construction engineers, welders, and industrial business management assistants. 

Group-wide, the percentage of women employed is around 10 percent. the majority of the  
female staff is active in the commercial area, with a higher-than-average share of women  
working at the Group’s headquarters, where administrative tasks are taken care of. 

PaLfinGer creates the required framework conditions for employees with disabilities and inte-
grates them in the production process according to their abilities. in october PaLfinGer was 
honoured with the “Promenteus” award for its efforts in integrating people in difficult living 
circumstances. 

Modern working time regulations based on flexitime and bandwidths as well as performance 
and profit-related remuneration systems are standard at the PaLfinGer Group. these regula-
tions, which are increasingly also applied at international sites, are highly appreciated by the 
company’s staff. 

regular management meetings ensure efficient flows of information and decision-making 
processes within the Group. once or twice a year a brief staff survey is performed at all PaLfinGer 
locations. in most cases, questions are answered via the internet. the results form part of the 
internal performance indicators and are intensively discussed with the employees and with 
managers at management meetings. this makes it possible to identify internal developments  
at an early stage and to initiate adequate changes. 

since 2004 the methods and principles of Lean Management have been applied at nearly all 
manufacturing and assembly plants. employees undergo intensive training in these methods to 
enhance value creation. to implement the methods, employees work in teams that are largely 
self-controlled. the opportunity to take responsibility for structuring and improving important 
components of their work has resulted in a stronger commitment of PaLfinGer’s employees.

PaLfinGer has implemented a Group-wide uniform wage/salary structure that provides for 
margins for each job and a performance-oriented remuneration scheme. on the basis of the 
results of each site, the degree of value added, and the purchase power level in an interna-
tional comparison, employees may be paid voluntary annual efficiency bonuses. 
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the staff turnover rate of the PaLfinGer Group is around 12 percent, including natural fluctu-
ation, for instance due to retirement but excluding the personnel laid off at the end of 2008. 
the production sites in eastern europe and in south america have a particularly pronounced 
impact on this rate. there is fierce competition on the labour market in these regions, and 
many employees change jobs or are enticed away from their companies. in eastern europe the 
situation is even more aggravated by a lack of skilled workers. for these reasons, PaLfinGer has 
started to hire more employees than required at these sites as up to 60 percent drop out in the 
course of the initial training as it turns out that they do not have the skills required for the job. 

eDucation anD FuRtHeR tRaininG
the education and further training of its employees is of great importance to PaLfinGer. 
in times of constantly evolving markets and increasingly rapid technological change it is vital 
that the employees are always familiar with current and future trends. the annual appraisal in-
terviews are the basis for individual development plans. in the previous year, 541 austrian staff 
members attended a total of 1,382 training days. approximately a quarter of the courses were 
offered within the framework of the company’s internal PaLfinGer college. at the internatio-
nal locations, teaching and training skilled labour was the dominant issue. 

the recruitment of skilled labour at the production locations remained a factor of special 
importance. to guarantee the availability of well-trained employees, i.e. valuable human re-
sources, over the longer term and to boost their identification with the company, PaLfinGer 
has introduced employee retention programmes at individual sites, such as, for instance, a 
work-life-balance programme. 

in order to prevent a shortage of highly qualified managers within the PaLfinGer Group, the 
demand necessitated by the strategy of the company is evaluated on an annual basis. internal 
management development programmes are being carried out for the target group of manage-
ment trainees with participants from various areas of the PaLfinGer Group. the aim is to bring 
about a greater number of foreign assignments for the Group’s future managers. the increasing 
internationalisation is also reflected in the number of employees posted abroad: in 2008 up 
to 28 employees from austria were assigned to international locations, making an important 
contribution to knowledge transfer as well as cultural networking within PaLfinGer.

in the framework of the VentUres segment, which was created in 2008, PaLfinGer is build-
ing up a special pool of employees in close cooperation with external educational facilities 
in order to guarantee the availability of human resources required for meeting the Group’s 
growth targets. 

eMPLoyees by ReGion
(as of 31 December 2008)
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PaLFit HeaLtH PRoGRaMMe 
in 2003 PaLfinGer introduced the PaLfit health programme, which has been continuously 
expanded ever since. PaLfit comprises preventive medical checkups, sports and fitness options, 
physiotherapy, and informational lectures. after the phase of analysis has been completed, the 
PaLfit project will be expanded to additional international sites in 2009. at the ePsiLon site, a 
pilot project in cooperation with the local health insurance company salzburger Gebietskran-
kenkasse was started, which focuses on the prevention of health risks and actively involves 
company employees. all measures to improve staff health aim at including all employees and 
raising their awareness that they are personally responsible for leading a healthy life. in this 
manner PaLfinGer contributes to the physical, mental, and social well-being of its staff. 

extRaoRDinaRy DeveLoPMents in 2008
the 2008 reporting year was characterised by an abrupt change in the order intake. while du-
ring the first half of the year high capacities had to be held available in order to execute orders, 
from summer onwards it became necessary to reduce capacities on an international level. as 
PaLfinGer regards its qualified employees as a material factor of the company’s success, the 
cutbacks on personnel were reduced to the absolute-necessary minimum and social factors 
were taken into consideration. 

at the austrian sites temporary workers, who had been hired in recent years to cope with 
the enormous demand, were laid off. in november PaLfinGer was also forced to part with 
96 employees in order to adjust capacities to the lowered capacity utilisation and the market 
prognoses, which had been continuously adjusted downwards. a redundancy compensation 
scheme was prepared, taking into account cases of special hardship in advance. for the majority 
of the employees in austria short-time work was introduced until further notice from January 
2009 onwards. the Public employment service austria (aMs) compensates the employees 
concerned for 10 percent and PaLfinGer renders financial support to make up for the missed 
remuneration as well. that means that the wages/salaries of the employees concerned are 
reduced by only 5 percent with working hours being reduced by 20 percent. the package of 
measures agreed upon also provides that employees who are not affected and who have an 
annual salary of more than eUr 60,000.00 – first and foremost members of the management – 
will renounce up to 10 percent of their salaries on a voluntary basis. 

the heart of a company and therefore the most important success factor are always its employ-
ees. for this reason PaLfinGer regards the motivation and further development of its staff as 
an important investment in the future. the uncertain development of the market environment 
brings with it additional challenges that PaLfinGer will counteract by means of intense internal 
communications. the overriding objective is to jointly optimise the company and its processes. 
the focus on the continued improvement of the company’s ability to create value will enable 
PaLfinGer to maintain and expand its strong market position in spite of difficult times. 
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investoR ReLations
international stock markets
in 2008 stock exchanges were marked by the impact of the financial crisis, which started out 
in mid-2007 in the Us subprime mortgage market and spread to european financial markets 
in 2008. numerous banks ran into financial trouble and were in need of support or were kept 
alive by acquisitions. the resulting loss of confidence also became noticeable on stock markets. 
the willingness of private and institutional investors alike to take risks was waning, and worries 
about the further economic development and inflationary concerns were also dampening stock 
prices. central banks contributed towards a slight stabilisation of the markets by providing 
extra liquidity and by taking necessary interest-rate measures. 

accordingly, the year 2008 saw extremely wide price fluctuations. it was not uncommon for 
major share indices such as the dow Jones or the daX to rise or fall by 10 percent in a single 
day. taken over the entire year, no single leading index closed higher at the end of the year, 
and some indices even lost more than 40 percent.

vienna stock exchange 
the austrian traded index atX managed to stand its ground in the first half 2008, still doing 
much better than the european benchmark eurostoxx 50 index. however, the atX dropped by 
more than 50 percent in the second half, while still recording high turnover. in 2008 prices drop-
ped by 61.2 percent. at the end of 2008 the atX stood at 1,750.83 points, which corresponds 
to the price level at the start of 2004. the high weighting of individual stocks contributed to 
falling prices as did the overall gloomy sentiment triggered by the slump in real estate shares, 
which are not included in the atX but strongly represented at the Vienna stock exchange. 

tHe PaLFinGeR sHaRe
the share of PaLfinGer aG is listed in the Prime Market on the Vienna stock exchange and  
in the VidX – the index of shares with a growth and value-orientation. on 25 March 2008  
PaLfinGer shares were re-included in the austrian traded index atX. since 2005 PaLfinGer 
stock has also been a constituent of the austrian VÖniX sustainability index. in Germany, it is 
traded over the counter in frankfurt, stuttgart, berlin, Munich, and düsseldorf. since March 
2005, there has been an adr Level 1 listing in new York.

in 2008 the price of the PaLfinGer share developed in line with the austrian stock market 
and/or international stock exchanges. the entire year 2008 saw great volatility in price move-
ments and slumps in prices. in comparison with a price of eUr 25.62 as of the end of 2007, 
the share price throughout the year dropped by more than half and was at eUr 11.24 as of the 
end of 2008, which corresponds to a decline of 56.4 percent. the average daily turnover at the 
Vienna stock exchange was approximately 144,000 shares (double count).
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it is especially in this uncertain environment that PaLfinGer attaches great importance to the 
continuous and transparent information of its investors. in 2008 the Management board of 
PaLfinGer aG attended numerous investors conferences in austria and abroad. Moreover, 
roadshows were held, and investors were given the opportunity to participate in call-ins or 
personal conversations. PaLfinGer was represented at investors fairs in Vienna and stuttgart 
as well as stock exchange days held in Munich and nuremberg. in 2008 PaLfinGer aG once 
again received numerous international awards for its outstanding investor-relations work and 
for its annual report 2007.

as of 28 May 2008, 1,405,000 of the company’s own shares were cancelled in accordance 
with a resolution of the annual General Meeting, and the issued share capital of PaLfinGer aG 
was decreased accordingly. the shares had been acquired under a share repurchase scheme 
in 2003 to enable PaLfinGer to finance acquisitions by own shares. the company’s capital 
structure was adjusted with this cancellation of shares.

shareholder information 

isin at0000758305
number of shares issued 35,730,000
own shares 376,000
shares in circulation 35,354,000
Listing on the Vienna stock exchange Prime Market
otc listings new York, frankfurt, stuttgart, berlin, Munich, düsseldorf
ticker symbols reuters: PaLf.Vie

bloomberg: PaLf.ac
Vienna stock exchange: PaL

EuR 2008 2007

Low 8.95 22.95
high 28.37 42.84
average price 18.31 32.82
Price as of 31 december 11.24 25.62
earnings per share 1.24 2.09
operating cash flows per share 0.92 1.50
Proposed dividend per share 0.39 0.70
dividend yield relating to the average share price 2.13% 2.13%
Market capitalisation as of 31 december (excl. own shares, million EuR) 397.38 905.15

Research reports

Bank Austria Creditanstalt

Berenberg Bank

Capital Bank

Deutsche Bank

Erste Bank

Goldman sachs

Merrill Lynch

Raiffeisen Centrobank

sal. oppenheim

uBs
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Palfinger family

Free float

PALFINGER AG

sHaReHoLDeR stRuctuRe

34%

65%

1%

sHaRe PRice DeveLoPMent 2008

PaLfinGer aG is not rated. information on the company’s liquidity can be found on page 41 
and in the notes to the consolidated financial statements on page 130.

DiviDenD
PaLfinGer aG pursues a continuous dividend policy, which provides that approximately one third 
of the annual profit is to be distributed to shareholders. the own shares held by PaLfinGer aG  
do not qualify for dividend distribution. subject to the approval of the annual General Meeting, 
the Management board proposes to distribute a dividend in the amount of eUr 0.39 per share 
for 2008. relating to the average price of the PaLfinGer share in 2008 of eUr 18.31 the distri-
bution corresponds to a dividend yield of 2.1 percent; relating to the price as of the end of the 
period under review to a dividend yield of 3.5 percent.

oWneRsHiP stRuctuRe 
as of 31 december 2008, 65 percent of PaLfinGer aG was either directly or indirectly owned 
by the Palfinger family. the company held around 1 percent of the shares from the share 
repurchase scheme, which ended in 2003. the remaining 34 percent of the shares were in free 
float. according to information available to PaLfinGer aG about three quarters of the free 
float were held by primarily european institutional investors.

investoR ReLations
Phone +43 662 4684-0, fax +43 662 4684-2280, www.palfinger.com
Herbert ortner, chief executive officer, ext. 2222, h.ortner@palfinger.com
Hannes Roither, company spokesperson, ext. 2260, h.roither@palfinger.com
Daniela Werdecker, corporate communications, ext. 2219, d.werdecker@palfinger.com

PALFINGER AG

ATX

2 Jan 2008 31 Mar 2008 30 June 2008 30 sep 2008 30 Dec 2008
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sustainabiLity
PaLfinGer is well aware of the responsibility that it bears as a Group with international ope-
rations vis-à-vis society and the environment. therefore the Group attaches great importance 
to the development of the regions in which it operates, to sustainable innovation, resource 
management, climate protection, and most important of all the education, training, and pro-
tection of its staff.

in the past few years, the sustainability process centred on developing strategies and setting up 
a system of key performance indicators that makes performance measurable. since 2008 the 
focus has been on implementing the measures planned in order to allow PaLfinGer to achieve 
its long-term and sustainable objectives.

in July 2008 PaLfinGer aG published its sustainability report 2006/2007, which documents 
developments and measures implemented in previous years. the report received the austrian 
sustainability reporting award asra as the best sustainability report of an austrian company. 
it is available for download at the website www.palfinger.com under investor relations.

society
Development of the regions
a major contribution towards regional development is creating and/or maintaining jobs. the 
capacity reduction that became necessary in austria in 2008 was also carried out in the most 
socially compatible manner possible, in consideration of this aspect. new jobs were created in 
eastern europe and asia, which does not endanger employment in central europe but rather 
adds to the stability of the company.

another principle pursued by PaLfinGer aG for strengthening the economy in the regions is 
its local sourcing strategy. available resources are used in the country where they occur, which 
enables PaLfinGer to respond quickly and flexibly to customers’ needs, while at the same time 
cutting back on logistics and transport costs. 

suppliers have to meet fundamental social and ecological standards. the company plans to 
introduce a code of ethics, whose standards are to be incorporated in the audit of suppliers.

Donations and charitable projects
PaLfinGer is committed to charitable projects. the deployment of donations and sponsorships 
is monitored so as to guarantee their sustainable efficiency. in 2008 the company donated, 
among others, to the children’s cancer fund as well as the african Medical and research 
foundation (aMref). 

sponsorship
PaLfinGer sponsors athletes from disciplines having to do with power and skilfulness, just like 
PaLfinGer products. at present these are heavyweight athletes, truck racers, and the black 
wings ice hockey team from Linz.

in the salzburg “haus der natur” museum a science centre will open in 2009 which will have 
the financial support of PaLfinGer.
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safety
PaLfinGer is committed to continuously improving safety – both for its own staff and for the 
users of PaLfinGer products. 

the work environment of PaLfinGer employees is to promote health and safety. since the 
implementation of absence management, which helps to reduce the workload of employees, 
staff absence has been brought down. the PaLfit health programme, which has been in place 
at the sites in austria since 2003, has been expanded to other locations in the past few years. 
in 2009 a focus will be placed on eastern europe. the safety features of PaLfinGer products 
are continuously being expanded and enhanced and are way beyond legal minimum require-
ments.

cLiMate PRotection anD ResouRce ManaGeMent
PaLfinGer is interested in bringing down its heat, electricity, and co2 consumption. in produc-
tion, for example, high-tension steel is used in order to reduce material expenses and lower the 
weight of PaLfinGer products. the lower weight may help to save on fuel and co2 emissions, 
especially in products that are used as truck bodies. 

Production processes go hand in hand with high electricity consumption, but various projects 
and measures implemented at the individual sites have been tapping other savings potentials.

PaLfinGer observes the highest regional standards in the construction of buildings. in order to 
bring down heat consumption, the entire waste heat of the paint shop in Maribor, slovenia, is 
used for heating and hot water generation. a Group-wide analysis is to be conducted to find 
out for which processes waste heat recovery could make sense.

transport-intensive logistics leads to high co2 emissions. at present it is not possible to make 
increased use of the railway especially for a lack of flexibility of transports heading to eastern 
europe. PaLfinGer is therefore attempting to step up local procurement in order to reduce air 
and ocean freight, especially in north and south america. in 2007 co2 emissions were lowered 
by 40 percent in comparison with 2006.

Product quality is at the top of PaLfinGer’s agenda, which constitutes a significant competitive 
advantage and also is an important contribution towards resource management. Products 
enjoy a longer lifespan, and thanks to new software solutions, for example, waste cuttings  
of steel are reduced. in addition, intensive efforts are underway aimed at reducing water  
consumption and packaging material.

with the development of the High Performance crane series PaLfinGer has set new standards, 
for itself and its customers, in terms of product ecology and recyclability.
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key events after the balance sheet Date

after the end of the 2008 financial year there have been no material post-reporting events 
that would require disclosure.

Performance by segment 

tHe PaLFinGeR GRouP DiviDes its oPeRations into tHRee seGMents: cRanes, 
HyDRauLic systeMs & seRvices, anD ventuRes. WitH a sHaRe oF 63 PeR-
cent tHe cRanes seGMent contRibutes Most to tHe GRouP Revenue. tHe 
HyDRauLic systeMs & seRvices seGMent contains PRiMaRiLy MoRe Recent 
anD sMaLLeR PRoDuct Divisions oF tHe GRouP. since tHe beGinninG oF 
2008 aLL MateRiaL FutuRe PRoJects Have been bunDLeD in a sePaRate 
seGMent caLLeD ventuRes in oRDeR to GuaRantee a taRGeteD Focus on 
buiLDinG uP anD exPanDinG business. 

segments 2008 Revenue tEuR Revenue in % ebit tEuR ebit in %

cranes 500,907 63.0% 83,047 120.2%
hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices 293,932 37.0% (11,588) (16.8%)
VentUres – – (2,370) (3.4%)
PaLFinGeR Group 794,839 100.0% 69,089 100.0%

in the first quarter 2008 PaLfinGer formed a new segment called VentUres, which comprises 
all material strategic initiatives of the Group – both regional and product-oriented – from their 
development phase to operational maturity. at the same time, segment reporting was focused 
on the product divisions and the newly created segment, thereby harmonising the external 
reporting with the internal controlling structure. the previous year’s figures for the segments 
cranes and hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices have been adjusted accordingly. due to this 
restructuring, no comparative figures other than revenue are available for the years before 2007.
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cRanes
the cranes segment contains all crane products of the PaLfinGer Group as well as the truck 
bodies and pick-up tail lifts manufactured by omaha standard specifically for the american 
market. PaLfinGer is the number one in the global market for knuckle boom cranes as well 
as timber and recycling cranes, which is also reflected in the shares of these product groups in 
revenues. the continuous improvement of structures and processes has enabled PaLfinGer to 
achieve margins in these areas that are far higher than the industry average. the cranes seg-
ment is therefore an essential basis for the implementation of the Group’s strategy. in recent 
years, PaLfinGer has pushed initiatives to open up new markets, such as asia.

DeveLoPMent oF business in 2008
revenue of the cranes segment decreased by 1.8 percent in the 2008 financial year, from 
eUr 510.1 million in 2007 to eUr 500.9 million. ebit declined from eUr 100.0 million in 2007 
to eUr 83.0 million, resulting in an ebit margin of 16.6 percent as compared to 19.6 percent 
in the previous year. 

share in the consolidated results in % of Group 2008 tEuR 2007 tEuR

external sales 63.0% 500,907 510,140
depreciation, amortisation, and impairment 49.6% 14,212 10,476
ebit 120.2% 83,047 100,046
assets 55.9% 356,692 308,451
Liabilities 28.5% 93,461 115,489
investment in property, plant, 
      and equipment, and intangible assets 84.9% 41,344 44,266

ebit margin 16.6% 19.6%

tEuR q1 2008 q2 2008 q3 2008 q4 2008

revenue 143,726 147,232 108,398 101,551
ebit 31,434 29,654 14,454 7,505
ebit margin 21.9% 20.1% 13.3% 7.4%

the development of both revenue and earnings reflects the weakening of the market environ-
ment. Markets whose upswing had resulted mainly from the real estate industry or raw materi-
als production were hit particularly dramatically by this development. as the financial crisis has 
made it more difficult to obtain loans, planned projects are being postponed and increasing 
caution is being taken when it comes to new investments. 
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truck-mounted knuckle boom cranes
order intakes in virtually all of PaLfinGer’s core markets deteriorated significantly. while the 
declines were absorbed by the high order backlog in the first half of the year in most of the 
markets, revenue was halved in spain. Germany, france, scandinavia, austria, and brazil con-
tinued to record increasing revenues in 2008. in addition, PaLfinGer achieved its first successes 
in the new markets serbia and turkey, as well as in some african markets. 

since the collapse of the spanish market, Germany has been the largest crane market for  
PaLfinGer, and no single country has shown a share in revenues of more than 10 percent.  
the consistent market development with the aim of continuing the internationalisation strategy 
made it possible for total revenues to remain almost at the same level as in the previous year. 

the adjustment of orders placed on the part of dealers, the capacity increases achieved, and 
declining market demand led to a marked shortening of delivery times. in the course of 2008 
PaLfinGer saw an increasing shift of the product mix towards smaller cranes, which was also 
reflected in the development of earnings. capacity planning for 2009 is being carried out in 
permanent dialogue with dealers so as to meet the needs of the market. in doing so PaLfinGer 
is committed to maintaining the flexibility of the value-creation structures and processes in 
order to be able to respond to further market developments.

ePsiLon timber and recycling cranes
in the first half 2008 the ePsiLon business was still characterised by good market conditions. 
in the second half, however, a weakening of the market caused by falling prices for timber and 
scrap metal was felt in spite of the new ePsoLUtion crane series. financing difficulties of cus-
tomers resulted in orders being cancelled. the strongest markets were austria, Germany, Great 
britain, and also spain. in particular in the second quarter, capacity expansion and process ad-
aptations led to a considerable increase in assembly volumes, which, however, still underwent  
a slight downward adjustment in the third quarter, due to an easing pressure of delivery times.

Madal telescopic cranes
in the telescopic crane business in south america, the cooperation with senneboGen proved 
to be a material success factor. based on the high order backlog and the resulting long delivery 
times, PaLfinGer demanded prepayments for new orders from the second quarter onwards. 

omaha standard truck bodies
in the fourth quarter the takeover of the american omaha standard Group, which was inte-
grated into the cranes segment as of november 2008, was successfully closed. this acquisition 
has strengthened the market position of PaLfinGer in the north american market. the distri-
bution company of omaha standard has nine body workshops that distribute trucks equipped 
with service cranes. the weak economic development during the fourth quarter 2008 also 
brought down the development of revenue and earnings of omaha standard.
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HyDRauLic systeMs & seRvices
the hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices segment combines all product areas other than cranes 
as well as services rendered by the PaLfinGer Group. this also includes some more recent prod- 
uct divisions, whose markets are still being developed. the medium-term goal for all product 
groups is a positive earnings contribution as well as a ranking among the top three market 
players. this goal can be met both by organic and inorganic growth. PaLfinGer has already 
been a leading specialist in high-tech railway applications and the leader in the global market 
for container handling systems for some years. the acquisitions of the German Mbb Group at 
the end of 2007 and of the wUMaG eLeVant unit in July 2008 enabled PaLfinGer to also 
reach the same target for the product groups of tail lifts and access platforms in europe.

DeveLoPMent oF business in 2008
in the hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices segment revenue went up by 58.5 percent, from  
eUr 185.5 million to eUr 293.9 million. around eUr 88.1 million of this increase was contributed 
by the Mbb Group, acquired at the end of 2007, and by the eLeVant access platform unit  
of wUMaG Gmbh from august 2008 onwards. ebit for the 2008 financial year came to  
eUr – 11.6 million as compared to eUr 1.3 million in 2007. this decrease was caused by several 
factors: in the first half 2008 austrian tail lift production activities were transferred to the Mbb 
site in Germany. Moreover, restructuring costs incurred in Great britain and an extraordinary 
write-off of the customer base of ratcLiff in the fourth quarter 2008 posed additional chal-
lenges for the taiL Lift area. the slackened economic framework also led to an extraordinary 
write-off of the customer base of Mbb and impairment losses of the inventories of the craYLer 
transportable forklifts in north america. 

share in the consolidated results in % of Group 2008 tEuR 2007 tEuR

external sales 37.0% 293,932 185,483
depreciation, amortisation, and impairment 50.4% 14,458 5,162
ebit (16.8%) (11,588) 1,294
assets 42.1% 268,838 216,615
Liabilities 17.6% 57,783 39,295
investment in property, plant, 
      and equipment, and intangible assets 15.1% 7,353 18,773

ebit margin (3.9%) 0.7%

tEuR q1 2008 q2 2008 q3 2008 q4 2008

revenue 65,218 67,276 75,320 86,118
ebit (1,107) 1,253 1,228 (12,962)
ebit margin (1.7%) 1.9% 1.6% (15.1%)

taiL LiFt tailgates and passenger lifts
in the taiL Lift division the internationalisation strategy was continued successfully with the 
consolidation of Mbb, which was also reflected in the Group’s earnings. nevertheless the 
phase-out of the former product line PaLGate, the poor development of the Us dollar, and the 
extraordinary write-off brought down results. the previously high order backlog was reduced in 
2008 and demand declined strongly, in particular in the field of distribution logistics. in addition, 
competition increased the price pressure during the reporting period. in the ratcLiff area, 
output figures were raised considerably in the first half-year, but the meagre economic devel-
opment in Great britain was evidenced in the results of the second half-year, which resulted in 
an extraordinary write-off of capitalised customer base according to ifrs 3.  
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bison/WuMaG eLevant access platforms
the market for access platforms saw various developments in 2008: platforms for the  
3.5 tonnes and 7.5 tonnes sector were affected over-proportionally by the weakening of the 
economy as the granting of loans to platform rental companies was restricted. in addition, 
after its delayed introduction in the first quarter, the new ta series of bison has not yet shown 
the expected success. in contrast, demand for large platforms with a working height of 45 metres 
or more increased; in this area service companies invested in “wind power and transmissions” 
in order to be less dependent on access platform rental companies. furthermore, major ren-
tal companies, primarily in scandinavia and Great britain, were prepared to invest in a large 
number of machines as wind farms are becoming bigger. the acquisition of the eLeVant unit 
of the German wUMaG Gmbh considerably supported the strategic objectives pursued by 
PaLfinGer in this division, not least by adding to the product portfolio in the field of large  
platforms of up to 103 metres. 

PaLiFt container handling systems
the PaLift division did not achieve a further increase in earnings despite early successes in 
process improvements and an intensification of its market development strategy. this was also 
due to increased production costs as well as higher material purchasing costs. the organisational 
and management structures were adjusted accordingly in the fourth quarter. in addition, the 
european market came under increasing pressure in the fourth quarter. while the construction, 
recycling, and automobile industries slackened considerably, the public sector remained the only 
positive exception. 

cRayLeR transportable forklifts
the craYLer business in north america was affected by weak demand in 2008. the strong 
competition led to a decrease in prices, making it necessary to recognise an impairment loss for 
the finished goods inventories. in europe, a reduction of market volume was also noticeable 
from the second quarter onwards. PaLfinGer launched a targeted marketing campaign and 
took appropriate organisational measures. in Germany, the core market, first successes were 
recorded in the fourth quarter. 

RaiLWay rail transport system solutions
the raiLwaY division was characterised by a high level of readiness to invest in railway infra-
structure in europe. this resulted in consistently high offer volumes and order intakes through-
out 2008, the earnings situation improved continuously. focal projects are being implemented 
in sweden, switzerland, Luxemburg, Germany, and austria. PaLfinGer also sees great potential 
in france, the Ukraine, russia, and china due to the electrification of existing railway routes, 
the maintenance of the high-speed routes and the demand for bridge inspection equipment. 
on this basis, positive capacity utilisation is expected for the years to come. this is likely to 
result in a doubling of the revenue volume in 2009.

seRvices
the serVices area continued to be a solid success guarantee. the decline in new orders for 
cranes prompted dealers to demand more local training programmes for their service staff. an 
increasing number of distribution training courses were offered. Moreover, the introduction of 
the new crane series resulted in additional demand for training and an increased need for  
documentation. the continuous development and/or expansion of the supporting service  
activities in particular in asia and south america reduced results in 2008 but in the medium 
run will contribute to an improvement of revenues and earnings. 
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ventuRes
in the VentUres segment, which was established within the Group’s organisation at the begin-
ning of the year, PaLfinGer bundles special future projects at their development stage. the aim 
of separating this area from the operating business is to guarantee a targeted focus on building 
up new fields of business and continuing market development. Moreover, a special pool of  
employees, composed of internal and external members, is being set up for strategic activities, 
which among other things closely cooperates with external educational institutes. this is done 
primarily to ensure the availability of sufficient personnel in order to meet PaLfinGer’s growth 
targets and has already stood the test in the staffing of projects. 

in the first half 2008 PaLfinGer expanded its assembly plant in shenzhen, china, into a produc-
tion location for container handling systems, drawing on previously gained market experience. 
the advantage is that specific features of the market can be better taken into account and 
dependency on third-party suppliers is reduced. the first hook loaders manufactured at this plant 
were delivered at the end of 2008, and PaLfinGer succeeded in reeling in its first major order in 
china. consequently, the site will be disintegrated from the VentUres segment and integrated 
into hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices in 2009.

the acquisition of the eLeVant unit of wUMaG was settled in the second quarter 2008. this 
product area was assigned to the access platform division within the hYdraULic sYsteMs & 
serVices segment. in the third quarter preparing the acquisition of omaha standard was one of 
the major projects underway in this segment. Upon successful completion of the transaction, this 
area was allocated to the cranes segment.

the development of the indian market was embarked on together with the local management. 
the activities in this market will be allocated to the VentUres segment in 2009 as well.
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some projects could not yet be integrated into the operating business. in 2008 this concerned the 
Group’s commitment in russia as well as new product ideas. 

in 2008 an overhead optimisation project was completed successfully. in the light of the currently 
uncertain market situation, PaLfinGer launched a project to sustainably strengthen the Group’s 
earnings and financial structure.

as the projects included in the VentUres segment do not generate revenues, only their costs  
are reported. in the 2008 financial year, ebit amounted to eUr – 2.4 million as compared to  
eUr – 1.9 million in the first nine months 2008.

share in the consolidated results in % of Group 2008 tEuR 2007 tEuR

ebit (3.4%) (2,370) (1,702)

tEuR q1 2008 q2 2008 q3 2008 q4 2008

ebit (688) (928) (236) (518)

2007 2008

0

(750)

(1,500)

(2,250)

(3,000)

(2
,3

70
)

DeveLoPMent 
oF ebit
(tEuR)

(1
,7

02
)



outLook
PALFINGER ANNuAL REPoRt 

68 / 2008

<< back forward >> search Print

outlook

it Was FRoM a stRonG MaRket Position tHat PaLFinGeR staRteD oFF in 
2008, a yeaR WHicH Was becoMinG incReasinGLy DiFFicuLt. tHe cHanGes 
in tHe econoMic enviRonMent WeRe ReFLecteD in eaRninGs. HoWeveR, 
tHe GRouP WiLL be abLe to Make use oF FutuRe MaRket oPPoRtunities 
on tHe basis oF its stRateGy PeRsistentLy iMPLeMenteD tHRouGHout 
PRevious yeaRs.

Particularly in the second half 2008 the demand was characterised by macro-economic devel-
opments. the financial crisis gradually spread to the real economy, and uncertainty, especially 
in the american and european markets, increased. against this backdrop PaLfinGer stepped 
up its market monitoring activities in order to be able to nevertheless design scenarios for a 
future market development. the challenge for the months to come will be to implement 
adequate structures and processes. in doing so, long-term strategic goals and values must  
be taken into account. 

these scenarios prompted PaLfinGer to take appropriate measures in the fourth quarter in  
order to continue to ensure a sound point of departure for the expected market development 
in 2009. Management proceeds on the assumption that a decline in revenues in the crane 
business will be compensated in part through recent acquisitions. as far as income goes, 2009 
will clearly fall short of the 2008 period under review. this has to do with the fact that the 
newly acquired companies operate in product areas that are characterised by lower margins 
than the crane business. in addition, the demand for cranes will presumably continue to be 
weak, which will have a clear impact on results.

after completing its investment programme PaLfinGer will place its focus on quality and 
maintenance investments in 2009. additionally, research and development will remain central 
aspects for PaLfinGer so that the Group will be able to continue to use its position as an  
innovation leader in the market in the future.

in the fourth quarter 2008 a project for sustainably strengthening the earnings and finance 
structure of the PaLfinGer Group was initiated. its fundamental pillars are savings in fixed 
costs, process improvements, revenue increases, and measures to reduce the capital employed. 
however, a potential backing of dealers and suppliers may very well increase the capital tie-up. 
against this background as well as in light of acquisition opportunities that present themselves, 
plans are underway for putting the finance structure on a longer-term basis.

it is especially in this uncertain environment that PaLfinGer stands to profit from its strong 
market position. the well-established regional and product-oriented position, as well as the 
sound financial basis of the Group will prove to be a substantial competitive advantage. thus 
PaLfinGer will make use of its opportunities to gain further market share and actively partici-
pate in the consolidation processes in its industry.
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HuBERt PALFINGER JuN.     

DEPuty CHAIRMAN 

oF tHE suPERvIsoRy BoARD

In the short term, the reduction 
in our dividends is painful.

In the long term, our Company 
will become stronger.
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consolidated balance sheet

tEuR Note 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

non-current assets
intangible assets 1 66,918 58,056
Property, plant, and equipment 2 198,224 149,990
investment property 3 1,135 0
investments in associated companies 4 13,633 11,951
deferred tax assets 5 21,557 19,663
non-current financial assets 6 1,360 550
other non-current assets 7 2,278 2,182

305,105 242,392
current assets
inventories 8 185,612 151,894
trade receivables 9 119,665 119,576
other current assets 10 17,424 13,536
tax receivables 1,428 1,121
cash and cash equivalents 11 9,096 2,559

333,225 288,686
non-current assets held for sale 12 0 683

333,225 289,369
total assets  638,330 531,761

equity
share capital 13 35,730 37,135
additional paid-in capital 14 30,177 35,190
treasury stock 15 (1,730) (8,298)
retained earnings 16 251,582 229,905
revaluation reserve (112) (112)
Valuation reserves pursuant to ias 39 17 (124) 519
foreign currency translation reserve 18 (12,104) (4,923)

303,419 289,416
Minority interests 19 6,411 5,640

309,830 295,056
non-current liabilities
non-current financial liabilities 20 44,919 38,315
non-current provisions 21 22,428 21,103
deferred tax liabilities 5 10,144 9,115
other non-current liabilities 22 1,763 1,176

79,254 69,709
current liabilities
current financial liabilities 23 132,337 43,598
current provisions 24 19,386 14,063
tax liabilities 2,038 10,059
trade payables and other current liabilities 25 95,485 99,276

249,246 166,996

total equity and liabilities  638,330 531,761
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consolidated income statement

tEuR Note Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

Revenue 26 794,839 695,623
changes in inventory and own work capitalised 27 (9,149) 11,302
other operating income 28 11,849 11,738
Materials and external services 29 (421,905) (371,047)
staff costs 30 (167,003) (141,183)
depreciation, amortisation, and impairment expenses 31 (28,670) (15,638)
other operating expenses 32 (110,872) (91,157)

earnings before interest and taxes – ebit (before associated companies) 69,089 99,638

income from associated companies 33 4,666 5,755

interest income 547 1,660
interest expenses 34 (7,668) (4,931)
other financial expenses/income 35 (2,763) 270
net financial result (9,884) (3,001)

Profit before income tax 63,871 102,392

income tax expense 36 (15,747) (24,324)

Profit after income tax 48,124 78,068

attributable to
      Minority interests 4,271 4,090
      shareholders of PaLFinGeR aG (consolidated net profit for the period) 43,853 73,978

EuR

earnings per share (undiluted and diluted) 16 1.24 2.09
dividend per share 16 0.39 1) 0.70
¹) Proposal of the Management Board to the supervisory Board for presentation to the Annual General Meeting for resolution.
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consolidated cash Flow statement

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

Profit before income tax 63,871 102,392
+/–  write-downs/write-ups of non-current assets 28,670 13,905
–/+  Gains/losses on the disposal of non-current assets (296) 149
–/+  interest income/interest expenses 7,121 3,271
–/+  income from associated companies (4,666) (5,755)
+     expense for stock option programme 33 57
–/+  other non-cash income/expenses 0 (808)
–     cash payments for the foundation of associated companies (124) 0
–/+  increase/decrease in current assets 13,257 (47,323)
+/–  increase/decrease in provisions (3,158) (13,683)
+/–  increase/decrease in liabilities (43,366) 24,080
cash generated from operations 61,342 76,285

+/–  interest payments (6,060) (2,664)
+     dividends received from associated companies 2,963 1,564
–     income tax paid (25,668) (22,160)
cash flows from operating activities 32,577 53,025

+     cash receipts from the sale of intangible assets
       and property, plant, and equipment 2,893 1,655
–     cash payments for the acquisition of intangible 
       assets and property, plant, and equipment (48,066) (62,308)
–     cash payments for the acquisition of subsidiaries
       net of cash acquired (29,317) (24,674)
–     cash payments for the acquisition of minority interests (395) 0
–     winding-up of subsidiaries 0 (78)
+     cash receipts from the sale of securities 112 5,242
–     cash payments for the acquisition of securities (538) 0
–/+  increase/decrease in other non-current assets (1,778) 176
cash flows for investing activities (77,089) (79,987)

–     dividends to shareholders of PaLfinGer aG (24,731) (19,409)
–     dividends to minority shareholders (3,500) (2,275)
+     sale of treasury stock in the course of the 
       stock option programme 110 394
+/–  increase/decrease in non-current financial liabilities (6,815) 1,332
+/–  increase/decrease in current financial liabilities 86,084 19,003
cash flows from/for financing activities 51,148 (955)

total cash flows 6,636 (27,917)

Funds * tEuR 2008 2007

at 1 January 2,559 30,536

effects of foreign exchange differences (99) (60)

total cash flows 6,636 (27,917)

at 31 December 9,096 2,559
* see Note 11, Cash and Cash Equivalents
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Equity attributable to the shareholders of PALFINGEr AG

tEuR note share capital
additional

paid-in capital treasury stock retained earnings revaluation reserve
Valuation reserves 

pursuant to ias 39
foreign currency 

translation reserve Total Minority interests Equity

At 1 Jan 2007 18,568 53,757 (8,485) 179,519 0 776 (6,053) 238,082 3,882 241,964
Total recognised income and expense for the period 
 Income and expense directly recognised in equity
    Valuation gains/(losses) from cash flow hedges 17 0 0 0 0 0 (257) 0 (257) 0 (257)
    stock options acc. to ifrs 2 16 0 0 0 57 0 0 0 57 0 57
    actuarial gains/(losses) acc. to ias 19 16 0 0 0 (2,183) 0 0 0 (2,183) 0 (2,183)
    other changes 18 0 0 0 (2,269) (112) 0 1,130 (1,251) 0 (1,251)

0 0 0 (4,395) (112) (257) 1,130 (3,634) 0 (3,634)
Profit after income tax 0 0 0 73,978 0 0 0 73,978 4,090 78,068

0 0 0 69,583 (112) (257) 1,130 70,344 4,090 74,434
Transactions with shareholders
 dividends 0 0 0 (19,409) 0 0 0 (19,409) (2,275) (21,684)
 capital increase 13 18,567 (18,567) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 other changes 15 0 0 187 212 0 0 0 399 (57) 342

18,567 (18,567) 187 (19,197) 0 0 0 (19,010) (2,332) (21,342)
At 31 Dec 2007 37,135 35,190 (8,298) 229,905 (112) 519 (4,923) 289,416 5,640 295,056
 

At 1 Jan 2008 37,135 35,190 (8,298) 229,905 (112) 519 (4,923) 289,416 5,640 295,056
Total recognised income and expense for the period
 Income and expense directly recognised in equity
    Valuation gains/(losses) from cash flow hedges 17 0 0 0 0 0 (643) 0 (643) 0 (643)
    stock options acc. to ifrs 2 16 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 33 0 33
    actuarial gains/(losses) acc. to ias 19 16 0 0 0 2,148 0 0 0 2,148 0 2,148
    other changes 18 0 0 0 358 0 0 (7,181) (6,823) 0 (6,823)

0 0 0 2,539 0 (643) (7,181) (5,285) 0 (5,285)
Profit after income tax 0 0 0 43,853 0 0 0 43,853 4,271 48,124

0 0 0 46,392 0 (643) (7,181) 38,568 4,271 42,839
Transactions with shareholders
 dividends 16 0 0 0 (24,731) 0 0 0 (24,731) (3,500) (28,231)
 simplified capital decrease 13, 14 (1,405) (5,053) 6,458 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 other changes 15, 19 0 40 110 16 0 0 0 166 0 166

(1,405) (5,013) 6,568 (24,715) 0 0 0 (24,565) (3,500) (28,065)

At 31 Dec 2008 35,730 30,177 (1,730) 251,582 (112) (124) (12,104) 303,419 6,411 309,830
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notes to the 
consolidated Financial statements 2008

GeneRaL
PaLfinGer aG is a public listed company headquartered in 5101 bergheim, salzburg, austria, 
franz-wolfram-scherer-strasse 24, whose main business activity is the provision of innovative 
hydraulic lifting, loading, and handling solutions at each interface of the transport chain.

the consolidated financial statements of PaLfinGer aG as of 31 december 2008 were prepared 
in line with the international financial reporting standards (ifrs) issued by the international 
accounting standards board (iasb) and the interpretations of the international financial 
reporting interpretations committee (ifric) as adopted by the european Union (eU). apart 
from ifrs 8, ifrs and ifric interpretations whose application is mandatory for financial years 
starting on or after 1 January 2009 were not applied ahead of time. as these consolidated 
financial statements meet the criteria laid down in sec. 245a of the (austrian) business code 
(UGb), the company is not obligated to prepare financial statements according to the provisions 
of the code.

these consolidated financial statements were prepared as of the reporting date of the parent 
company. the financial year corresponds to the calendar year. the financial statements of the 
individual austrian and foreign companies included in the consolidated financial statements 
2008 were prepared as of the reporting date of the consolidated financial statements.

Uniform accounting and valuation criteria were applied within the Group. the consolidated 
financial statements were prepared on the assumption that the company will continue as a 
going concern. for the sake of a clearer presentation, items were aggregated for the purposes 
of the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated cash 
flow statement, and the consolidated statement of changes in equity. the same items were 
then listed and explained separately in the notes, following the principle of materiality. in general, 
when preparing these consolidated financial statements, the historical cost system was applied. 
exceptions were made for derivate financial instruments and financial assets available for sale. 
these items were valued at fair value. 

the consolidated balance sheet was structured according to ias 1, separating current from 
non-current assets and liabilities. assets and liabilities were classified as current if they are likely 
to be realised or balanced within twelve months of the balance sheet date. the consolidated 
income statement was prepared according to the nature of expense method.
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for the sake of clarity and comparability, all figures in the consolidated financial statements are, 
in principle, expressed in thousands of euros (teUr). Minimal arithmetic differences may arise 
from the application of commercial rounding to individual items and percentages.

the consolidated financial statements 2008 and the individual financial statements for 2008 
were published in accordance with statutory requirements and are available from PaLfinGer aG 
on request at any time. the consolidated financial statements of PaLfinGer aG as of  
31 december 2008 were released for publication on 26 January 2009 by the Group’s Manage-
ment board.

consoLiDation PRinciPLes
scoPe oF consoLiDation
PaLfinGer aG prepares the consolidated financial statements for the PaLfinGer Group. the 
consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of PaLfinGer aG and the 
financial statements of the companies controlled by PaLfinGer aG as of 31 december of each 
year. control is defined as the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

associated companies were included according to the equity method. an associated company 
is a company on which PaLfinGer aG may exercise significant influence by participating in its 
financial and operating policy decisions but over which it has no control or joint control. there is 
a rebuttable presumption that the investor holds 20 to 50 percent of the voting power. 

as of 31 december 2008, the scope of consolidation, including PaLfinGer aG as the parent 
company, comprised 34 fully consolidated companies and five companies consolidated using the 
equity method, whose names are disclosed in the statement of investments.
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Controlling company 1) Direct interest 2) Indirect interest 3) Curr. 4)
Equity 

31 Dec 2008
Profit/loss for the period 

Jan–Dec 2008

Company, headquarters curr. in thousand curr. in thousand

Fully consolidated companies
 eLeVant finance Gmbh, Merklingen (de)  (Initial consolidation: 14 August 2008) eLeV 100.00% 99.97% eUr 300 408
 eLeVant Produktion Gmbh, ebersbach (de) (Initial consolidation: 14 August 2008) PeU/eLeV 100.00% 99.97% eUr 500 613
 eLeVant service Gmbh & co. kG, krefeld (de) (Initial consolidation: 14 August 2008) eLeV 100.00% 99.97% eUr 500 280
 ePsiLon kran Gmbh, salzburg (at) PeU 65.00% 64.98% eUr 16,849 12,206
 financière Palfinger s.a.s., caussade (fr) PeU 100.00% 99.97% eUr (5,768) 35
 ftec, inc., birmingham (Us) (Initial consolidation: 31 october 2008) osi 100.00% 100.00% Usd 2,946 (906)
 Guima france s.a.s., caussade (fr) GP 100.00% 99.97% eUr 2,390 1,309
 Guima Palfinger s.a.s., caussade (fr) PeU 100.00% 99.97% eUr 3,805 (4,842)
 interLift inc., cerritos (Us) Mbb 100.00% 99.97% Usd 879 (160)
 Madal Palfinger s.a., caxias do sul (br) Psb 99.11% 99.11% brL 7,237 2,491
 Mbb hUbfiX s.r.o., bratislava (sk) Mbb 100.00% 99.97% skk 95 42
 Mbb inter s.a.s., silly en Gouffern (fr) Mbb 100.00% 99.97% eUr (8,384) (205)
 Mbb interLift n.V., erembodegem (be) Mbb 100.00% 99.97% eUr (163) (40)
 Mbb LiftsYsteMs Ltd., cobham (Uk) Mbb 100.00% 99.97% GbP 7 984
 Mbb Palfinger Gmbh, Ganderkesee (de) (Previously MBB LIFtSYStEMS AG) PeU 100.00% 99.97% eUr 4,970 2,087
 omaha standard, inc., council bluffs (Us) (Initial consolidation: 31 october 2008) PUsa 100.00% 100.00% Usd 4,955 (1,906)
 Palfinger asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., singapore (sG) Psb 100.00% 100.00% sGd 1,713 220
 Palfinger europe Gmbh, salzburg (at) Psb 99.97% 99.97% eUr 81,529 50,691
 Palfinger Gmbh, ainring (de) PeU/Psb 100.00% 99.97% eUr 14,927 7,190
 Palfinger Gru idrauliche s.r.l., bolzano (it) PeU 100.00% 99.97% eUr 2,695 1,127
 Palfinger, inc., niagara falls (ca) Psb 100.00% 100.00% cad 6,977 (2,949)
 Palfinger Platforms Gmbh, Löbau (de) (Previously Bison Palfinger GmbH) PeU 100.00% 99.97% eUr 3,797 (1,791)
 Palfinger Produktionstechnik bulgaria eood, cherven brjag (bG) Psb 100.00% 100.00% bGn 30,663 (467)
 Palfinger proizvodnja d.o.o., Maribor (si) Psb 100.00% 100.00% eUr 13,085 (99)
 Palfinger proizvodna tehnologija hrvatska d.o.o., delnice (hr) (Previously PiR metal d.o.o.) Psb 100.00% 100.00% hrk 245 (907)
 Palfinger service- und beteiligungs-Gmbh, salzburg (at) PaG 100.00% 100.00% eUr 114,434 37,496
 Palfinger (shenzhen) Ltd., shenzhen (cn) PaP 100.00% 100.00% cnY 1,812 (245)
 Palfinger Usa, inc., tiffin (Us) Psb 100.00% 100.00% Usd 15,775 273
 ratcliff Palfinger Ltd., welwyn Garden city (Uk) PeU 100.00% 99.97% GbP 2,806 (1,267)
 tiffin Loader crane, co., tiffin (Us) PUsa 100.00% 100.00% Usd 1,420 (91)
 wUMaG eLeVant Gmbh, krefeld (de) (Initial consolidation: 14 August 2008) PeU 100.00% 99.97% eUr 3,880 2,445
 wUMaG eLeVant Verwaltungs Gmbh, krefeld (de) (Initial consolidation: 14 August 2008) eLeV 100.00% 99.97% eUr 44 3
 wUMaG MaGeba Gmbh, seifhennersdorf (de) (Initial consolidation: 14 August 2008) PeU 100.00% 99.97% eUr 1,775 114

Companies consolidated using the equity method
 Palfinger argentina s.a., buenos aires (ar) PeU 49.00% 48.99% ars (1) (70)
 Palfinger france s.a., Étoile sur rhône (fr) PeU 49.00% 48.99% eUr 24,455 8,000
 Palfinger southern africa (Pty) Ltd., edenvale (Za) PeU 33.33% 33.32% Zar 1,507 337
 star Palfinger equipment india Pvt. Ltd., tamil nadu (in) (Initial consolidation: 15 May 2008) PaP 26.00% 26.00% inr (108) (106)
 stePa farmkran Gesellschaft m.b.h., elsbethen (at) PeU 45.00% 44.99% eUr 2,531 1,716
1) Controlling company:  

 ELEV  = WuMAG ELEVANt GmbH, Krefeld (DE)  PAG  = PALFINGER AG, Salzburg (At)  2) from the point of view of the controlling company  

 GP  = Guima Palfinger S.A.S., Caussade (FR)  PAP  = Palfinger Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., Singapore (SG)  3) from the point of view of PALFINGER AG  

 MBB  = MBB Palfinger GmbH, Ganderkesee (DE)  PEu  = Palfinger Europe GmbH, Salzburg (At)  4) Curr. = local currency

 MP  = Madal Palfinger S.A., Caxias do Sul (BR)  PSB  = Palfinger Service- und Beteiligungs-GmbH, Salzburg (At)

 oSI  = omaha Standard, Inc., Council Bluffs (uS)  PuSA  = Palfinger uSA, Inc., tiffin (uS)
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Newly founded companies
on 14 september 2007 PaLfinGer entered into a distribution joint venture agreement with one 
of the leading automobile trading companies in india, western auto L.L.c., dubai. western  
auto L.L.c. is part of the eta-ascon Group. the dubai-based group operates in india in the con-
struction, transport, real estate, and automotive business sectors. star Palfinger equipment  
india Pvt. Ltd., india, was founded on 15 May 2008 and is owned by Palfinger asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. 
(26 percent), western auto L.L.c. (23 percent), and Mr. hameed salahuddin (51 percent), a 
member of the family owning western auto L.L.c. the joint venture comprises import, mar-
keting, distribution, and service, for the time being, for selected PaLfinGer crane models. 

Acquisitions made in 2008
on 24 september 2008 PaLfinGer signed a contract to take over 100 percent of the shares of 
the Us company omaha standard, inc. as well as its distribution subsidiary ftec, inc. the trans-
action was closed on 31 october 2008. omaha standard, inc. is one of the leading producers of 
service bodies and pick-up tail lifts in the Us. the company generates annual revenues of about 
eUr 55 million and has a well-established distribution network with a total of 400 centres. 

at the time of acquisition, the purchase price was allocated on the basis of the estimated fair 
values as follows:

tEuR 2008

Purchase price paid in cash 11,711
share of purchase price not yet due 2,999
incidental acquisition costs 531
total purchase price 15,241

net assets acquired (15,276)
negative differential amount (35)

in addition to the purchase price paid in cash, an earn-out agreement in the amount of  
Usd 5 million was entered into, the payment of which will be depend on the results achieved  
by the acquired company in the years 2009 to 2011. 

the differential amount was calculated on the basis of the estimated fair values at the time of 
acquisition. as not all of the fairness opinions are available yet, there may still be changes in the 
fair values and consequently also in the negative differential amount in the consolidated financial 
statements for 2009.

the negative differential amount was recorded under other operating income. 
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at the time of acquisition, the carrying amounts were reconciled with the estimated fair values 
as follows: 

tEuR Carrying amount

Fair value

adjustments Fair value

non-current assets  
 intangible assets 47 3,834 3,881
 Property, plant, and equipment 16,420 5,658 22,078
 deferred tax assets 2,740 0 2,740
 other non-current assets 396 (36) 360

19,603 9,456 29,059
current assets  
 inventories 8,317 983 9,300
 trade receivables 5,847 19 5,866
 other current assets 861 (135) 726
 tax receivables 4 0 4
 cash and cash equivalents 711 0 711

15,740 867 16,607
non-current liabilities  
 non-current financial liabilities 14,521 (2,559) 11,962
 non-current provisions 91 180 271
 deferred tax liabilities 0 2,856 2,856
 other non-current liabilities 239 0 239

14,851 477 15,328
current liabilities  
 current financial liabilities 7,450 0 7,450
 current provisions 63 775 838
 tax liabilities 186 0 186
 trade payables and other current liabilities 5,283 1,305 6,588

12,982 2,080 15,062
net assets acquired 7,510 7,766 15,276

in the course of the preliminary purchase price allocation an amount of teUr 3,834 was allo-
cated to intangible assets and pertained mainly to the dealer network and the brand. 

after the austrian and German antitrust authorities approved the takeover of the eLeVant unit 
of the German wUMaG Gmbh, which had been decided upon on 24 June 2008, the transac-
tion was closed on 14 august 2008. within the wUMaG eLeVant unit, there were minority in-
terests of 5 percent in eLeVant finance Gmbh and of 23.4 percent in wUMaG MaGeba Gmbh; 
apart from these minority interests, the unit was acquired in its entirety. 

the wUMaG eLeVant unit has three manufacturing sites in Germany and focuses on truck-
mounted access platforms (17 to 103 metres working height) and fire-fighting platforms. this 
is thus a good supplement to PaLfinGer’s access platform portfolio and the production and 
sales capacities existing in Germany. with a staff of 225 employees the wUMaG eLeVant unit 
achieved revenues of around eUr 42 million in 2007.
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at the time of acquisition, the purchase price for the wUMaG eLeVant unit was allocated on 
the basis of the estimated fair values as follows:

tEuR 2008

Purchase price paid in cash 17,450
incidental acquisition costs 437
total purchase price 17,887

net assets acquired (6,356)
Goodwill 11,531

Goodwill was calculated on the basis of the estimated fair values at the time of acquisition. as 
not all of the fairness opinions are available yet, there may still be changes in the fair values 
and consequently also in the goodwill in the consolidated financial statements for 2009.

at the time of acquisition, the carrying amounts were reconciled with the estimated fair values 
as follows:  

tEuR Carrying amount

Fair value

adjustments Fair value

non-current assets  
 intangible assets 18 4,833 4,851
 Property, plant, and equipment 4,010 (573) 3,437
 deferred tax assets 0 334 334
 other non-current assets 4 0 4

4,032 4,594 8,626
current assets  
 inventories 14,868 140 15,008
 trade receivables 13,495 0 13,495
 other current assets 7,162 0 7,162
 cash and cash equivalents 101 0 101

35,626 140 35,766
non-current liabilities  
 non-current financial liabilities 1,457 0 1,457
 non-current provisions 637 280 917
 deferred tax liabilities 0 1,466 1,466

2,094 1,746 3,840
current liabilities  
 current financial liabilities 916 0 916
 current provisions 1,452 0 1,452
 tax liabilities 685 0 685
 trade payables and other current liabilities 30,759 0 30,759

33,812 0 33,812
net assets 3,752 2,988 6,740
net assets acquired * 3,356 3,000 6,356
* the minority interests existing at the time of acquisition (WuMAG MAGEBA GmbH and ELEvANt Finance GmbH) were taken 

 over in the fourth quarter 2008.
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in the course of the preliminary purchase price allocation an amount of teUr 4,833 was allocated 
to intangible assets and pertained mainly to the orders on hand and product developments. 

since the time of initial consolidation, the wUMaG eLeVant unit as well as omaha standard, inc. 
and ftec, inc. have been contributing teUr 32,709 to the consolidated revenues of  
PaLfinGer aG and teUr – 290 to its consolidated net profit for the period. if the transactions 
had been made with effect as of 1 January 2008, the consolidated net profit for the period of 
PaLfinGer aG would have been as follows:

tEuR

Jan–Dec 2008  
stated

Jan–Dec 2008  
pro forma

revenue 794,839 863,495
 

consolidated net profit for the period 43,853 43,108
earnings per share in EuR 1.24 1.22

Acquisitions made in 2007
after the austrian and German antitrust authorities approved the takeover of the Mbb Group, which 
had been decided upon on 29 october 2007, the transaction was closed on 6 december 2007. 

the Mbb Group is one of the top-three players in the global market for tail lifts. the German 
company is headquartered in Ganderkesee near bremen and maintains distribution subsidiaries 
in Great britain, france, belgium, and the slovak republic and another production site in the Us.

as of 19 september 2007 the takeover of the remaining 80 percent of the croatian supplier 
Palfinger proizvodna tehnologija hrvatska d.o.o. (previously Pir metal d.o.o.) was finalised. 
the PaLfinGer Group had held an interest of 20 percent in Palfinger proizvodna tehnologija 
hrvatska d.o.o. starting with 2001. at the time of takeover the steel component manufacturer 
employed a staff of 95.

on the basis of the purchase price allocation using the estimated fair values, goodwill in the 
amount of teUr 22,482 was capitalised in the 2007 financial year. following the final calculation 
of the fair values, goodwill was reduced to teUr 14,042.

in the course of the final purchase price allocation for the Mbb Group, the consolidated balance 
sheet as of 31 december 2007 was adjusted as follows:

tEuR 31 Dec 2007 Adjustment

31 Dec 2007  

adjusted

non-current assets
 intangible assets 54,609 3,447 58,056

non-current liabilities
 deferred tax liabilities 5,668 3,447 9,115

the intangible assets identified in the course of the final purchase price allocation pertained 
mainly to the brand and the customer base. 
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the final purchase price allocations for Palfinger proizvodna tehnologija hrvatska d.o.o.,  
croatia, and for the Mbb Group were as follows:

tEuR 2007

Purchase price paid in cash 24,780
incidental acquisition costs 739
total purchase price 25,519

net assets acquired (11,477)
Goodwill 14,042

at the time of acquisition, the estimated fair values were reconciled with the final fair values 
for Palfinger proizvodna tehnologija hrvatska d.o.o., croatia, and the Mbb Group as follows: 

tEuR

Estimated

fair value

Adjustments 

based on final purchase 

price allocation

Final

fair value

non-current assets  
 intangible assets 69 11,887 11,956
 Property, plant, and equipment 3,816 0 3,816
 deferred tax assets 1,612 0 1,612
 other non-current assets 86 0 86

5,583 11,887 17,470
current assets  
 inventories 10,486 0 10,486
 trade receivables 7,783 0 7,783
 other current assets 488 0 488
 tax receivables 123 0 123
 cash and cash equivalents 845 0 845

19,725 0 19,725
non-current liabilities  
 non-current financial liabilities 2,344 0 2,344
 non-current provisions 2,704 0 2,704
 deferred tax liabilities 15 3,447 3,462

5,063 3,447 8,510
current liabilities  
 current financial liabilities 9,358 0 9,358
 current provisions 523 0 523
 tax liabilities 117 0 117
 trade payables and other current payables 7,072 0 7,072

17,070 0 17,070
net assets (100%) 3,175 8,440 11,615
net assets acquired 3,037 8,440 11,477
(Palfinger proizvodna tehnologija Hrvatska 80% and MBB 100%)

in the 2007 financial year Palfinger proizvodna tehnologija hrvatska d.o.o., croatia, contributed 
revenues of teUr 754 to the consolidated revenues and teUr – 55 to PaLfiLnGer aG’s con-
solidated net profit for the period. 
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if the transactions had been made with effect as of 1 January 2007, PaLfinGer’s consolidated 
net profit for the period 2007 would have been as follows:

tEuR

Jan–Dec 2007  
stated

Jan–Dec 2007  
pro forma

revenue 695,623 757,726

consolidated net profit for the period 73,978 75,107
earnings per share in EuR 2.09 2.13

consoLiDation MetHoD
Pursuant to ifrs 3 all business combinations must be accounted for by applying the purchase 
method. Under this method the consolidation of investments is carried out at the acquisition 
date by offsetting the purchase price with the net assets of the acquired business measured 
at fair value. the subsidiaries’ identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities are re-
cognised at their full fair values, irrespective of the extent of the minority interest. intangible 
items must be recognised separately from goodwill if they are either separable from the entity 
or arise from statutory, contractual, or other legal rights. any remaining differences on the 
asset side are capitalised as goodwill. if negative differential amounts arise, the measurements 
of the identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities of the acquired business and the 
calculation of the cost of the business combination are reassessed and the differences are then 
recognised in the income statement.

according to ifrs 3 in combination with ias 36 the capitalised goodwill is no longer amortised 
on a straight-line basis. instead, the goodwill recognised must be tested for impairment annu-
ally and whenever circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. if the carrying amount of 
a cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated exceeds the recoverable amount 
of the unit, the impairment loss in the amount of the difference is allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to the unit. any additional impairment loss is then 
allocated to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis.

the initial consolidation of companies included for the first time was performed at the time of 
acquisition, which was also the point in time when the possibility to exercise control over the 
company’s net assets and business activities was obtained. the results of subsidiaries sold or 
acquired during the year are included in the consolidated income statement effective from the 
date of acquisition or until the date of sale.

earnings, assets, and liabilities of associated companies are included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements applying the equity method. investments in associated companies are reported 
in the balance sheet at cost after adjustment to changes in the Group’s share of net assets 
after acquisition and impairment losses. Losses exceeding the Group’s investment in associated 
companies are not recognised. the goodwill relating to the associated company is included in 
the carrying amount of this share and is neither amortised on a straight-line basis nor subjected 
to a separate impairment test.

if the acquisition costs for the Group’s investment are lower than the fair values of the iden-
tifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date, the difference is recognised in the income 
statement in the acquisition period. intra-group accounts receivable and payable, income and 
expenses, as well as inter-company profits and losses are fully eliminated.
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shares of minority shareholders are reported at the time of acquisition in the amount of the 
fair values of the recognised assets and liabilities attributable to the minority interest and are 
then adjusted according to all changes in equity allocable to the minority shareholders.

cuRRency tRansLation WitHin tHe GRouP
the consolidated financial statements are prepared in euros, the functional currency of  
PaLfinGer aG.

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are converted into the functional currency 
at every reporting period end date using the respective closing rates. all currency differences 
are recognised in the income statement. non-monetary items that are measured at historical 
cost in a foreign currency are converted using the exchange rate of the date of the transaction. 
non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are converted using 
the exchange rate applicable at the time of calculation of the fair value.

in line with ias 21 financial statements of Group companies reporting in foreign currencies 
are translated in accordance with the functional currency concept. the assets and liabilities are 
converted from the functional currency into euros using the middle rate at the balance sheet 
date. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of foreign subsidiaries is allocated to the acquired 
company and translated at the respective middle rate at the balance sheet date. the income 
statement items of the consolidated foreign companies are converted using average rates for 
the period.

differences arising from the currency conversion of the pro rata equity are recognised dir-
ectly in equity. in the event of the deconsolidation of a foreign company, these exchange rate 
differences are recognised in the income statement. exchange rate differences attributable to 
minority interests are offset against the interests of other shareholders.

the following exchange rates are of particular importance for the consolidated financial  
statements:

Exchange rate as of Average exchange rate

1 euro equals 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

bGn 1.9525 1.9572 1.9563 1.9576
brL 3.3110 2.6081 2.6780 2.6739
cad 1.7231 1.4451 1.5586 1.4726
GbP 0.9738 0.7374 0.7983 0.6862
Usd 1.4096 1.4724 1.4761 1.3750

the effects of exchange rate movements on the calculation of the balance sheet items of the 
consolidated subsidiaries resulted in a change in equity of about teUr – 7,181 (previous year: 
teUr 1,130) booked through the balance sheet. this figure is reported under foreign currency 
translation reserve in the statement of changes in equity.
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accountinG anD vaLuation MetHoDs
intanGibLe assets
Purchased intangible assets are capitalised at acquisition cost. internally generated intangible 
assets are capitalised at manufacturing cost if the preconditions set out in ias 38 regarding the 
capitalisation of internally generated intangible assets are satisfied.

intangible assets are subject to amortisation over their relevant useful lives. with the exception 
of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, amortisation is performed on a 
straight-line basis over a timeframe between two and ten years. customer relationships capit-
alised as part of corporate acquisitions are amortised over a useful life of five to ten years. at 
the end of every financial year the residual values, the useful lives, and the methods of amor-
tisation of these assets are reviewed and, if necessary, adjusted prospectively. changes in the 
method or period of amortisation that become necessary as a consequence of modifications 
of the anticipated useful lives or the expected consumption of the future economic benefits of 
the assets are treated as changes in estimates. 

in the case of intangible assets of indefinite useful lives, each asset is tested for impairment at 
least once a year. these intangible assets are not amortised over their useful lives on a system-
atic basis. once a year, the useful lives of all intangible assets within indefinite lives are checked 
as to whether the estimations of the indefinite lives are still justified. if this is not the case, the 
estimates are changed prospectively from an indefinite useful life into a finite useful life.

impairments are recognised in the year in which the event giving rise to the impairment occurs. 
if the reasons for the impairment cease to exist, corresponding write-ups are performed until 
the level of amortised cost is reached.

Goodwill
according to ifrs 3 goodwill is not amortised but is instead tested for impairment annually as 
well as whenever there are indications that impairment has occurred.

in order to perform impairment tests, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units. the 
essential standard applied for determining whether a unit qualifies as a cash-generating unit is 
the assessment of its technical and commercial independence in the generation of income. the 
impairment test of the cash-generating unit is carried out by comparing the amortised carrying 
amount (including the allocated goodwill) to the higher of either the net realisable value or the 
value in use. the value in use is calculated as the present value of relevant future cash inflows 
and outflows on the basis of the data obtained from the internal medium-term corporate 
planning. the discount rate is derived from the weighted cost of capital of the company. if 
the calculated amount is less than the carrying amount, the impairment loss in the amount of 
the difference is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of the goodwill. any additional 
impairment loss is then to be allocated to the remaining assets of the cash-generating unit in 
proportion to their carrying amounts.

according to ifrs 3 goodwill once written down for impairment can no longer be recovered.
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Research and development
research expenses are reported in the income statement when incurred.

development expenses made with a view to a significant further development of a product 
or a process are capitalised if the product or process is feasible both from a technological and 
commercial point of view, the development is marketable, the expenses can be measured 
reliably, and PaLfinGer has sufficient resources to complete the development project. all other 
development expenses are recognised in the income statement when incurred.

capitalised development expenses of closed projects are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation. as long as a development project is not yet completed, an impairment test of the 
capitalised amounts accrued is carried out annually or more frequently if circumstances indicate 
that an impairment loss might have occurred.

PRoPeRty, PLant, anD equiPMent
Property, plant, and equipment are reported at cost, adjusted for straight-line depreciation. 
besides direct costs, production costs also contain appropriate proportions of materials and 
manufacturing overhead costs. General administrative expenses as well as borrowing costs are 
not capitalised.

assets are depreciated as soon as they are put into operation. depreciation is performed on a 
straight-line basis over the prospective useful lives of the relevant assets. the anticipated eco-
nomic or technical useful life is used to determine the expected useful life of property, plant, 
and equipment. 

years

own buildings and investments in third-party buildings 20–50
Plant and machinery 3–15
fixtures, fittings, and equipment 3–10

at the end of every financial year the residual values, the useful lives, and the methods of 
depreciation of the assets are reviewed and, if necessary, adjusted prospectively. changes in the 
method or period of depreciation that become necessary as a consequence of modifications 
of the anticipated useful lives or the expected consumption of the future economic benefits of 
the assets are treated as changes in estimates. 

when major inspections are performed, their costs are recognised in the carrying amount of 
the item of property, plant, or equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are sat-
isfied. replacement investments and value-increasing investments are capitalised and depre-
ciated over either the new or the original useful life. all other expenses for maintenance and 
repair work are recognised in the income statement when incurred.

in the case of asset disposals, the difference between the carrying amounts and the net real-
isable value is recognised in the income statement in either other operating income or other 
operating expenses.
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Government grants
according to ias 20 government grants for property, plant, and equipment are presented as 
reductions of the acquisition and/or manufacturing costs and reduce depreciation on a sys-
tematic basis accordingly in the following periods.

PaLfinGer receives grants for research and further training in various countries. these are 
recognised as other operating income in the time periods in which the expense which is to be 
compensated for by the grant is incurred. 

a government grant is not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the company 
will comply with the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Leases
in line with ias 17, the allocation of a leased asset to the lessor or lessee is based on the  
transfer of all material risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset.

assets obtained through finance leases are capitalised at the fair value or lower present value 
of the minimum lease payments at the acquisition date from the viewpoint of the lessee, and 
depreciated over their useful lives. the capitalised value of assets corresponds to the present 
value of the lease payments outstanding at the balance sheet date.

assets obtained through operating leases are allocated to the lessor. the lessee recognises the 
lease payments as an expense in equal instalments over the term of the lease.

Borrowing costs
Under the benchmark treatment pursuant to ias 23 borrowing costs are recognised in the 
income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

investMent PRoPeRty
investment property includes land or buildings held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation 
rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative pur-
poses or sale in the ordinary course of business.

Property held as investment property is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation. the 
depreciation on buildings is performed on a straight line basis over a period ranging from 20 to 
50 years. the fair value of property held as investment property is determined by expert opin-
ions that are prepared internally and using an income-cost approach.
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inventoRies
inventories are assets held for sale as part of the normal operating business (finished goods 
and goods for resale), assets that are still in the process of production (work in progress) or that 
are consumed as part of the manufacturing of products or the rendering of services (materials 
and production supplies).

inventories are valued at acquisition or production cost or the lower net realisable value at the 
balance sheet date. the valuation of materials and production supplies is carried out in accor-
dance with the moving average cost method. write-downs are made where the net realisable 
value is lower than the carrying value. 

the acquisition or production costs are determined on the basis of standard production costs. 
these standard costs are reviewed regularly and adjusted to the current conditions if necessary. 

FinanciaL instRuMents
according to ias 39 financial assets are classified either as held for trading, loans and receiv-
ables, available for sale, or hedging derivatives. PaLfinGer determines the designation of its 
financial assets upon initial recognition.

when they are recognised initially, financial assets are measured at fair value. in the case of fin-
ancial investments that are not designated as assets to be recognised at fair value through the 
income statement, transaction costs are recognised as well. these costs are directly allocable to 
the acquisition of the assets.

acquisitions or sales of financial assets are recognised at the trade date. 

the fair value of financial instruments is the amount for which a financial instrument could be 
exchanged between knowledgeable, willing, and independent parties in an arm’s length trans-
action. the fair value is frequently identical to the market price, and therefore its calculation is 
based on market information available at the balance sheet date. the values listed may diverge 
from values realised later due to varying determinants.

Market values are available for all derivative financial instruments and securities. the fair values 
for all other financial instruments are determined on the basis of the discounted anticipated 
cash flows. 

Securities
securities and shareholdings are classified as available for sale pursuant to ias 39. they are 
measured at fair value provided that a reliable fair value can be determined. Unrealised profits 
and losses are recognised in equity. in the case of sales, the unrealised profit and/or loss that up 
to that point had been reported as equity in the balance sheet will be reported in the income 
statement. impairment losses are recorded in the income statement. impairment losses re- 
corded for equity instruments are reversed in the balance sheet, impairment losses recorded  
for debt instruments in the income statement.
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Loans
interest-bearing loans are classified as loans and receivables pursuant to ias 39. to the extent 
that no impairment losses are required, they are reported at amortised cost; non-interest 
bearing loans and interest-bearing loans with low rates of interest are discounted accordingly. 
impairment losses are reversed through the income statement. 

Receivables
receivables are classified as loans and receivables pursuant to ias 39 and are reported at 
amortised cost, if necessary less impairment losses. foreign currency receivables are valued at 
the foreign currency bid price at the balance sheet date. write-ups and write-downs resulting 
from the valuation of foreign currency receivables are booked through the income statement. 
impairment losses are recorded in allowance accounts; the receivable is only derecognised in 
case of insolvency or failure to assert the claim in court. impairment losses are reversed through 
the income statement. 

Cash and cash equivalents
current financial assets are composed of cash in hand, cheques, and cash at banks with an ini-
tial remaining time to maturity of a maximum of three months and are reported under cash and 
cash equivalents. they are measured mark to market as of the balance sheet date. 

Liabilities
Liabilities are shown at amortised cost. foreign currency liabilities are valued at the foreign 
currency offer price at the balance sheet date. write-ups and write-downs resulting from the 
valuation of foreign currency liabilities are booked through the income statement.

Derivative financial instruments
derivative financial instruments that do not satisfy the criteria for hedge accounting laid down 
in ias 39 are classified as held for trading pursuant to ias 39. financial assets carried at fair 
value through profit and loss are recognised at fair value in the balance sheet while gains and 
losses are recognised through the income statement. 

Cash flow hedge
in order to minimise the risk of fluctuations with respect to payments received in the future, 
expected foreign currency income in Us dollars for the following financial year is hedged in 
the PaLfinGer Group by means of forward currency contracts. the special hedge accounting 
principles as stipulated by ias 39 are applied to ensure compensation on an accrual basis for 
the effects of hedged transactions and the hedging instrument in the income statement. the 
market value of forward contracts arising from the valuation of forward contracts at the bal-
ance sheet date after deduction of deferred taxes is reported in equity in the balance sheet as a 
reserve according to ias 39. the reserve will be reversed to income in line with future proceeds 
generated in the relevant financial year.
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LonG-teRM eMPLoyee beneFits
Defined benefit plans
defined benefit plans apply to pension commitments in austria and Germany. 

employees whose employment contract is governed by austrian law and whose employment 
status started before 1 January 2003 are entitled to a severance payment if their contract is 
terminated by the employer or if they leave the company early for good cause, provided that 
their employment lasted for three years without interruptions. in addition, if their employment 
lasted for at least ten years, they are entitled to a severance payment upon any kind of termi-
nation of employment when they have reached the statutory pensionable age. the amount 
of the severance payment depends on the amount of the remuneration paid at the time of 
termination and the length of service. in addition, collective bargaining agreements provide 
for anniversary bonuses to be paid mainly to employees of austrian and slovenian companies 
depending on their years of service. 

Provisions for pensions and other post-retirement benefits as well as for severance payments 
and anniversary bonuses are valued using the projected unit credit method. Under this method 
anticipated benefits are distributed over the working lifespan of the employees until retirement. 
anticipated future salary increases are taken into account. the amounts of the provisions are 
determined on the basis of an actuarial opinion prepared by an actuary as of the balance 
sheet date.

actuarial gains and losses are recognised directly in equity if they relate to provisions for pen- 
sions and other post-retirement benefits or for severance payments and in the income statement 
if they relate to provisions for anniversary bonuses. 

Defined contribution plans
defined contribution plans have been introduced at various group companies on the basis 
of statutory obligations. in addition, individual pension agreements have been entered into. 
contributions to such defined contribution plans are recognised as expenses in the period for 
which they are paid. 

otHeR PRovisions
other provisions were formed to reflect the level of uncertain liabilities, recognising the amount 
associated with the highest level of probability of occurrence.

incoMe tax
tax receivables and tax liabilities are offset when they relate to the same tax authority and the 
company has a right to offset the items.

deferred tax is calculated according to the liability method, using the tax rate that will be ap-
plicable during the period in which the realisation of the deferred tax is expected to take place. 

according to the liability method, deferred tax is reported on temporary differences between 
the amounts recognised under ifrs and those recognised in the tax balance sheet as well as on 
tax-loss carry forwards. temporary differences are reported whenever they give rise to deferred 
tax liabilities. deferred tax assets are only recognised if it is probable that the relevant tax bene-
fits will actually be realised.
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deferred tax is calculated using the tax rate expected to apply at the balance sheet date when 
the temporary differences reverse. as a rule, all changes in deferred taxes result in deferred tax 
expense and/or gain. deferred taxes on items directly reported in equity are directly recognised 
in equity.

RecoGnition oF Revenues anD exPenses
revenues arising from the provision of goods and services are realised when all major risks and 
opportunities arising from the delivered object have been transferred to the buyer. revenues 
from the provision of services refer to short-term services which are recognised when the  
service is rendered. 

operating expenses are recognised when the service is rendered or a delivery is received, or at 
the time the expenses are incurred.

stock oPtion PRoGRaMMe
PaLfinGer aG operates a stock option programme in the form of an equity-settled plan for 
members of the Management board. each stock option may be exercised in exchange for four 
shares. the objective of the programme is to link the amount of remuneration directly to long-
term operating performance. thus management should be more willing to align its objectives 
with those of the shareholders of the company and have a share in the success of the company.

in order to be eligible to exercise stock options, a participant in the plan must have been in 
uninterrupted employment with the company or a company forming part of the PaLfinGer 
Group not only at the time of exercise but also during a period of at least three years preceding 
the time of exercise. furthermore, the average ebt ratio (ratio of earnings before taxes to rev-
enues) as reported in the consolidated financial statements of PaLfinGer aG must have been 
at least five percent for each of the three balance sheet dates preceding the date the option is 
exercised.

the maximum number of shares available for subscription is equivalent to the number of 
options issued. if the ebt ratio is less than five percent, no options may be exercised and there 
is no entitlement to subscription. if the ebt ratio is five percent, the entitled person enjoys 
the right to exercise 25 percent of his or her stock options at the relevant exercise date. if the 
ebt ratio exceeds five percent, the number of stock options to be exercised by a person at the 
relevant exercise date rises in linear progression.

wolfgang anzengruber’s resignation from the Management board as of the end of august 2008 
led to the lapse of 10,000 stock options. 

with exercise notice of 10 april 2008, eduard schreiner exercised his options and was granted 
24,000 shares from PaLfinGer aG’s holding of own shares at a subscription price of eUr 3.82 
per share.

with exercise notice of 2 april 2007, wolfgang anzengruber exercised his option and was 
granted 10,000 shares from PaLfinGer aG’s holding of own shares at a subscription price  
of eUr 9.84 per share.
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the average share price during the 2008 financial year was eUr 18.31 (previous year:  
eUr 32.82) per share.

Number of stock options 2008 2007

at 1 Jan 28,000 38,000
options exercised 6,000 10,000
options lapsed 10,000 0
at 31 Dec 12,000 28,000

the fair value of the options granted is recognised as staff costs and offset against equity. the fair 
value is determined at the date the option is granted and expensed over a period during which 
the employees acquire the unconditional entitlement to the options granted (vesting period). 
an option-pricing model based on binomial methodology is used to determine the fair value of 
options, taking into account the terms and conditions on which the options were granted. the 
amount, which is to be reported as an expense, is adjusted to take into account the effect of 
anticipated staff turnover in order to reflect the expected actual number of options that may be 
exercised in the future.

Herbert ortner Wolfgang Pilz

number of stock options 6,000 6,000
exercise price in eUr after stock split 5.78 5.78
exercise period within 12 weeks after
    the annual General Meeting 2009 2009
Price of a bermudan option in eUr as of the valuation date * 7.08 7.08
Underlying volatility 28.00% 28.00%
Valuation date 16 april 2004 16 april 2004
Price in eUr at valuation date after stock split 6.93 6.93
* valuation model used: binomial options pricing-model 

non-cuRRent assets HeLD FoR saLe anD DiscontinueD oPeRations
if the requirements laid down in ifrs 5 are met, an impairment test is carried out. if necessary, 
the assets are written down to the realisable amount less costs to sell and are then no longer 
depreciated until the date of sale.

Profits or losses from discontinued operations are recognised in the period in which they arise 
and reported separately in the income statement as discontinued operations. the income state-
ment of the previous period is adjusted accordingly.

use oF estiMates
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates and 
assumptions, which may influence the reported values of assets, liabilities, and financial obli-
gations at the balance sheet date, as well as income and expenses of the financial year. actual 
results may differ from these estimates. the true and fair view principle is fully applied in the use 
of all estimates.
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the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the balance sheet date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carry-
ing amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed in the following.

Impairment of non-financial assets
the impairment tests performed by PaLfinGer regarding goodwill and intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives are based on calculations of the value in use for the purpose of which a 
discounted cash flow model was applied. the recoverable amount strongly depends on the dis-
count rates used under the discounted cash flow model and the expected future cash inflows. 

further details on the impairment of non-financial assets are presented in note 1, intangible 
assets.

Deferred tax assets
deferred tax assets are reported for all unused tax-loss carry forwards in the amount of taxable 
income probably available so that the loss carry forwards may actually be used. for the purpose 
of determining the amount of the deferred tax asset that may be capitalised, material judgments 
by the management on the anticipated time of occurrence and the amount of the future taxable 
income as well as on the future tax planning strategies are required. 

PaLfinGer reported as assets tax-loss carry forwards in the amount of teUr 35,826 (previous 
year: teUr 20,402). these carry forwards related to subsidiaries with a history of losses. Loss carry 
forwards of teUr 19,867 (previous year: teUr 15,561) are not subject to expiry and cannot be 
offset against taxable income of other Group companies.

further details on deferred taxes are disclosed in note 5, deferred taxes. 

Pensions, severance payments, and anniversary bonuses  
the expenses for defined benefit plans and statutory obligations upon termination of employ-
ment and periods of employment entitling employees to anniversary bonuses are determined 
on the basis of actuarial calculations. the actuarial assessment is based on assumptions on 
discount rates, expected income from plan assets, future increases in wages and salaries, mor-
tality, and future increases in pension payments. at every reporting day, these assumptions are 
reviewed. for the purpose of determining the adequate discount rate, management uses long-
term market interest rates. the mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for 
the respective countries. 

the future increases in wages and salaries as well as pension payments are based on the anti-
cipated future inflation rates for the respective countries. 

further details on the assumptions used are presented in note 21, non-current provisions. 
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Useful lives of property, plant, and equipment
in particular the economic useful life of technical plants is influenced by the production system 
and capacity utilisation. Given the capacity utilisation achieved, it has not been required to 
report changes in shift systems and capacity utilisation so far.

Development expenditure
development expenses are capitalised in accordance with the accounting and valuation method 
presented. the initial capitalisation of these costs is based on the management’s assessment that 
the development’s feasibility from a technical and economic point of view is proven. this is usu-
ally the case when a product development project has reached a specific milestone of an existing 
project management model. for the purpose of determining the amount to be capitalised man-
agement makes assumptions on the amount of the expected future cash flows from the project, 
the discount rates to be applied, and the time period in which the expected future benefits are to 
be received. at 31 december 2008 the carrying amount of the capitalised development expend-
iture was teUr 2,111 (previous year: teUr 0) and included primarily development services in the 
raiLwaY business as well as in the newly acquired access platform area. 

Provisions for guarantee and warranty expenses
when forming provisions for guarantee and warranty expenses, guarantee and warranty ob-
ligations are taken into consideration using a standardised method. this method is influenced 
considerably by the time of occurrence of the warranty claim, specific product replacement 
campaigns, refund quotas of suppliers, developments of the revenue subject to warranty, and 
assumptions of gross profit margins on the basis of the implemented warranty process. 

in the 2008 financial year the provisions for guarantee and warranty expenses amounted to 
teUr 13,535 (previous year: teUr 11,432).

Measurement of receivables
besides standardised measurement of receivables on the basis of experience regarding days 
overdue and country risk, the probability of receiving payment is taken into consideration by 
means of specific bad-debt allowances. in doing so, primarily previous experience with the re-
spective customers, their creditworthiness, and available collateral, if any, is taken into account. 

in the 2008 financial year bad-debt allowances in the amount of teUr 5,005 (previous year: 
teUr 3,649) were reported.

Measurement of inventories
a standardised obsoleteness measurement method was implemented in order to allow for 
the risk of obsoleteness. this method does not only consider actual and planned consumption 
but also minimum inventories, determinations of days stock on hand, and alternative uses of 
materials. 
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caPitaL contRoL
as far as net debt is concerned the capital management of PaLfinGer is to a large extent con-
trolled centrally by corporate treasury.

the objectives include guaranteed liquidity in support of business operations, an efficient use 
of banking, and financial services and limiting financial risks while optimising revenue and 
costs. central synergy effects and local opportunities are taken into consideration as well. 

PaLfinGer controls its capital structure and makes adjustments taking into consideration the 
change in economic framework conditions. in order to maintain this capital structure, a con- 
sistent dividend policy is pursued which is based on the consolidated net profit for the year  
after minority interests. as a guideline a distribution rate of approximately one third is assumed. 

in the financial year under review, long-term credit lines were agreed with several banking  
partners in order to fund investments in existing sites as well as acquisitions. when agreeing on 
these credit lines, special attention was paid to their long-term availability. the aim of these credit 
limits is to guarantee a flexible utilisation and repayment of the loans. their long-term nature 
guarantees that funds may also be borrowed at pre-defined terms and conditions in the future. 

PaLfinGer monitors its capital using the gearing ratio, which corresponds to the ratio of net 
debt and total equity. net debt includes non-current and current financial assets and the cash 
holdings as well as non-current and current financial liabilities. equity corresponds to the equity 
reported according to ifrs. the investments and acquisitions made during the year caused the 
gearing ratio to increase from 26.7 percent in 2007 to 53.8 percent in 2008.

cHanGes in accountinG anD vaLuation MetHoDs 
the following new ifric interpretations and ifrs and the following revised ias, whose application 
was mandatory for the first time in the financial year 2008, as well as the application of ifrs 8 
ahead of time, resulted in changes in the consolidated financial statements of PaLfinGer aG 
and/or clarifications of facts relevant for the Group. these changes did not have any material 
impact on the Group’s assets, finances, and earnings during this or previous reporting periods. 
no material changes in accounting and valuation methods other than those mentioned herein 
were made.

in accordance with the management approach under iFRs 8 operating segments, financials 
were presented for the three segments cranes, hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices, and  
VentUres. the segment VentUres was added to the previous secondary segmentation. the 
disclosures for these segments are based on the information that is used internally by manage-
ment in evaluating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources. the values of 
the previous periods were modified accordingly. 
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iFRic 11 iFRs 2 – Group and treasury share transactions, iFRic 12 – service concession 
agreements, and iFRic 14 ias 19 – the Limit on a Defined benefit asset, Minimum 
Funding Requirements and their interaction do not have any effect on PaLfinGer.

the following ifric interpretations and ifrs that might be of relevance for PaLfinGer but 
whose application is not mandatory were not applied ahead of time. PaLfinGer does not 
expect the first application of these standards and interpretations in the future to have any 
material impact on the Group’s financial position and financial performance. 

in January 2008 the iasb issued an amendment to iFRs 2 share-based Payment. the revised 
standard clarifies that vesting conditions are service conditions and performance conditions 
only. it also specifies that all cancellations, whether by the entity or by other parties, should 
receive the same accounting treatment. the application of this revised standard is mandatory 
for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

the revised version of ias 1 Presentation of Financial statements, which was issued by the 
iasb in september 2007 and is mandatory for all financial years starting on or after 1 January 
2009, is aimed at improving users’ ability to analyse and compare the information given in the 
financial statements.

in March 2007 the iasb issued a revised version of ias 23 borrowing costs, which is com-
pulsory for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. according to this standard 
borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of 
a qualifying asset should be capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. the current option of 
immediately recognising borrowing costs as an expense will be discontinued.

in June 2007 the ifric published iFRic 13 customer Loyalty Programmes. according to this 
interpretation loyalty award credits granted to customers are to be accounted for as a separate 
component of the sales transaction in the course of which they were granted. Part of the fair 
value of the consideration received is allocated to the entitlement to the loyalty award and 
reported as deferred revenue. 

the following new ifric interpretations and ifrs and the following revised ias that might be 
of relevance for PaLfinGer have been issued but not yet endorsed by the european commis-
sion. for this reason, they are not relevant for these consolidated financial statements. for the 
time being, PaLfinGer does not expect the application of these revised standards and inter-
pretations, provided that they are endorsed by the eU in that form, to have any material impact 
on PaLfinGer’s financial position and financial performance.
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in July 2008 the iasb issued an amendment to ias 39 eligible Hedged items – amendment 
to ias 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement. this amendment spe-
cifies the application of the basic principles of hedge accounting in two particular situations – 
the designation of inflation risks in a financial hedged item and the designation of a one-sided 
risk in a hedged item. this amendment will have to be applied mandatorily with retrospective 
effect to all financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

in May 2008 the iasb issued the first collective standard improvements to iFRs to imple-
ment minor changes in existing standards. the standard is subdivided into two sections and 
contains changes to 20 ifrs. the first section provides changes that could affect presentation, 
recognition or measurement. in the second section changes in wording or editorial corrections 
are listed. Unless otherwise indicated in the respective standard, the changes will have to be 
applied starting from financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

in february 2008 the iasb issued a revised standard regarding ias 32 Financial instruments: 
Presentation and ias 1 Presentation of Financial statements – Puttable Financial  
instruments and obligations arising on Liquidation. the changes concern primarily the 
classification of certain types of financial instruments as equity or liabilities. furthermore, the 
revised standard calls for additional disclosure in the notes regarding the financial instruments 
concerned. the application of the changes is mandatory for financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2009.

in January 2008 the iasb issued a revised version of iFRs 3 business combinations and  
ias 27 consolidated and separate Financial statements. the major change concerns the 
recognition of acquisitions of less than 100 percent of the shares in a company. the option to 
recognise the goodwill from an acquisition under the full goodwill method, i.e. including the 
amount of the share allocable to the minority shareholders. in addition, acquisitions and/or 
partial sales of shares without loss of control are to be reported in the balance sheet as transac-
tions between shareholders. the full incidental acquisition costs are to be reported as expenses. 
the revised standards have to be applied to business combinations taking place in financial 
years beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
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notes to tHe consoLiDateD baLance sHeet
(1) intangible assets
the changes in intangible assets were as follows:

tEuR Goodwill

Intangible assets 

with indefinite 

useful lives

Development 

expenditure

Brands, 

customer 

base, and 

orders on hand 

other 

intangible assets Prepayments total

acquisition cost
at 1 Jan 2007 16,286 0 0 16,741 10,644 445 44,116
change in scope of consolidation 14,042 5,840 0 6,047 626 10 26,565
additions 0 0 0 0 1,595 0 1,595
additional capitalisation 0 0 0 3,166 0 0 3,166
disposals 0 0 0 0 (1,523) (432) (1,955)
reclassifications 0 0 0 0 173 1 174
foreign currency translation (11) 0 0 (796) 5 0 (802)
at 31 Dec 2007 30,317 5,840 0 25,158 11,520 24 72,859

 
at 1 Jan 2008 30,317 5,840 0 25,158 11,520 24 72,859
change in scope of consolidation 11,531 2,575 1,346 3,828 1,154 0 20,434
additions 0 0 765 0 1,396 21 2,182
disposals 0 0 0 0 (2,682) 0 (2,682)
reclassifications 0 0 0 0 286 (10) 276
foreign currency translation 2 (190) 0 (4,481) (211) 0 (4,880)
at 31 Dec 2008 41,850 8,225 2,111 24,505 11,463 35 88,189
        
accumulated amortisation and impairment  
at 1 Jan 2007 0 0 0 4,308 8,388 0 12,696
change in scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 566 0 566
amortisation 0 0 0 1,832 1,249 0 3,081
disposals 0 0 0 0 (1,523) 0 (1,523)
reclassifications 0 0 0 0 35 0 35
foreign currency translation 0 0 0 (51) (1) 0 (52)
at 31 Dec 2007 0 0 0 6,089 8,714 0 14,803

 
at 1 Jan 2008 0 0 0 6,089 8,714 0 14,803
change in scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 180 0 180
amortisation 0 0 0 3,761 1,276 0 5,037
impairment 0 0 0 5,998 0 0 5,998
disposals 0 0 0 0 (2,215) 0 (2,215)
reclassifications 0 0 0 0 89 0 89
foreign currency translation 0 0 0 (2,510) (111) 0 (2,621)
at 31 Dec 2008 0 0 0 13,338 7,933 0 21,271

 
carrying amounts at 31 Dec 2007 30,317 5,840 0 19,069 2,806 24 58,056
carrying amounts at 31 Dec 2008 41,850 8,225 2,111 11,167 3,530 35 66,918
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Goodwill
reported goodwill resulting from business combinations pertains to the following cash- 
generating units:

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

cranes 1,321 1,319
hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices 40,529 28,998
total 41,850 30,317

CRANEs
the recoverable amount of the cranes cash-generating unit was determined by calculating a 
value in use on the basis of an estimate of the future cash flows. cash flow projections were 
based on the financial budgets prepared by management for a period of three years. the 
underlying amounts were lower than the financial budgets approved by Group management 
and therefore take into account an adequate deduction for risk in the cash flows. the pre-tax 
discount rate, applied to the future cash flows, was 15.4 percent. the cash flows after this 
three-year period were extrapolated without a growth rate.

the break-even interest rate of the cranes cash-generating unit is at 17.5 percent.

Management is of the opinion that no potential change, deemed reasonably possible, in the 
basic assumptions made to determine the value in use of the cranes cash-generating unit 
could result in a significantly higher carrying amount of the cash-generating unit than its re-
coverable amount. 

HyDRAuLIC systEMs & sERvICEs
the recoverable amount of the hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices cash-generating unit was 
also determined by calculating a value in use on the basis of an estimate of the future cash 
flows, made by management for a period of three years according to the principles mentioned 
above. the pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections was 6.7 percent.

when performing the annual impairment test on the basis of medium-term corporate planning 
by taking into account discounts for risks, no need for impairment was determined. the break-
even interest rate of the hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices cash-generating unit is 7.9 percent.

the assumptions underlying the calculation of the values in use of the two cash-generating 
units contain estimation uncertainties. Gross profit margins are determined by using those 
amounts that are integrated into the budgets based on the experience of the current year. in 
the hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices cash-generating unit the effectiveness of turnaround 
projects must be taken into consideration. discount rates reflect the expected returns allo-
cated to the segments, based on the wacc of the previous year and/or the total interest yield 
expectations of the Group. assumptions on the development of the market are necessary 
since especially in 2008 management had to take into account the uncertain overall economic 
development.
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Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
in the course of the preliminary purchase price allocation for omaha standard, inc. and ftec, inc.  
an amount of teUr 2,575 was capitalised for the dealer network and the oMaha brand  
(cranes segment). following the final purchase price allocation of the Mbb Group, an amount 
of teUr 5,840 was capitalised for the Mbb brand in 2007 (hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices 
segment).

Development expenditure
in the 2008 financial year PaLfinGer capitalised development expenditure in the amount of 
teUr 765 (previous year: teUr 0) as internally generated intangible assets. in addition,  
teUr 1,346 in product developments that can be capitalised were identified in the course  
of the preliminary purchase price allocation of the wUMaG eLeVant unit.

in the 2008 financial year research and development expenses amounted to teUr 11,560 
(previous year: teUr 13,692), corresponding to 1.5 percent (previous year: 2.0 percent) of total 
revenues.

Brands, customer base, and orders on hand
in the course of the preliminary allocation of the purchase price for the wUMaG eLeVant unit 
as well as for omaha standard, inc. and ftec, inc. teUr 3,828 were capitalised in orders on 
hand, customer base, and the wUMaG and eLeVant brands.

in the course of the final purchase price allocation for the Mbb Group in 2007, an amount of 
teUr 6,047 was capitalised for the customer base and know-how. in 2008 an impairment loss 
in the amount of teUr 1,536 was recognised for the customer base and the know-how.

the customer base of ratcliff Palfinger Ltd., Great britain, was tested for impairment, and – 
due to the lower value in use – an impairment loss of teUr 4,462 was recognised. the lower 
value in use is based on a decline in spare parts revenues as a consequence of the economic 
development in Great britain of new business and changes in the product mix of new orders. 
it is also expected that price increases in external purchases will no longer be passed on to 
customers to the same extent in order to remain competitive.

Other intangible assets
investment in other intangible assets amounted to teUr 1,396 (previous year: teUr 1,595) for 
concessions, patents, and licences.
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(2) Property, plant, and equipment
changes in property, plant, and equipment were as follows:

tEuR Land and buildings undeveloped land

Plant and 

machinery

other plant,  

fixtures, fittings, 

and equipment

Prepayments and 

assets under  

construction total

acquisition cost  
at 1 Jan 2007 80,615 1,410 62,616 22,254 10,468 177,363
change in scope of consolidation 920 0 4,667 2,380 16 7,983
additions 12,139 2,020 15,612 10,673 21,000 61,444
additional capitalisation 0 0 108 26 0 134
Government grants (417) 0 (316) 0 0 (733)
disposals (1,409) 0 (6,733) (4,936) (721) (13,799)
reclassifications 4,007 0 9,951 826 (14,958) (174)
reclassifications to held for sale (3,499) 0 0 0 0 (3,499)
foreign currency translation 446 17 77 (14) 14 540
at 31 Dec 2007 92,802 3,447 85,982 31,209 15,819 229,259
       
at 1 Jan 2008 92,802 3,447 85,982 31,209 15,819 229,259
change in scope of consolidation 18,147 0 9,927 2,044 295 30,413
additions 17,544 796 15,231 5,630 7,314 46,515
Government grants 0 0 (440) (151) (39) (630)
disposals (257) (254) (3,557) (1,253) (1) (5,322)
reclassifications 8,097 (1,090) 6,084 591 (15,492) (1,810)
foreign currency translation (2,836) (49) (2,976) (450) (151) (6,462)
at 31 Dec 2008 133,497 2,850 110,251 37,620 7,745 291,963
       
accumulated depreciation and impairment  
at 1 Jan 2007 27,500 0 36,794 14,939 0 79,233
change in scope of consolidation 98 0 2,559 1,548 0 4,205
depreciation 2,826 0 6,869 2,862 0 12,557
write-ups (1,755) 0 0 0 0 (1,755)
additional capitalisation 0 0 116 28 0 144
disposals (1,011) 0 (6,548) (4,739) 0 (12,298)
reclassifications (328) 0 30 263 0 (35)
reclassifications to held for sale (2,886) 0 0 0 0 (2,886)
foreign currency translation 162 0 (28) (30) 0 104
at 31 Dec 2007 24,606 0 39,792 14,871 0 79,269

 
at 1 Jan 2008 24,606 0 39,792 14,871 0 79,269
change in scope of consolidation 1,141 0 3,091 646 0 4,878
depreciation 3,280 0 10,108 3,768 0 17,156
impairment 0 0 113 0 0 113
disposals (160) 0 (2,329) (986) 0 (3,475)
reclassifications (402) 0 100 (200) 0 (502)
foreign currency translation (1,516) 0 (1,882) (300) 0 (3,698)
at 31 Dec 2008 26,949 0 48,993 17,799 0 93,741

 
carrying amounts at 31 Dec 2007 68,196 3,447 46,190 16,338 15,819 149,990
carrying amounts at 31 Dec 2008 106,548 2,850 61,258 19,821 7,747 198,224
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the carrying amounts reported represent carrying amounts depreciated through use, which are 
acquisition costs minus accumulated depreciation. the net value of property, plant, and equip-
ment in the amount of teUr 198,224 (previous year: teUr 149,990) rose by teUr 48,234 or 
32.16 percent compared to 2007.

in the 2008 financial year investment in property, plant, and equipment totalled teUr 46,515 
(previous year: teUr 61,444). additions resulted from rationalisation and expansion invest-
ments made at production sites.

according to ias 20, government grants in the amount of teUr 630 (previous year: teUr 733) 
were presented as reductions of cost in the 2008 financial year. Government grants are subject 
to certain obligations, which are currently fulfilled.

Land and buildings reflected the real estate values of developed properties amounting to  
teUr 13,501 (previous year: teUr 8,314).

Prepayments and assets under construction were reported at cost and represented assets which 
were under construction as of the balance sheet date, totalling teUr 7,719 (previous year: 
teUr 15,782).

(3) investment property
investment property held by the Group was as follows:

tEuR 2008 2007

acquisition cost  
at 1 Jan 0 0
reclassifications 2,146 0
at 31 Dec 2,146 0

 
accumulated depreciation and impairment  
at 1 Jan 0 0
depreciation 66 0
impairment 300 0
reclassifications 645 0
at 31 Dec 1,011 0
   
carrying amounts at 31 Dec 1,135 0

of the entire investment property, the business site at rijeka, croatia, was leased to a related party.

following an impairment test, the residential building of the weng property in austria was im-
paired in the amount of teUr 300. the earning rate of the residential building was calculated 
on the basis of an expert opinion, prepared internally, by putting the full occupancy rental rate 
in proportion to the existing long-standing leases.

as of 31 december 2008 the fair value of investment property, determined by expert opinions 
prepared internally, amounted to teUr 1,591 (previous year: teUr 0).
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rental income from the lease of investment property amounted to teUr 138 (previous year: 
teUr 0), and directly attributable operating expenses were teUr 72 (previous year: teUr 0).

(4) investments in associated companies
the names of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method are stated in the attached statement of investments.

tEuR 2008 2007

at 1 Jan 11,951 8,054
additions 124 0
share in the net profit or loss for the period 4,666 5,755
dividends (2,963) (1,564)
foreign currency translation (145) (45)
change in consolidation method 0 (249)
at 31 Dec 13,633 11,951

star Palfinger equipment india Pvt. Ltd., india, was founded on 15 May 2008. due to local 
statutory regulations, the local financial statements will be prepared as of 31 March.

with the acquisition of the remaining 80 percent in Palfinger proizvodna tehnologija  
hrvatska d.o.o., croatia, during the 2007 financial year, full consolidation replaced consolida-
tion using the equity method. in accordance with ifrs 3 a revaluation of net assets was made 
and, on this basis, the goodwill for this transaction was determined separately.

the shares in the net profit or loss for the period of Palfinger france s.a., france, and Palfinger 
southern africa (Pty) Ltd., south africa, are preliminary results. any differences between prelimi-
nary results and actual results will be adjusted in the consolidated income statement for 2009.

the tables below contain a summarised schedule of the financials for the associated companies 
included according to the equity method. in each case the information given refers to 100 percent 
and not the share held by PaLfinGer in the associated companies.

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

non-current assets 4,900 4,478
current assets 56,174 47,585
non-current liabilities 746 787
current liabilities 32,098 26,101

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

revenue 128,304 105,282
Profit after income tax 9,892 7,423
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(5) Deferred taxes
deferred taxes comprised the following:

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

Deferred tax assets  
non-current assets  
 intangible assets 104 233
 Property, plant, and equipment 341 212
 non-current financial assets 6,033 5,180
 other non-current assets 107 0

6,585 5,625
current assets  
 inventories 1,486 1,113
 trade receivables 312 0
 other current assets 505 1,753

2,303 2,866
non-current liabilities  
 non-current financial liabilities 587 650
 non-current provisions 3,395 4,890
 other non-current liabilities 27 0

4,009 5,540
current liabilities  
 current financial liabilities 497 974
 current provisions 2,268 1,988
 trade payables and other current liabilities 367 306
 3,132 3,268

16,029 17,299
Deferred tax liabilities  
 non-current assets  
 intangible assets (6,535) (6,897)
 Property, plant, and equipment (5,707) (3,508)
 investment property (21) 0

(12,263) (10,405)
current assets  
 inventories (93) (205)
 trade receivables (41) 0
 other current assets (364) (544)

(498) (749)
non-current liabilities  
 non-current financial liabilities (370) (474)
 non-current provisions (141) (9)

(511) (483)
current liabilities  
 current financial liabilities (16) (269)
 current provisions (401) (830)
 trade payables and other current liabilities (5) 0
 (422) (1,099)

(13,694) (12,736)

Deferred tax assets on loss carry forwards 9,078 5,985

Deferred taxes 11,413 10,548
thereof  
 deferred tax assets 21,557 19,663
 deferred tax liabilities (10,144) (9,115)
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deferred tax assets amounted to teUr 21,557 (previous year: teUr 19,663). teUr 9,078  
(previous year: teUr 5,985) of this amount were deferred tax assets recognised on tax-loss car-
ry forwards, and deferred taxes directly recognised in equity amounted to teUr 341 (previous 
year: teUr 1,251).

deferred tax liabilities in the amount of teUr 10,144 (previous year: teUr 9,115) included 
teUr 117 (previous year: teUr 137) of deferred taxes directly recognised in equity.

the following table presents deferred taxes broken down by country:

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

austria 8,194 7,884
brazil 1,072 1,547
bulgaria 116 104
canada 836 590
china 92 50
croatia 169 150
france 396 1,603
Germany (148) 53
Great britain (717) (2,614)
italy 8 15
singapore (2) 0
slovenia 361 420
Usa 1,036 746
total 11,413 10,548

tax-loss carry forwards comprised the following:

Non-capitalised loss carry forwards Capitalised loss carry forwards

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

Loss carry forwards subject to expiry  
 within two years 0 0 0 668
 within five years 0 867 1,507 0
 in more than five years 0 0 14,452 4,173
Loss carry forwards not
     subject to expiry 9,151 11,748 19,867 15,561
total 9,151 12,615 35,826 20,402

in the 2008 financial year an impairment loss in the amount of teUr 2,250 (previous year: 
teUr 0) was recognised on deferred taxes on loss carry forwards.
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(6) non-current financial assets
non-current financial assets comprised the following:

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

Loans 336 0
other interests 2 0
securities 1,022 550
total 1,360 550

Loans in the amount of teUr 336 (previous year: teUr 0) related to the long-term portion of a 
loan granted to a related party of teUr 1,759 (previous year: 0 teUr). the loan is collateralised 
by a 66.67-percent interest of Palfinger southern africa (Pty) Ltd., south africa.

securities comprise shares in investment funds and bonds. the performance of securities is 
illustrated in note 17, Valuation reserves pursuant to ias 39.

(7) other non-current assets
other non-current assets were the following:

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

employer’s pension liability insurance contributions 2,231 2,141
deferred expenses 22 17
Miscellaneous other non-current assets 25 24
total 2,278 2,182

employer’s pension liability insurance contributions pertain to repurchase rights for life insur-
ance policies which do not meet the offsetting criteria in accordance with ias 19.

(8) inventories
inventories comprise the following:

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

Materials and production supplies 87,751 59,123
work in progress 52,117 30,687
finished goods and goods for resale 44,563 61,769
Prepayments 1,181 315
total 185,612 151,894

Materials and production supplies were valued at the moving average cost method. besides 
direct materials and manufacturing costs, work in progress and finished goods also contain ap-
propriate shares of materials and manufacturing overheads as well as administrative expenses 
relating to manufacturing.
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(9) trade receivables
trade receivables include receivables from associated companies in the amount of teUr 9,949 
(previous year: teUr 5,658).

based on experience, allowances for doubtful debts were made in the amount of teUr 5,005 
(previous year: teUr 3,649) to take into account insolvency risks. these allowances were the 
following:

specific bad-debt allowances

Bad-debt allowances calculated  

on a lump-sum basis

tEuR 2008 2007 2008 2007

at 1 Jan 3,127 3,264 522 478
change in scope of consolidation 32 264 122 13
allocation 1,032 1,913 1,459 160
Use (1,681) (371) 0 0
reversal (299) (1,679) (279) (137)
foreign currency translation 606 (264) 364 8
at 31 Dec 2,817 3,127 2,188 522

(10) other current assets
other current assets are illustrated in the following table:

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

receivables from derivative financial instruments 144 917
receivables relating to social security and other taxes 10,781 7,515
other receivables 4,951 3,065
deferred expenses 1,479 1,957
securities 69 82
total 17,424 13,536

(11) cash and cash equivalents
cash in hand and cash at bank are included in the item funds recognised in the consolidated 
cash flow statement.

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

cash in hand 468 860
cash at bank 8,628 1,699
total 9,096 2,559

(12) non-current assets held for sale
as of 15 July 2008 the company buildings located on the weng property, austria, were sold 
to a related party. the residential building was reclassified as investment property in the third 
quarter 2008.
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(13) share capital
the company’s share capital is divided into 35,730,000 (previous year: 37,135,000) no-par-
value shares. all shares issued have been paid up in full.

in the 2007 financial year the share capital of PaLfinGer aG was increased by teUr 18,567 
from previously teUr 18,568 to teUr 37,135 by means of a conversion of the corresponding 
partial amount of the appropriated additional paid-in capital recorded in the financial state-
ments as of 31 december 2006 pursuant to the provisions of the (austrian) act on capital 
adjustments (kapitalberichtigungsgesetz). according to the resolution passed at the annual 
General Meeting of 28 March 2007 no additional no-par-value bearer shares were issued.

as resolved by the annual General Meeting of 26 March 2008, the simplified decrease of the 
issued share capital of PaLfinGer aG pursuant to sec. 192 para. 3 (2) and sec. 192 para. 4 of 
the (austrian) companies act (aktG) by teUr 1,405, from teUr 37,135 to teUr 35,730, by 
cancelling 1,405,000 own shares, was carried out with effect as of 28 May 2008. PaLfinGer 
will retain the remaining own shares and use them for purposes of stock option programmes.

as of 29 June 2007 the four-for-one stock split resolved upon at the annual General Meeting 
of 28 March 2007 was implemented, resulting in an increase in no-par-value shares from pre-
viously 9,283,750 to 37,135,000.

(14) additional paid-in capital
in the 2008 financial year additional paid-in capital decreased from teUr 35,190 to  
teUr 30,137 as a result of the simplified capital decrease.

(15) treasury stock
as of 31 december 2008 holdings of treasury stock amounted to 376,000 shares (previous 
year: 1,805,000 shares). this change results from the simplified capital decrease and the trans-
fer of shares associated with the approved stock option programme.

shares 2008 2007

at 1 Jan 1,805,000 461,411
exercise of stock option (24,000) (10,000)
compensation of minority shareholder 0 (161)
simplified capital decrease (1,405,000) 0

376,000 451,250

4-for-1 stock split as of 29 June 2007  1,805,000
at 31 Dec 376,000 1,805,000
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(16) Retained earnings
retained earnings comprise actuarial gains and losses in accordance with ias 19, reserves for 
stock options pursuant to ifrs 2, the consolidated net profit for the period and accumulated 
results from previous years.

Actuarial gains and losses in accordance with IAS 19
actuarial gains and losses in accordance with ias 19 are directly recognised in equity to the full 
extent in the period in which they are incurred.

tEuR 2008 2007

at 1 Jan (2,965) (782)
actuarial gains (+)/losses (–) 2,876 (2,924)
deferred taxes thereon (728) 741
at 31 Dec (817) (2,965)

Reserve pursuant to IFRS 2
the fair value of the options granted within the framework of the stock option programme is 
recognised as staff costs over the vesting period. the reserve pursuant to ifrs 2 reflects accu-
mulated staff costs up to 31 december 2008. when the stock options are exercised or expire, 
they will be set off against retained earnings. 

the reserve pursuant to ifrs 2 is as follows:

tEuR 2008 2007

at 1 Jan 143 184
allocation 33 57
Use (10) (98)
reversal (83) 0
at 31 Dec 83 143

Consolidated net profit for the period
the Group generated a net profit for the 2008 financial year in the amount of teUr 43,853 
(previous year: teUr 73,978).

Earnings per share
Pursuant to ias 33 earnings per share are calculated by dividing the consolidated net profit for 
the period by the weighted average number of shares outstanding. in the 2008 financial year 
the weighted average number of outstanding shares amounted to 35,353,297 shares (previous 
year: 35,319,617 shares).

on the basis of the consolidated net profit for the period in the amount of teUr 43,853 (previ-
ous year: teUr 73,978) undiluted earnings per share were eUr 1.24 (previous year: eUr 2.09). 
due to the low dilutive effect of the stock option programme, diluted earnings per share were 
identical with undiluted earnings per share.

Dividend per share
the dividend distribution from the consolidated net profit for the year that will be proposed 
to the annual General Meeting on 25 March 2009 is eUr 0.39 (previous year: eUr 0.70) per 
share or teUr 13,788 (previous year: teUr 24,731). 
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(17) valuation reserves pursuant to ias 39
as of 31 december 2008 the reserve pursuant to ias 39 stood at teUr – 124 (previous year: 
teUr 519). in the 2008 financial year changes in the value of financial instruments that have 
been taken directly to equity resulted in a decrease of equity by teUr – 643.

changes in the value of derivative financial instruments to be used for hedging of future cash 
flows are taken directly to equity and set off against the cash flow hedging reserve and re-
ported in the statement of changes in equity under reserves pursuant to ias 39. the cash flow 
hedging reserve is released to income when the hedged item is settled. 

changes in the value of securities classified as available for sale taken directly to equity are set 
off against the reserve for securities classified as available for sale. the reserve for securities 
classified as available for sale will be reversed to income either when the assets are sold or if 
the fair value of the assets falls below their cost for an extended period of time.

Cash flow hedge securities classified as available for sale

tEuR 2008 2007 2008 2007

at 1 Jan 519 776 0 0
changes of the fair value 
      taken directly to equity (146) 698 10 0
deferred taxes thereon 49 (179) (3) 0
realised in the income statement (743) (1,035) 0 0
deferred taxes thereon 190 259 0 0
at 31 Dec (131) 519 7 0

(18) Foreign currency translation reserve 
this item contains differences from the foreign currency translation resulting in the course 
of the consolidation of foreign subsidiaries with regard to the closing rates and, in the 2008 
financial year, resulted in a change of the foreign currency translation reserve to teUr – 12,104 
(previous year: teUr – 4,923). this corresponds to a change in the amount of teUr – 7,181.

(19) Minority interests 
this item contains minority interests in the equity of fully consolidated companies and primarily 
includes shareholdings in Palfinger europe Gmbh, ePsiLon kran Gmbh, and Madal Palfinger s.a.

with effect as of 17 october 2008 the five-percent minority share in eLeVant finance Gmbh, 
Germany, was acquired at a price of teUr 50. the remaining 23.4 percent in wUMaG  
MaGeba Gmbh, Germany, was taken over on 12 november 2008 at a purchase price of teUr 345.
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(20) non-current financial liabilities
non-current financial liabilities comprise the following:

tEuR Currency

Average remaining 

time to maturity

Effective 

interest rate 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

Loan  
eUr 2.5 years 3.0% p.a. 22,559 26,139
Usd 3.5 years 7.3% p.a. 5,131 0
brL 3.0 years 14.2% p.a. 5,378 3,539

Finance lease  
eUr 3.3 years 4.1% p.a. 2,511 2,609
Usd 6.3 years 4.4% p.a. 9,340 6,028

total 44,919 38,315

Valuation is performed at amortised cost. Liabilities in foreign currencies were translated at the 
closing rate.

deferred interest expenses are contained in other current liabilities.

the effective interest rate is the average interest burden in percent relating to the average carry-
ing amount in the 2008 financial year, after interest and currency hedging have been taken into 
account. in 2008 this value amounted to 5.2 percent (previous year: 5.2 percent). the fair value of 
non-current financial liabilities was derived from the market information available on the balance 
sheet date and corresponds to the carrying amount.

(21) non-current provisions
the following table shows non-current provisions.

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

Provisions for severance payments 11,000 13,081
Pension provisions 5,092 4,614
anniversary bonus provisions 2,665 2,885
other non-current provisions 3,671 523
total 22,428 21,103

Pension provisions
PaLfinGer is committed by the terms of individual contracts with certain employees to provide 
supplementary retirement pensions payable after their retirement. the amount of these pen-
sions is calculated on the basis of length of service and remuneration at the time of retirement.

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004

defined benefit obligation 5,160 4,675 2,641 3,114 2,769
Plan assets (68) (61) 0 0 0
Pension provisions 5,092 4,614 2,641 3,114 2,769
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tEuR 2008 2007

Defined benefit obligation as of 1 Jan 4,675 2,641
change in basis of consolidation 918 2,691
current service cost 102 85
interest cost 274 117
actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) (472) (69)
benefits paid (337) (790)
Defined benefit obligation as of 31 Dec 5,160 4,675

experience adjustments of pension provisions amounted to teUr 77 (previous year: teUr 78).
 
100 percent of plan assets were composed of employer’s pension liability insurance policies for 
a pension plan in Germany. 

tEuR 2008 2007

Plan assets as of 1 Jan 61 0
change in basis of consolidation 0 61
expected return on plan assets 2 0
actuarial gains (+)/losses (–) on plan assets 0 0
employer contributions 5 0
Plan assets as of 31 Dec 68 61

 
net pension cost resulting from defined benefit plans are comprised as follows:

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

staff cost  
 current service cost (102) (85)
interest income  
 expected return on plan assets 2 0
interest expense  
 interest cost (274) (117)
net pension cost (374) (202)

Valuation was based on the following parameters:
•	 Age	of	retirement:	65	years	(previous	year:	65	years)
•	 Interest	rate:	6.0	percent	p.a.	(previous	year:	5.0	percent	p.a.)
•	 Pension	increase:	1.5	percent	p.a.	(previous	year:	1.5	percent	p.a.)

the calculation of pension provisions was performed on 31 december 2008 using actuarial 
principles and taking into account the calculation rules under ias 19. the obligations are valued 
using the projected unit credit method.
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the calculations in austria are based on the earliest possible pensionable age according to the 
2004 Pension reform ([austrian] budget accompanying act of 2003 [budgetbegleitgesetz 2003]), 
taking into consideration transitional regulations. in the case of women entitled to such benefits, 
the computed pensionable age has been raised in steps corresponding to the (austrian) federal 
constitutional act concerning different age Limits for Male and female citizens covered by 
social security (bundesverfassungsgesetz über unterschiedliche altersgrenzen von männlichen 
und weiblichen sozialversicherten). these bases for calculation were established using austrian 
pension tables aVÖ-2008-P (version for salaried employees).

the calculations in Germany are based on the earliest possible pensionable age according to 
German social security pension insurance, using the mortality tables “richttafeln 2005 G”.

Provision for severance payments
severance payments are one-time settlements required under labour law, payable on termina-
tion of employment by the employer or by mutual agreement or on retirement to employees. 
they are calculated on the basis of the length of service and the amount of remuneration. the 
amount of the provisions for severance payments was calculated in accordance with actuarial 
principles.

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004

defined benefit obligation 11,000 13,081 10,022 9,285 7,709

tEuR 2008 2007

Defined benefit obligation as of 1 Jan 13,081 10,022
current service cost 956 772
interest cost 653 443
actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) (2,404) 2,594
Past service cost 105 0
benefits paid (1,582) (750)
Plan settlements 191 0
Defined benefit obligation as of 31 Dec 11,000 13,081

experience adjustments of provisions for severance payments amounted to teUr – 601  
(previous year: teUr 647).

net cost for severance payments resulting from defined benefit plans are comprised as follows:

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

staff cost  
current service cost (956) (772)
Past service cost (105) 0
settlement gains (–)/losses (+) recognised (101) 0
interest expense  
interest cost (653) (443)
net cost for severance payments (1,815) (1,215)
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Valuation was based on the following parameters:
•	 interest rate: 6.0 percent p.a. (previous year: 5.0 percent p.a.)
•	 salary increases: 4.5 percent p.a. (previous year: 4.5 percent p.a.)
•	 staff turnover discount: 2.0 percent p.a. (previous year: 2.0 percent p.a.)

in the case of employees in austria whose employment commenced after 1 January 2003 this 
obligation is transferred to a contribution-based system. these payments, which are made to 
an external pension fund, are reported as expenses and amount to 1.53 percent of remuneration.

Anniversary bonus provisions
Provisions for anniversary bonuses derived from collective bargaining and/or company agree-
ments were calculated using the same parameters as for the provision for severance payments.

the following table shows anniversary bonus provisions:

tEuR 2008 2007

at 1 Jan 2,885 2,255
allocation 0 602
time value of money 142 100
Use (63) (72)
reversal (299) 0
at 31 Dec 2,665 2,885

Other non-current provisions
the changes in other non-current provisions are shown in the following table:

tEuR 2008 2007

at 1 Jan 523 508
change in scope of consolidation 270 0
allocation 3,085 0
time value of money 16 15
Use (22) 0
reversal 0 0
foreign currency translation (201) 0
at 31 Dec 3,671 523

other non-current provisions mainly include the portion of the purchase price for the acquisi-
tion of omaha standard, inc., Usa, that has not yet fallen due.

(22) other non-current liabilities 
other non-current liabilities primarily relate to severance-type obligations as well as perform-
ance-related claims by employees of foreign Group companies.
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(23) current financial liabilities
current financial liabilities are shown in the following table:

tEuR Currency Effective interest rate 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

overdraft facilities  
eUr 3.3% p.a. 79,094 16,053
Usd 2.5% p.a. 7,685 6,830
cad 4.0% p.a. 1,289 1,585
brL 14.2% p.a. 5,685 6,982

hrk 4.4% p.a. 0 1,349
export loans  

eUr 5.2% p.a. 37,500 10,000
Finance lease

eUr 4.1% p.a. 444 508
Usd 4.4% p.a. 640 291

total 132,337 43,598

(24) current provisions
changes in current provisions are illustrated in the following:

tEuR 2008 2007

at 1 Jan 14,063 16,402
change in scope of consolidation 2,289 506
allocation 7,317 12,853
Use (4,229) (14,249)
reversal (1,052) (1,737)
foreign currency translation 998 288
at 31 Dec 19,386 14,063

current provisions cover primarily provisions for staff liabilities that have not yet fallen due of 
teUr 1,690 (previous year: teUr 1,528), guarantees and warranties of teUr 13,535 (previous 
year: teUr 11,432), as well as provisions for imminent losses in outstanding contracts of  
teUr 401 (previous year: teUr 86).
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(25) trade payables and other current liabilities 
trade payables and other current liabilities are broken down as follows:

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

trade payables 62,320 65,036
Liabilities to associated companies 937 888
Prepaid orders 2,351 2,479
Liabilities on accepted bills of exchange 139 392
Liabilities to employees 16,267 17,841
Liabilities relating to social security and other taxes 9,476 8,733
other liabilities 3,280 3,588
deferred income 715 319
total 95,485 99,276

teUr 825 (previous year: teUr 888) of the liabilities due to associated companies in the 
amount of teUr 937 (previous year: teUr 888) resulted from the provision of goods and services.

Liabilities to employees in the amount of teUr 16,267 (previous year: teUr 17,841) include 
deferrals for unused vacation time, incentive bonuses, and compensatory time off, as well as 
wage and salary expenditures payable.

other liabilities totalling teUr 3,280 (previous year: teUr 3,588) primarily relate to deferrals for 
premiums and performance-related bonuses.
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notes to tHe consoLiDateD incoMe stateMent
(26) Revenue

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

domestic sales revenue 62,406 57,922
export revenue 353,625 390,193
foreign sales revenue 378,808 247,508
total 794,839 695,623

(27) changes in inventories and own work capitalised

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

changes in inventories (9,970) 11,236
own work capitalised 821 66
total (9,149) 11,302

changes in inventories consist of changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 
compared with 2007.

own work capitalised contains teUr 765 (previous year: teUr 0) in development expenditure.

(28) other operating income

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

income from the disposal of intangible assets and 
      property, plant, and equipment 392 166
income from the write-up of intangible assets 
      and property, plant, and equipment 0 1,755
exchange rate differences 4,168 180
Miscellaneous other operating income 7,289 9,637
total 11,849 11,738

Miscellaneous other operating income of the 2008 financial year includes mainly rental income  
of teUr 307 (previous year: teUr 203), research bonus income of teUr 1,408 (previous year: 
teUr 1,008), income from charges for services of teUr 1,796 (previous year: teUr 1,306), in- 
surance income of teUr 163 (previous year: teUr 250), as well as income from the sale of  
advertising media of teUr 450 (previous year: teUr 505).

(29) Materials and external services

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

cost of materials (377,896) (347,746)
cost of external services (44,009) (23,301)
total (421,905) (371,047)
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(30) staff costs

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

wages and salaries (124,553) (107,771)
expenses for severance payments (3,290) (1,210)
Pension expenses (1,364) (452)
expenses for statutory social security contributions
      and other pay-related contributions (29,754) (25,817)
other staff benefits (8,042) (5,933)
total (167,003) (141,183)

expenses for severance payments include payments made to external severance pay funds for 
employees in the amount of teUr 346 (previous year: teUr 258).

staff costs of teUr 33 (previous year: teUr 57) were reported in the 2008 financial year relat-
ing to the granting of stock options as part of the stock option programme and in accordance 
with ifrs 2.

the increase in staff costs resulted from individual salary increases and salary increases based 
on collective bargaining agreements as well as from the increase in the number of employees 
on the Group payroll.

(31) Depreciation, amortisation, and impairment expenses

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

depreciation and amortisation (22,259) (15,638)
impairment (6,411) 0
total (28,670) (15,638)

changes in depreciation, amortisation, and impairment are discussed in detail in the sections 
on intangible assets and property, plant, and equipment.

in the 2008 financial year an impairment loss in the amount of teUr 4,462 was recognised for 
the customer base of ratcliff Palfinger Ltd., Great britain.
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(32) other operating expenses

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

taxes other than those on income (4,648) (2,134)
Losses on the disposal of intangible assets 
      and property, plant, and equipment (116) (514)
Guarantees and warranties (17,735) (14,907)
trade fairs, distribution, and marketing (8,402) (8,009)
consultancy services (8,152) (7,849)
rentals and leases (6,958) (5,152)
repairs and maintenance (7,580) (7,045)
travel and communications (9,399) (8,399)
Losses on receivables and impairment losses (2,286) (1,702)
insurance (2,825) (2,255)
temporary workers and other third-party services (13,796) (12,101)
outgoing freight costs (13,250) (11,952)
commissions (1,007) (787)
Miscellaneous other operating expenses (14,718) (8,351)
total (110,872) (91,157)

Miscellaneous other operating expenses primarily comprise office supplies and computer 
expendables of teUr 889 (previous year: teUr 775), the vehicle fleet of teUr 3,248 (previous 
year: teUr 2,510), expenses for the allocation of the provision for legal disputes of teUr 819 
(previous year: teUr 0), currency translation differences of teUr 2,746 (previous year: teUr 23), 
bank charges of teUr 379 (previous year: teUr 300), as well as licences and computer fees of 
teUr 1,826 (previous year: teUr 1,359). 

(33) income from associated companies

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

Palfinger france s.a. 3,957 5,079
Palfinger proizvodna tehnologija hrvatska d.o.o. (until 31 July 2007) 0 30
Palfinger southern africa (Pty) Ltd. 60 13
star Palfinger equipment india Pvt. Ltd. (124) 0
stePa farmkran Gmbh 773 633
total 4,666 5,755

(34) interest expense

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

interest expense (6,282) (3,821)
interest expense from finance lease (325) (503)
interest component of social capital (1,061) (607)
total (7,668) (4,931)
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(35) other financial expenses
other financial expenses is primarily composed of exchange rate differences in the amount of 
teUr – 2.783 (previous year: teUr 93).

(36) income tax expense
the rate of corporation tax applicable to the PaLfinGer aG parent company remained at  
25 percent, which is the same rate as the previous year.

with the passing of the 2005 tax reform act (steuerreformgesetz 2005) the austrian law-
maker enabled companies to establish corporate tax groups. following the offsetting against 
loss carry forwards from periods prior to the formation of the groups, taxable results of the 
companies belonging to the individual groups are assigned to the leading corporation of each 
tax group. to offset passed-on taxable results, taxes are apportioned – based on the stand-
alone method – according to the group agreements.

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

current income tax expense (16,038) (24,626)
income tax expense from previous years (2,900) (1,157)
deferred tax income 3,191 1,459
total (15,747) (24,324)

an income tax rate of 25 percent was employed for the calculation of tax deferrals for compa-
nies based in austria, and respective local rates were applied for companies located abroad.

the Group’s effective tax rate, in other words, the total income tax expense expressed as a 
percentage of the profit before income tax, was 24.7 percent (previous year: 23.8 percent).

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007

Profit before income tax 63,871 102,392
income tax expense (15,747) (24,324)
effective tax rate 24.7% 23.8%
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Calculation of the effective tax rate
the difference between the book income tax expense (profit before tax multiplied by the na-
tional tax rate of 25 percent) and the effective income tax expense in the 2008 financial year, 
as shown in the consolidated income statement, is calculated as follows:

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2007
Profit before income tax 63,871 102,392

 
tax rate payable by the Group 25.0% 25.0%
book income tax expense 15,968 25,598

 
tax-reducing factors  
 research and education allowances (1,494) (1,064)
 adjustment to foreign tax rates (1,378) (578)
 tax rate changes (276) (575)
 tax-free income from trade investments (1,703) (1,439)
 other tax reduction items (118) (2,683)
 Loss carry forwards from previous years (311) (795)
 income tax income from previous years (202) 0
 share valuations (4,502) 0

 
tax-increasing factors  
 adjustment to foreign tax rates 1,066 1,157
 tax rate changes 110 858
 non-capitalised loss carry forwards 0 0
 non-tax-deductible expenses 3,224 2,183
 Minimum taxes 11 0
 income tax expense from previous years 3,102 1,157
 share valuations 0 505
 impairment losses on deferred taxes 2,250 0
income tax expense 15,747 24,324
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notes to tHe consoLiDateD casH FLoW stateMent
the presentation of the cash flow statement is based on the indirect method. the item funds 
corresponds to cash and cash equivalents of the balance sheet.

income taxes paid in the amount of teUr 25,668 (previous year: teUr 22,160) are shown as a 
separate item under cash flows from operating activities. dividends received as well as interest 
received and paid are also reported under cash flows from operating activities. in the year under 
review, cash flows from dividend payments totalled teUr 28,231 (previous year: teUr 21,684).

seGMent RePoRtinG
in accordance with the management approach under ifrs 8, financials were presented for the 
three segments cranes, hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices, as well as VentUres. the seg-
ment VentUres was added to the previous secondary segmentation. the values of the  
previous periods were modified accordingly.

CRANES
the cranes segment comprises the following product divisions:
•	 Knuckle	boom	cranes
•	 EPSILON	–	timber	and	recycling	cranes
•	 Madal	–	telescopic	cranes
•	 Omaha	Standard	–	truck	bodies

HYDRAULIC SYSTEMS & SERVICES
the hYdraULic sYsteMs & serVices segment comprises the following product divisions:
•	 PALIFT	–	container	handling	systems
•	 TAIL	LIFT	–	tailgates	and	passenger	lifts
•	 BISON/WUMAG	ELEVANT	–	access	platforms
•	 CRAYLER	–	transportable	forklifts
•	 RAILWAY	–	rail	transport	system	solutions
•	 SERVICES

VENTURES
in the VentUres segment, which was established within the Group’s organisation at the 
beginning of the year, PaLfinGer bundles special future projects at their development stage. 
the aim of separating this area from the operating business is to guarantee a targeted focus 
on building up new fields of business and continuing market development. Moreover, a special 
pool of employees, composed of internal and external members, is being set up for strategic 
activities, which among other things closely cooperates with external educational institutes. this 
is done primarily to ensure the availability of sufficient personnel in order to meet PaLfinGer’s 
growth targets and has already stood the test in the staffing of projects.

tRansFeR PRicinG
transfer pricing between the manufacturing plants, the assembly plants, and distribution compa-
nies is carried out at calculated budgeted cost plus interest on capital employed.

GRouP FinancinG
the financing of the Group (including financial expenses and income) as well as income taxes 
are controlled on a Group-wide basis and not allocated to the individual operating segments.



notes to tHe consoLiDateD FinanciaL stateMents 2008
PALFINGER ANNuAL REPoRt

2008 / 127

<< back forward >> search Print

CRANEs

HyDRAuLIC 

systEMs & 

sERvICEs vENtuREs

Group  

reconciliation total

tEuR Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2008 Jan–Dec 2008

external sales 500,907 293,932 0 0 794,839
intra-group sales 299 0 0 (299) 0

 
depreciation, amortisation, and impairment 14,212 14,458 0 0 28,670
 thereof  
 impairment 413 5,998 0 0 6,411

 
write-ups 0 0 0 0 0

 
ebit 83,047 (11,588) (2,370) 0 69,089

 
income from associated companies 4,666 0 0 0 4,666

 
segment results 87,713 (11,588) (2,370) 0 73,755

 
segment assets 356,692 268,838 0 12,800 638,330
 thereof  
 investments in associated companies 13,633 0 0 0 13,633

 
segment liabilities 93,461 57,783 0 177,256 328,500

 
investments in intangible assets and 
 property, plant, and equipment 41,344 7,353 0 0 48,697

tEuR Jan–Dec 2007 Jan–Dec 2007 Jan–Dec 2007 Jan–Dec 2007 Jan–Dec 2007

external sales 510,140 185,483 0 0 695,623
intra-group sales 715 0 0 (715) 0

 
depreciation, amortisation, and impairment 10,476 5,162 0 0 15,638
 thereof  
 impairment 0 0 0 0 0

 
write-ups 1,158 597 0 0 1,755

 
ebit 100,046 1,294 (1,702) 0 99,638

 
income from associated companies 5,755 0 0 0 5,755

 
segment results 105,801 1,294 (1,702) 0 105,393

 
segment assets 308,451 216,615 0 6,695 531,761
 thereof  
 investments in associated companies 11,951 0 0 0 11,951

 
segment liabilities 115,489 39,295 0 81,921 236,705

 
investments in intangible assets and 
 property, plant, and equipment 44,266 18,773 0 0 63,039
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
the reconciliation of the carrying amounts for each category under ias 39 to fair values is shown in the following table:

At amortised cost At fair value

tEuR

carrying amounts 
31 dec 2008 no financial instrument Loans and receivables at amortised cost available for sale hedging derivatives held for trading

carrying amounts of 
financial instruments 

31 dec 2008

Fair values of 
financial instruments

31 Dec 2008

Non-current assets  
 non-current financial assets 1,360 0 336 0 1,024 0 0 1,360 1,360

 
Current assets  
 trade receivables 119,665 0 119,665 0 0 0 0 119,665 119,665
 other current assets 17,424 15,112 2,120 0 69 103 20 2,312 2,312
 cash and cash equivalents 9,096 0 9,096 0 0 0 0 9,096 9,096

 
Non-current liabilities  
 non-current financial liabilities 44,919 0 0 44,919 0 0 0 44,919 45,862
 other non-current liabilities 1,763 882 0 881 0 0 0 881 881

 
Current liabilities  
 current financial liabilities 132,337 0 0 132,043 0 294 0 132,337 132,337
 trade payables and other current liabilities 95,485 31,247 0 64,238 0 0 0 64,238 64,238

At amortised cost At fair value

tEuR

carrying amounts
31 dec 2007 no financial instrument Loans and receivables at amortised cost available for sale hedging derivatives held for trading

carrying amounts of 
financial instruments

31 dec 2007

Fair values of
financial instruments

31 Dec 2007

Non-current assets  
 non-current financial assets 550 0 0 0 550 0 0 550 550

 
Current assets  
 trade receivables 119,576 0 119,576 0 0 0 0 119,576 119,576
 other current assets 13,536 11,351 1,194 0 82 698 211 2,185 2,185
 cash and cash equivalents 2,559 0 2,559 0 0 0 0 2,559 2,559

 
Non-current liabilities  
 non-current financial liabilities 38,315 0 0 38,315 0 0 0 38,315 38,315
 other non-current liabilities 1,176 516 0 660 0 0 0 660 660

 
Current liabilities  
 current financial liabilities 43,598 0 0 43,598 0 0 0 43,598 43,598
 trade payables and other current liabilities 99,276 41,409 0 57,867 0 0 0 57,867 57,867

in the 2008 financial year income from the disposal of securities amounted to teUr 20 (previous year: teUr 250).
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FinanciaL Risks
the main focus of PaLfinGer, in accordance with its own treasury Guidelines, is on minimising 
financial risks, which are individually enumerated in the following.

1. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk arising from the necessity to have sufficient funds available at any time 
in order to meet obligations when they come due. Group-wide cash reporting ensures the 
necessary transparency in order to be able to control funds in a targeted manner. Medium to 
long-term planning allows PaLfinGer to coordinate any financial need that may arise with its 
partners at an early stage.

in the current year financial liabilities have risen as a result of acquisitions. Liquidity risk is man-
aged by obtaining long-term credit limits with a period of between three and six years. Utilisation 
is for maturities of one to twelve months, which is why this financing was recognised in the 
category < 1 year.

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 < 1 year 1–5 years > 5 years
Financial liabilities 182,272 132,337 44,059 5,876

other liabilities  
 trade payables 62,320 62,320 0 0
 Liabilities to associated companies 937 937 0 0
 other liabilities 33,991 32,228 1,688 75

97,248 95,485 1,688 75
total 279,520 227,822 45,747 5,951

tEuR 31 Dec 2007 < 1 year 1–5 years > 5 years
Financial liabilities 81,913 43,598 36,101 2,214

other liabilities  
 trade payables 65,036 65,036 0 0
 Liabilities to associated companies 888 888 0 0
 other liabilities 34,528 33,352 1,176 0

100,452 99,276 1,176 0
total 182,365 142,874 37,277 2,214



notes to tHe consoLiDateD FinanciaL stateMents 2008
PALFINGER ANNuAL REPoRt

2008 / 131

<< back forward >> search Print

2. Credit risk
credit risk is the risk of loss due to a contracting party’s default in payment or non-payment. 
the Group is countering this risk by establishing internal limits for contracting parties – deter-
mined through solvency analyses – and taking out adequate insurance. credit risk is limited to 
the items reported in their balance sheets.
 
the following is a breakdown of trade receivables overdue:

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

Receivables not yet due 92,555 100,934
 

Receivables impaired  
 overdue for less than 30 days 18,109 12,479
 overdue for more than 30 days but less than 60 days 4,943 3,506
 overdue for more than 60 days but less than 90 days 2,111 1,085
 overdue for more than 90 days but less than 120 days 645 348
 overdue for more than 120 days 1,302 1,224

27,110 18,642
total 119,665 119,576

in the case of receivables not yet due there is no indication of bad-debt losses.

when investing money with banks the Group attaches great importance to top international 
solvency ratings. credit risk is limited to the items reported in their balance sheets.

3. Foreign exchange risk
foreign exchange risk is a form of risk that arises from the change in price of one currency 
against another. the value of a financial instrument may be affected by changes in the  
currency exchange rate.

the Group’s international activities account for payment transactions in different currencies. 
through local value creation excessive amounts of foreign exchange items are minimised 
through natural hedges. the resulting foreign exchange exposure is hedged using adequate 
hedging instruments. cash generated from operations is hedged by means of foreign exchange 
forwards (cash flow hedges). financial transactions may only be concluded on the basis of a 
relevant hedged item. speculative transactions (i.e. transactions without an underlying oper-
ating item) are prohibited.

the Group’s foreign exchange positions and hedges are constantly monitored, analysed with 
regard to the risk sensitivity of the Group and subject to stress testing. a devaluation of the  
Us dollar as of 31 december 2008 by 10 percent would have decreased equity (presentation of 
the cash flow hedge) by another teUr 1,055.
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4. Interest rate risk
changing interest rates have an impact on the economic value of financial instruments (in 
particular when interest rates are fixed for a long term) and the net interest income or expense 
resulting from these financial instruments. this impact constitutes the interest rate risk in its 
two forms – risk of change in value and net interest income risk.

the risk of change in value results in a depreciation of financial assets or an appreciation of 
financial liabilities. changing values have a more pronounced impact if interest rates are fixed 
for long periods than in case of variable-interest arrangements. 

the net interest income risk is manifested in higher interest expenses for financial liabilities 
or low interest income on financial assets. this risk mainly concerns financial instruments for 
which variable (short-term) interest rates have been fixed.

Monitoring and managing interest rate risks is part of the regular treasury reporting in the 
Group. the growing indebtedness also leads to higher interest expenses. a change in interest 
rates by 1 percent has an impact on earnings (in terms of ebit) in the amount of 2 percent.  
Variable loans are not hedged when interest rates are falling. PaLfinGer constantly observes 
the interest rate market in order to hedge interest rates accordingly as soon as the trend is 
reversed. the risk of change in value is taken into account by reporting changes in value by 
writing up financial liabilities and writing down financial assets.

HeDGinG
Hedging for future cash flows (cash flow hedge)
the revenues generated in north america are invoiced in Us dollars. the resulting foreign 
exchange exposure is hedged through derivative financial instruments. in 2008 Us dollars were 
purchased by means of a swap transaction to fund the acquisition of omaha standard. in 
such a currency swap a certain amount in Us dollars is purchased on one date and again sold 
at a fixed rate at a specified later date. the sale of Us dollars constitutes a hedge against the 
income from operations in Us dollars. in this way the swap works like a foreign exchange for-
ward and is thus a suitable instrument for reducing this type of exposure, as the result of the 
underlying transaction runs in the opposite direction of the result of the forward transaction 
and/or swap. assessment and risk analysis of the outstanding hedges are carried out regularly 
(mark to market).
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hedges pertain to those cash flows that are expected within the next twelve months.

Currency Nominal amount in transaction currency Mark-to-market valuation 

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

foreign exchange forwards Usd 4,400 17,040 103 698
swaps Usd 11,150 0 (294) 0
total  (191) 698

the market value of hedges is reported as a cash flow hedge pursuant to ias 39. Valuation 
gains or losses as of the balance sheet date are to be directly recognised in equity. as soon as 
the underlying transactions are carried out, the accumulated gains/losses are reversed from 
equity to income.

any amounts relating to cash flow hedges that were taken to equity and realised are illustrated 
in note 17, Valuation reserves pursuant to ias 39.

Hedging of funds (held for trading)
Usd swaps which the Group uses for the hedging of funds and which do not meet the criteria 
of hedge accounting under ias 39 with regards to documentation and effectiveness are classi-
fied as held for trading. changes in the fair values of these derivative financial instruments are 
recognised in the income statement.

Currency Nominal amount in transaction currency Mark-to-market valuation

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

swaps
Usd 0 15,000 0 199
GbP 1,565 715 20 12

total  20 211

Valuation gains/losses from derivatives held for trading amount to teUr – 51 and are reported 
under exchange rate differences in other financial expenses.
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otHeR DiscLosuRes
DiscLosuRes oF business tRansactions WitH ReLateD PaRties
all transactions with associated companies and with enterprises controlling associated com-
panies were carried out for the provision of goods and services. the associated companies are 
listed in the attached statement of investments.

the term key Management comprises the supervisory and Management boards of PaLfinGer aG. 
other related parties primarily include businesses controlled by key Management. transactions 
carried out with key Management and other related parties result from the delivery of goods 
and provision of consultancy services.

transactions with related parties are carried out in observance of the arm’s length principle.

Associated companies key Management other

31 Dec 
2008

31 Dec 
2007

31 Dec 
2008

31 Dec 
2007

31 Dec 
2008

31 Dec 
2007tEuR

receivables 11,708 5,914 0 0 1,091 494
Liabilities 937 904 7 0 207 10

   
revenue 66,281 56,245 0 0 7,770 2,687
other income 145 0 0 0 187 0
external services 12 0 20 5 1,547 457
Materials 3,754 3,615 0 0 2,239 279
interest income 128 0 0 0 41 0

otHeR LiabiLities anD Risks
Contingent liabilities

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

suretyships, guarantees 3,061 0
other contractual liability 109 932

3,170 932

Operating leases
Liabilities for the use of assets not recognised in the balance sheet will presumably amount to 
teUr 3,099 (previous year: teUr 2,906) for the 2009 financial year and teUr 6,504 (previous 
year: teUr 7,633) for the next five years.

Finance lease
the carrying amounts of property, plant, and equipment leased under finance leasing agree-
ments amounted to teUr 15,822 (previous year: teUr 10,445) as of the balance sheet date. 
the property, plant, and equipment leased are buildings and equipment as well as a company 
aircraft. the pertaining lease liabilities are carried under financial liabilities in accordance with their 
durations.
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Minimum lease payments Present value

tEuR 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

Up to one year 1,488 1,174 1,084 702
between one and five years 8,266 5,438 6,512 3,907
More than five years 5,974 5,660 5,339 4,836
total 15,728 12,272 12,935 9,445

Minus any future finance costs (2,793) (2,827)
Present value of lease payments 12,935 9,445

key events aFteR tHe baLance sHeet Date
after the end of the 2008 financial year there have been no material post-reporting events that 
would require disclosure.

DiscLosuRes conceRninG GoveRninG boDies anD eMPLoyees
Employees
the average number of employees in the Group (excluding apprentices but including the 
Management board) during the financial year was 4,628 (previous year: 3,860). at the balance 
sheet date there were 4,982 Group employees (previous year: 4,377).

Supervisory Board
the following individuals were either appointed, or delegated by the works council, to serve 
on the supervisory board:
•	 Alexander	Exner,	Chairman	1) 2)
•	 Hubert	Palfinger	jun.,	Deputy	Chairman	1) 2)
•	 Hubert	Palfinger	2)
•	 Kurt	Stiassny	1)
•	 Peter	R.	Scharler
•	 Alexander	Doujak
•	 Johann	Mair	(Works Council) 1)
•	 Alois	Weiss	(Works Council)

•	 Gerhard	Gruber	(Works Council)

1) Members of the Audit Committee

2) Members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees

the members of the supervisory board received no remuneration for their services.

Management Board 
•	 Herbert	Ortner,	CEO
•	 Christoph	Kaml,	CFO	(since 1 January 2009)

•	 Wolfgang	Pilz
•	 Martin	Zehnder
•	 Wolfgang	Anzengruber (up to 31 August 2008)
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total remuneration of the Management board in the 2008 financial year, including ancillary 
costs, was teUr 1,649 (previous year: teUr 2,154) and is broken down as follows:

Fixed salary stock option programme

Performance-related 

remuneration

Jan–Dec 
2008

Jan–Dec 
2007

Jan–Dec 
2008

Jan–Dec 
2007

Jan–Dec 
2008

Jan–Dec 
2007tEuR

herbert ortner 275 213 8 9 240 285
wolfgang Pilz 215 209 8 9 211 285
Martin Zehnder 169 0 0 0 157 0
wolfgang anzengruber 198 291 13 37 155 341
eduard schreiner 0 186 0 2 0 287
total 857 899 29 57 763 1,198

aDDitionaL inFoRMation PuRsuant to section 245a oF tHe business coDe
at PaLfinGer aG expenses for severance and pension payments for members of the Manage-
ment board and other executives amounted to teUr 256 (previous year: teUr 137), for the 
remaining employees teUr 19 (previous year: teUr 62).

salzburg, 26 January 2009

 herbert ortner m.p. christoph kaml m.p.

 wolfgang Pilz m.p. Martin Zehnder m.p.
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statement of Legal Representatives

we confirm to the best of our knowledge that the consolidated financial statements as of  
31 december 2008 give a true and fair view of the financial position, the financial perform-
ance, and the cash flows of the Group as required by the international financial reporting 
standards (ifrs) as adopted by the european Union (eU) and that the consolidated manage-
ment report as of 31 december 2008 gives a true and fair view of the development and  
performance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a description of  
the principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces.

we confirm to the best of our knowledge that the separate financial statements as of  
31 december 2008 give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and  
profit or loss of PaLfinGer aG as required by the business code and that the management re-
port as of 31 december 2008 gives a true and fair view of the development and performance 
of the business and the position of the company, together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties the company faces.

salzburg, 26 January 2009

 herbert ortner m.p. christoph kaml m.p.

 wolfgang Pilz m.p. Martin Zehnder m.p.
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auditor’s Report

RePoRt on tHe consoLiDateD FinanciaL stateMents
we have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of PaLfinGer aG, salz-
burg, for the financial year from 1 January to 31 december 2008. these consolidated financial 
statements comprise the balance sheet as of 31 december 2008, and the income statement, 
statement of changes in equity, and cash flow statement for the year ended 31 december 2008, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
the company’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with international financial reporting stan-
dards as adopted by the eU. this responsibility includes: designing, implementing, and main-
taining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances.

auditor’s responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audit. we conducted our audit in accordance with laws and regulations applicable in austria 
and in accordance with international standards on auditing, issued by the international auditing 
and assurance standards board (iaasb) of the international federation of accountants (ifac). 
those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.
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an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. the procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the  
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, the au-
ditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. an audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. we believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

opinion
our audit did not give rise to any objections.

based on the results of our audit in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group as of 31 december 2008, 
and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the financial year from 1 January to  
31 december 2008 in accordance with international financial reporting standards as adopted 
by the eU.

RePoRt on otHeR LeGaL anD ReGuLatoRy RequiReMents 
Laws and regulations applicable in austria require us to perform audit procedures whether the 
consolidated management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and 
whether the other disclosures made in the consolidated management report do not give rise to 
misconception of the position of the Group.

in our opinion, the consolidated management report for the Group is consistent with the con-
solidated financial statements.

salzburg, 26 January 2009

eRnst & younG
WiRtscHaFtsPRÜFunGsGeseLLscHaFt MbH

anna Flotzinger   ppa christoph Fröhlich
chartered accountant  chartered accountant
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capital employed reflects capital investment and is calculated as  
•	 intangible	assets
•	 plus	property,	plant,	and	equipment,	shareholdings,	net	current	assets

earnings per share is the ratio of
•	 consolidated	net	profit	for	the	period	
•	 to	weighted	average	number	of	shares

eva (economic Value added) indicates the company’s value creation 
•	 ROCE	minus	WACC
•	 multiplied	by	average	capital	employed

Free cash flow is the net amount of cash available to service internal  
or external borrowing
•	 Cash	generated	from	operations
•	 plus	interest	on	debt
•	 minus	tax	shield	on	debt	interest	payment

Gearing ratio is a measure relating to a company’s debt
•	 Ratio	of	net	financial	debt	and
•	 equity	in	percent

net debt is calculated as
•	 non-current	and	current	financial	liabilities		
minus
•	 long-term	and	short-term	securities	
•	 non-current	loans
•	 cash	and	cash	equivalents

noPLat (net operating Profit Less adjusted taxes) is composed of 
•	 EBIT
•	 plus	equity	earnings
•	 minus	taxes	on	EBIT

Roce (return on capital employed) shows the rate of return the company 
generates on capital invested in the enterprise
•	 Ratio	of	NOPLAT	to
•	 average	capital	employed	in	percent

Roe (return on equity) is a measure of the company’s profitability that pre-
sents earnings in relation to equity capital employed 
•	 Ratio	of	after-tax	earnings	and	
•	 average	equity	employed	
•	 minus	the	dividends	paid	as	a	percentage

Wacc (weighted average of cost of capital) is a measure of the average  
cost of capital employed (debt and equity)

Working capital is the net surplus of current assets over current liabilities

Definition of Performance indicators
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austRia PaLFinGeR aG
•	 Franz-Wolfram-Scherer-Strasse	24,	5101	Bergheim,	Salzburg

Palfinger service- und beteiligungs-GmbH
•	 Franz-Wolfram-Scherer-Strasse	24,	5101	Bergheim,	Salzburg
•	 Moosmühlstrasse	1,	5203	Köstendorf
•	 Kapellenstrasse	18,	5211	Friedburg

Palfinger europe GmbH
•	 Franz-Wolfram-Scherer-Strasse	24,	5101	Bergheim,	Salzburg
•	 Moosmühlstrasse	1,	5203	Köstendorf
•	 Kapellenstrasse	18,	5211	Friedburg

ePsiLon kran GmbH
•	 Christophorusstrasse	30,	5061	Elsbethen,	Glasenbach

stePa Farmkran Gesellschaft m.b.H.
•	 Christophorusstrasse	28,	5061	Elsbethen,	Glasenbach

aRGentina Palfinger argentina s.a.
•	 Av.	Corrientes	327,	3°	Piso,	Buenos	Aires

beLGiuM Mbb inteRLiFt n.v.
•	 Industrielaan	4,	3e	Industriezone,	9320	Erembodegem

bRaZiL Madal Palfinger s.a.
•	 Rua	Flavio	Francisco	Bellini	350,	CEP	95098–170,	Caxias	do	Sul

buLGaRia Palfinger Produktionstechnik bulgaria eooD
•	 5980	Cherven	Brjag
•	 8672	Tenevo

canaDa Palfinger, inc.
•	 7942	Dorchester	Road,	Niagara	Falls,	Ontario	L2E	6V6

cHina Palfinger (shenzhen) Ltd.
•	 Block	5,	Northern	Yongfa	Technological	Park,	District	B,	Chuandong		
 industrial Park, dao Yan chuan chaoyang road, song Gang street,  
 bao an district, shenzhen

cRoatia Palfinger proizvodna tehnologija Hrvatska d.o.o.
•	 Lučićka Cesta 1, 51 300 Delnice 

corporate Locations
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FRance Financière Palfinger s.a.s.
•	 29A,	Avenue	des	Tourondes,	82300	Caussade

Guima Palfinger s.a.s.
•	 29A,	Avenue	des	Tourondes,	82300	Caussade

Guima France s.a.s.
•	 29A,	Avenue	des	Tourondes,	82300	Caussade

Palfinger France s.a.
•	 ZA	Les	Basseaux	–	BP	73,	26802	Étoile	sur	Rhône	Cedex

Palfinger Paris sud s.c.i.
•	 ZA	Les	Basseaux	–	BP	73,	26802	Étoile	sur	Rhône	Cedex

Mesle equipement s.a.s.
•	 Za	de	la	Longueraie,	56140	Saint	Abraham

Palfinger service s.a.s.
•	 Avenue	Condorcet,	91240	Saint	Michel/Orge

Mbb inter s.a.s.
•	 Rue	de	l’Eglise,	61310	Silly	en	Gouffern

sand saRL
•	 ZAC	des	deux	vallées,	10	avenue	des	mineurs,	54	910	Valleroy

GeRMany Palfinger GmbH
•	 Feldkirchener	Feld	1,	83404	Ainring
•	 Rauheckstrasse	4,	74323	Abstatt

Palfinger Platforms GmbH
•	 Äussere	Bautzner	Strasse	47,	02708	Löbau

Mbb Palfinger GmbH
•	 Fockestrasse	53,	27777	Ganderkesee-Hoykenkamp

WuMaG eLevant GmbH
•	 Düsseldorfer	Strasse	100,	47809	Krefeld

eLevant service GmbH & co. kG
•	 Düsseldorfer	Strasse	100,	47809	Krefeld

WuMaG eLevant verwaltungs GmbH
•	 Düsseldorfer	Strasse	100,	47809	Krefeld

eLevant Produktion GmbH
•	 Johann-Andreas-Schubert-Strasse	6,	02730	Ebersbach
•	 Düsseldorfer	Strasse	100,	47809	Krefeld
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eLevant Finance GmbH
•	 Industriestrasse	4,	89188	Merklingen

WuMaG MaGeba GmbH
•	 Halbendorfer	Strasse	4,	02782	Seifhennersdorf
•	 Düsseldorfer	Strasse	100,	47809	Krefeld

GReat bRitain Ratcliff Palfinger Ltd.
•	 Bessemer	Road,	Welwyn	Garden	City,	Herts	AL7	1ET

Mbb LiFtsysteMs Ltd.
•	 trafalgar house, 712 London road, west thurrock, essex rM20 3ne

inDia star Palfinger equipment india Pvt. Ltd.
•	 Crown	Court,	2nd	Floor,	128,	Cathedral	Road,	Chennai	–	600086,		
 tamil nadu

itaLy Palfinger Gru idrauliche s.r.l.
•	 Via	Dante	Aleghieri	50,	42023	Cadelbosco	di	Sopra	(RE)

sinGaPoRe Palfinger asia Pacific Pte. Ltd.
•	 3	International	Business	Hub	#07/01,	Nordic	European	Center,		
 singapore 609927

sLovakia Mbb HubFix s.r.o.
•	 Tovarenska	14,	81571	Bratislava

sLovenia Palfinger proizvodnja d.o.o.
•	 Jaskova	18,	2001	Maribor

soutH aFRica Palfinger southern africa (Pty) Ltd.
•	 1	Nguni	Drive,	Longmeadow	West,	Edenvale	1609

usa Palfinger usa, inc.
•	 4151	West	State	Route	18,	Tiffin,	OH	44883,	Ohio

tiffin Loader crane, co.
•	 4151	West	State	Route	18,	Tiffin,	OH	44883,	Ohio

inteRLiFt inc.
•	 15939	Piuma	Avenue,	Cerritos,	CA	90703,	California

omaha standard, inc.
•	 3501	South	11th	Street,	Council	Bluffs,	IA	51501,	Iowa

Ftec, inc.
•	 2490	Pinson	Valley	Pkwy,	Birmingham,	AL	35217,	Alabama
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PaLFinGeR aG
franz-wolfram-scherer-strasse 24
5101 bergheim, salzburg
austria

investoR ReLations
Hannes Roither Daniela Werdecker
company spokesperson corporate communications
Phone +43 662 4684-2260 Phone +43 662 4684-2219
fax +43 662 4684-2280 fax +43 662 4684-2280
h.roither@palfinger.com d.werdecker@palfinger.com

www.palfinger.com

consuLtinG
scholdan & company

DesiGn
rahofer werbeagentur

PictuRes
andreas fitzner, Vienna Paint

Minimal arithmetical differences may arise from the application of commercial rounding to individual items and percentages in 

the Annual Report. the English translation of the PALFINGER Report is for convenience. only the German text is binding.

this Annual Report contains forward-looking statements made on the basis of all information available at the date of the 

preparation of this Annual Report. Forward-looking statements are usually identified by the use of terminology such as “expect”, 

“plan”, “estimate”, “believe” etc. Actual outcomes and results may be materially different from those predicted.

Published on 25 February 2009.

No liability is assumed for any typographical or printing errors.



25 March 2009 Annual General Meeting
27 March 2009 Ex-dividend day
31 March 2009 Dividend payment day
  5 May 2009 Publication of results for the first quarter 2009
  5 August 2009 Publication of results for the first half 2009
  5 November 2009 Publication of results for the first three quarters 2009

Additional dates such as trade fairs or roadshows will be announced  
at the Company’s homepage www.palfinger.com under Corporate Dates.
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PaLfinGer aG
Austria, Salzburg

100%

Palfi nger service- und beteiligungs-Gmbh
Austria, Salzburg

area europe area north america area south america area asia & Pacifi c

99.97% Palfi nger europe Gmbh
Austria, Salzburg 0.03% Palfi nger Consult AG

100% Palfi nger, inc.
Canada, niagara Falls

99.11% Madal Palfi nger s.a.
Brazil, Caxias do Sul 0.89% small shareholders

100% Palfi nger asia Pacifi c Pte. Ltd.
Singapore, Singapore

100% Palfi nger Usa, inc.
USA, Tiffi n

65% ePsiLon kran Gmbh
Austria, Salzburg

35% Steindl 
Krantechnik GmbH a.o.

100% tiffi n Loader crane, co.
USA, Tiffi n

100% Palfi nger (shenzhen) Ltd.
China, Shenzhen

45% stePa farmkran Gesellschaft m.b.h.
Austria, Elsbethen 55% Steindl Krantechnik GmbH 

100% omaha standard, inc.
USA, Council Bluffs

26% star Palfi nger equipment india Pvt. Ltd.
india, Tamil nadu 74% Western Auto l.l.C. a.o.

94.9% Palfi nger Gmbh
Germany, Ainring

100% wUMaG eLeVant Verwaltungs Gmbh
Germany, Krefeld                               general partner

 100%

100% wUMaG eLeVant Gmbh
Germany, Krefeld

 100% eLeVant serVice Gmbh & co. kG
Germany, Krefeld

ftec, inc.
USA, Birmingham

100% wUMaG MaGeba Gmbh
Germany, Seifhennersdorf

100% eLeVant finance Gmbh
Germany, Merklingen

6% eLeVant Produktion Gmbh
Germany, Ebersbach

100% Mbb inter s.a.s.
France, Silly en Gouffern

100% Palfi nger Platforms Gmbh
Germany, löbau

100% Mbb interLift n.V.
Belgium, Erembodegem

100% Mbb Palfi nger Gmbh
Germany, Ganderkesee

 100% Mbb LiftsYsteMs Ltd.
Great Britain, Cobham

100% Palfi nger Gru idrauliche s.r.l.
italy, Bolzano

100% Mbb hUbfiX s.r.o.
Slovakia, Bratislava

Production

100% financière Palfi nger s.a.s.
France, Caussade

100% interLift inc.
USA, Cerritos

Palfi nger Produktionstechnik bulgaria eood
Bulgaria, Cherven Brjag

100%

100% Guima Palfi nger s.a.s.
France, Caussade

 100% Guima france s.a.s.
France, Caussade

Palfi nger proizvodnja d.o.o.
Slovenia, Maribor

100%

49% Palfi nger france s.a.
France, Étoile sur Rhône  51% Group Vincent

99.99 % Palfi nger Paris sud s.c.i.
France, Étoile sur Rhône

0.005% PAlFinGER AG
0.005% Société de

Matériels Vincent SÀRl

Palfi nger proizvodna tehnologija hrvatska d.o.o.
Croatia, Delnice

100%

100% ratcliff Palfi nger Ltd.
Great Britain, Welwyn Garden City

33.34% Mesle equipement s.a.s.
France, Malestroit 66.66% RHF SARl

33.3% Palfi nger southern africa (Pty) Ltd.
South Africa, Edenvale 66.7% JCi a.o.

99.99% Palfi nger service s.a.s.
France, Saint Michel 

0.01% Société de 
Matériels Vincent SÀRl

49% Palfi nger argentina s.a.
Argentina, Buenos Aires 51% Alejandro Zelpo

39.97% sand sarL
France, Valleroy

60.03%  
Sand family

Gesellschaften von PAlFinGER Gruppe

fully consolidated

at equity

non-consolidated

As of 31 December 2008

5.1%

94%

100%

financial highlights of the Palfinger grouP
PAlFinGER AnnUAl REPoRT 

TEUR 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

income statement
revenue 794,839 695,623 585,205 520,048 403,739
ebitda 97,759 115,276 92,126 77,530 53,871
ebitda margin 12.3% 16.6% 15.7% 14.9% 13.3%
ebit 69,089 99,638 77,026 65,142 41,697
ebit margin 8.7% 14.3% 13.2% 12.5% 10.3%
Profit before tax 63,871 102,392 75,583 63,926 41,168
consolidated net profit for the year 43,853 73,978 56,603 48,143 27,391

Balance sheet
total assets 638,330 531,761 409,366 348,591 309,286
non-current operating assets 303,745 241,842 153,522 145,508 119,885
net working capital (as of the reporting date) 172,816 131,253 98,637 88,241 68,870
capital employed (as of the reporting date) 476,561 373,095 252,159 233,749 188,755
equity 309,830 295,056 241,964 197,999 159,960
equity ratio 48.5% 55.5% 59.1% 56.8% 51.7%
net debt 166,733 78,694 10,195 35,750 26,877
Gearing 53.8% 26.7% 4.2% 18.1% 16.8%

cash flow and investment
cash flows from operating activities 32,577 53,025 59,479 42,711 25,726
free cash flow (39,537) (23,246) 43,734 9,427 12,942
investment in property, plant, and equipment 46,515 61,444 21,351 14,999 12,510
depreciation, amortisation, and impairment 28,670 15,638 15,100 12,388 12,174

Payroll
average annual payroll 1) 4,628 3,860 3,443 3,087 2,563

value creation
roce 13.1% 25.7% 25.7% 25.1% 18.2%
roe 15.9% 29.1% 27.1% 29.8% 20.2%
eVa 26,044 54,502 41,979 35,442 18,118
wacc 6.9% 8.2% 8.4% 8.3% 8.1%

share
number of shares issued 35,730,000 37,135,000 9,283,750 9,283,750 9,283,750
Market capitalisation (excl. own shares) 397,379 905,155 820,478 563,881 370,830
Price as of 31 december (eUr) 2) 11.24 25.62 23.25 16.00 10.53
earnings per share (eUr) 2) 1.24 2.09 1.60 1.37 0.78
operating cash flows per share (eUr) 2) 0.92 1.50 1.60 1.15 0.69
dividend per share (eUr) 2) 0.39 3) 0.70 0.55 0.45 0.28
¹) Consolidated Group companies excluding equity shareholdings, as well as excluding apprentices, temporary workers, and workers employed for only very short periods. 

2) Previous year’s figures were converted pursuant to the 4-for-1 stock split of 2007.

3) Proposal for presentation to the Annual General Meeting.

coMPanies of the Palfinger grouP 
PAlFinGER AnnUAl REPoRT 

financial highlights of the Palfinger grouP
PAlFinGER AnnUAl REPoRT 
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Times are tough.
Pa

lf
in

g
er

 a
g

25 March 2009 Annual General Meeting
27 March 2009 Ex-dividend day
31 March 2009 Dividend payment day
  5 May 2009 Publication of results for the first quarter 2009
  5 august 2009 Publication of results for the first half 2009
  5 november 2009 Publication of results for the first three quarters 2009

Additional dates such as trade fairs or roadshows will be announced  
at the Company’s homepage www.palfinger.com under Corporate Dates.

www.palfinger.com

Palfinger ag
Franz-Wolfram-Scherer-Strasse 24 
5101 Bergheim, Salzburg
Austria
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